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Financial Highlights
TS HEE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of C-MER
Eye Care Holdings Limited (the “Company”) announces the
annual consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31
December 2020.

FHBRHNEBREERERAG ((KAT])E
Z2([BEx)e ((EEg8)EmARARE
MEB AR (5l [ AEE]) #E2021F12
A3MBILFENEFLRAEE  EREE
2020F 12 A3 BIEFEMLRET -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12 A31 HLEEE

Revenue &

Gross profit EH

Profit before income tax BR FT1S BRI AE

Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE,(E18)

Profit/(loss) for the year AKRARIERFE A
attributable to equity holders of B/ R ZEF]
the Company (E518)

PRS- DA~ 97
B K B sH A Y as 1

Earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation

Gross profit margin (%) EME(%)
Net profit margin (%) AR E (%)
Note:
1 This is not a measure of performance under Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), but is widely used by
management for monitoring business performance of a company
from operational perspective. It may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other companies.

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
1,112,577 699,545 59.0%
358,228 194,077 84.6%
26,875 2,504 973.3%
16,230 (8,412) N/A T3 A
21,861 (6,246) N/A T i A
183,976 121,362 51.6%
32.2% 27.7% A5 pplEE D E
1.5% N/A i B N/AT i
Bt -

1 ZIRBWIHEERHBREE ((BBYK
BEEAD THEXRBNIER  HEER
BREEAEEZEMREZERRAEBR
B ARV EEMAR 2N ELE
BRI



On behalf of the Board, | hereby present to our shareholders of
the Company the annual report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

2021 marked a fruitful year for C-MER. In spite of the continuous
impact of the coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19"), the Group
braved the challenges and accelerated the development of
“Eye+" strategy to further expand our ophthalmic service network
centring on the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay
Area, while advancing towards the multi-speciality medical service
field. By virtue of C-MER’s brand strength and professional quality
service, the Group’s revenue reached a record high since its listing
of HK$1,112.6 million, representing a substantial increase of
59.0% compared to 2020, which is an encouraging performance.

DEVELOPING OPHTHALMOLOGY ECOSYSTEM
WITH “EYE+" STRATEGIC DEPLOYMENT AND

ENTERING MULTI-SPECIALITY MEDICAL CARE

FIELDS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, C-MER completed
various acquisitions in Mainland China and Hong Kong with
ophthalmology as the core and focused on establishing an
ecosystem centring on ophthalmic services.

In addition, the Group’s two new eye hospitals under construction
in Foshan city and Jieyang city, Guangdong province are
progressing well and are expected to commence operation in the
second half of 2022, upon which, C-MER’s service network in the
Greater Bay Area will be more comprehensive and provide more
convenient and high-quality medical services to patients in the
Greater Bay area.

AANERREEFEMARAARBREIRS
AEEHZ 2021512 A31 BILFEHNFR -

2001 FAFIENREEN—F - BEZE
FRBAES ([COVID-19)) FIENHEEY
2 OKEBNSHME  BRHT Eyer | 8
BEMBRERER E—PEAHEMUE
BRAER ([KEBE]) B OUMRERS
WiE AP BRZEREEREED R
REBHREENEZNEXEERE
AEEEBREHGA EMHTSLHED
1,126 BEETT ' FLL2020F E KRIEE K
59.0% * FREES ASEE -

LATEYE+ | B BE 10 R B R IR B £ RE
BREANESENBEREE

HE2021F12A31HIEFE > HIBEUR
BAZLERBANMMESTKZEHE
HE  BREVRBRSE SO ERERE -

BESN - AN SR B SR A R LU T AR RS T
ERTHMRNRESR B TRER
IEF - FREF 2022 F THFRARY - &
BHEBRAERNOREBEHEEELE
RREBENBAREEEENELNER
AR
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Chairman’s Statement

vif%#ﬁ%

In August 2021, Zhuhai C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Hospital became
the first and only eye hospital under the “Measure of allowing
Designated Healthcare Institutions operating in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area to use drugs and medical
devices that are registered and being used in Hong Kong but are
not yet registered by National Medical Products Administration
(7R EARIE)" (the “Measure”) to be licensed to use innovative
treatment solutions approved in Hong Kong and not yet registered
in Mainland China, thus creating a unique position for C-MER.
Following the official approval of BEOVU®, Novartis’ new drug for
treating macular degeneration, to be used in the Zhuhai Hospital
in late February 2022, | personally conducted the first injection in
Mainland China for a 77-year-old patient on 27 March 2022, and
the treatment results were good and met the expectation. We
hope that BEOVU® will offer a new treatment solution to patients
with macular degeneration nationwide. We also hope more
eye hospitals of C-MER in the Greater Bay area and ophthalmic
medicines will be approved in the list of the Measure, fostering
the unique competitive advantage of C-MER as a Hong Kong-
based eye hospital.

The ophthalmology business in Hong Kong also developed rapidly.
During the year, we opened a SMILE Refractive Centre at K11
Atelier located at the harbourfront in Tsim Sha Tsui, and acquired
the entire equity interest in Champion Eye Centre Limited in
January 2022, further consolidating the leading position of C-MER
in the Hong Kong ophthalmic market. At the same time, we
began strengthening upstream and downstream deployment,
including implementing the OK Lens project and commencing
optometry business in Hong Kong by acquiring 60% of equity
interest in Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited, further building
the upstream and downstream ophthalmology ecosystem to
complement C-MER’s eye care services.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

G FISMIEFREIE R 42021 F8 AKX
BIEREWB] BRPEHME—NRE
By SEBBEERAMADHERLD
Bl A E AR BT EERAER - B
B AAISRIEBFNEN - BEHRERE
EHTRE RIS Mk ER ] (BEOVU®) 7£
20222 AR IEREHELK G ERER
NAR2022E3 27 A8BBEATIREEE
TR EETES SAESRROMEATEL
BMAE(AAaKEN]JAAERERR
FRELRMRESR LB RRF
BEREZEXNERNBRR 2 MR 2Y
BEMAERERB]INEZE  KAFIHE
BEERNMERBHNRFES -

EERBEBEGREFeARER FAE
L AR D H #7578 55 BIK11 Atelier 5 28 1
XB/RHPL 202 F1AKRBEEREH
DERARZIMRE  E—LEERFER
EERBMBHELA - BRI
MM IMAR E TR - BIEEEOKE
WIEE - UERBAKEGLMBRRERLE
FRAGEI60% RIBERBHEBGREER &
—HERRROLETHEEE BF5FH
RPI B RIS IEREARAIER -
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ENTERING THE MULTI-SPECIALITY MEDICAL
SERVICE FIELD

With ophthalmology as the core, C-MER gradually expanded its
business scope to various specialised medical services in 2021,
including dental, medical aesthetic, family medicine, oncology and
other specialities.

Dental service is another key market that C-MER is exploring.
During the year, the Group acquired the controlling equity
interest in Shenzhen CKJ Dentistry Group, a renowned chain
dental corporate, to add one dentistry hospital and 12 dental
clinics in Shenzhen, quickly setting a solid foundation for C-MER
to develop its dental business in Shenzhen and exploring synergy
with ophthalmic services. In Hong Kong, the Group built a service
network of “large specialised clinic + satellite clinics” through
merger and acquisition and self-development, including core
dental specialty centres at K11 Atelier in Tsim Sha Tsui and Central
Building, Central. C-MER currently owns seven dental centres in
Hong Kong, and will keep expanding in 2022 to build a refined
and more convenient dental services network.

In addition, through acquisition, we established a Chinese and
Western oncology speciality centre in Central in August 2021
and a centre in Tsim Sha Tsui providing one-stop premium
medical aesthetic, dental and ophthalmic services in November
2021, providing comprehensive high-quality medical services to
customers.

It is noteworthy that during the severe outbreak of the fifth
wave of COVID-19 in Hong Kong in the first quarter of 2022,
C-MER became the distributor of YHLO COVID-19 antigen test
kits in Hong Kong in February 2022. We also joined hands with
Shenzhen YHLO Biotech Co., Ltd. to donate a total of 1.2 million
sets of rapid test kits for free distribution to the grassroots,
fulfilling C-MER’s corporate social responsibility.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, C-MER maintained
a rapid growth in Hong Kong and Mainland China business and
recorded a total revenue of HK$1,112.6 million, representing an
increase of 59.0% as compared with HK$699.5 million in 2020.
Profit attributable to equity holders was HK$21.9 million.

Driven by the increasing demand for high-quality medical services,
coupled with the full cooperation between our management team
and medical team, the Group has recorded considerable revenue
growth, especially in Hong Kong which recorded a significant
increase of revenue of 60.0% to HK$543.9 million during the
year, continuing to generate a stable cash inflow to the Group.

With regard to Mainland China operations, for the year ended
31 December 2021, revenue increased by 58.1% to HK$568.7
million, primarily as a result of the growth in revenue of the eye
hospitals in Shenzhen, Beijing, Kunming, Shanghai and Zhuhai.
Growth of total revenue of the hospitals in Futian and Bao‘an,
Shenzhen was 40.6%; revenue of the hospital in Beijing increased
significantly by 96.0%; and the three eye hospitals in Kunming,
Shanghai and Zhuhai made a revenue contribution of HK$61.8
million, HK$65.5 million and HK$24.9 million to the Group for the
year, respectively.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

MR

REE2021 12 A1 HIEEE B R
EARFREAMEBRFSRIER 8515
BN AB1,1126 BEBTT  B2020FE MW
69958 BE TR 59.0% ' A AR
EFEA219BEBT -

HEHELBERBOFRLA MLEE
BEEBMBRERESROANEGE TBHAE
B S BaER - FR BENRE
BELRRY  KIELTT60.0% £5439H
BAT #ESAEEELRENRERA °

Wi 27 mE REZE2021 12 A31H
IHFE ERRSEEse8 7888
R 5581% xBXERFI -7 B
B EERFKERE BRI SIERATE -
FI(EARER) BB ILIES
40.6% : It REFR A E KB K 96.0% °
MEMR  EEMKEN=MBERER ©
FRADRAAERMBERKE=ERGI8EE
BT 65.5BBEITM249BEETT °
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHRE

NEW CHAPTER AFTER METEORIC RISE IN PAST
DECADE

2021 marked the important milestone of the 10th anniversary
of C-MER. After years of hard work, the Group has established
a sizable physical hospital network in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with a solid foundation. Entering 2022, despite the
challenges brought about by the omicron variant of COVID-19,
we believe in the unique advantages of C-MER and the increasing
demands for quality ophthalmic services and other medical
services in Hong Kong and Mainland China and we expect to
maintain substantial revenue growth with heavy contribution
from ophthalmic services. Meanwhile, we endeavour to turn the
threat of the pandemic into opportunities by actively exploring
more medical projects with a reasonable valuation and promising
prospect, while facilitating the consolidation of the highly
scattered medical service market in Hong Kong, thereby creating
a stronger momentum for the development of C-MER in the next
decade.

Lastly, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all customers,
shareholders and business partners for their unremitting
support over the past few years, and to all colleagues for their
commitment to their position over the last year in overcoming the
challenges arising from the pandemic and dedicating themselves
to providing quality and caring medical services to patients. We
believe the pandemic will eventually end, and with everyone’s
efforts, Hong Kong and the Greater Bay Area will turn a new page
of prosperity!

Chairman
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis /P
29 March 2022, Hong Kong

THERRE BREER

221 BAEBRL TAFHEEZZRME - &
BEZFERNBNOME  AEEEELEHENRA
MRy ARENEBERESE  BREEE -
BA2022F - EEBRE K (Omicron) #E
RETREEKS  BRMBEELFIESE
BHEEEDY L6 RANMESE X
REIRAMBERBAOTKEBEY &
I8 HA LA BR L 3 & B9 U A BE (R 35 ] BR A 48
R-BLFRAFN  ZAMFREBHNKSER
A BERRREZHEAEMA =
MEZFEE RANNEABRESEIHNE
BEBEREMS AFBNT —E+F8
BOEAEEKRE S -

RE AARLDBHMAEREL 2RKBR
MEBBHBESFRZZAXRT UKk
BURFBE-—FRETEL BRES
ERNBEEHME  AURARRARKE
BROMBEERS -RIFIEEREREBE
MERKNBAT  EBMANEREEE
PREERNF— A |

*E
MIERIEE 4 (K Fat+)
EFHE 2022638291
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview and business development

During the year ended 31 December 2021, although the
coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19") remained precarious, the
Group has resumed the momentum to grow and continues
with the plan to expand our service network in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area (the "GBA") (B &8 KX
/& @) and other Mainland China regions. Leveraging on our
strong reputation in quality medical services, our revenue in Hong
Kong and the Mainland China increased by 60.0% and 58.1%,
respectively.

Development in Mainland China

We experienced substantial development in the Mainland China
with the setting up of clinics, eye centres and hospitals, and we
also made acquisitions during the year ended 31 December 2021.
Our seventh and eighth eye hospital/centre are located in Huizhou
(F M), Guangdong Province (FEE 4 ) and Fuzhou (4@ /M), Fujian
Province (#8524 ), which commenced operations in March 2021
(with an area of 4,000 square meters with 3 operating theatres
and 10 consultation rooms), and had soft opening in December
2021 (with an area of about 3,000 square meters with 3 operating
theatres and 12 consultation rooms), respectively.

It is expected that our ninth eye hospital/centre, which is located
in Guangzhou, will commence operations by the second half of
2022 (with an area of about 5,400 square meters with 4 operating
theatres and 14 consultation rooms).

In addition, the Group is in the progress of setting up three eye
hospitals in Dongguan (& 52), Foshan (f# L), and Jieyang (18
%), of Guangdong Province (EES4). It is expected that our eye
centres in Nanshan, Shenzhen will commence operations in the
second half of 2022.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

£ e
BEREBERR

HZE2021F12B31HLEFE BENA
BARFEZEE ([COVID-19])) BAEE - &
EHEREREDRE THEBATRALE
BRAER ((KEBE]) RPE R E A
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BEREEE  RAREEBERPEANH
Wz 5 Bl & 60.0% . 58.1% °

ERERBHER

BMERLZHEZA BRALKER
FHRERDERRER -BRMTRER
2021 F 12 AT HIEFEETZTWE - &
I L RS N\BRR R RO A R
BRERABMNREEZERMN - 551K 2021F
3 ARRIE AEIE (514,000 F 75K - 3%
SEFMERIOEBZES) WU k#2021
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BPMENERBER, RO REM -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENRE DN

In February 2022, we have started our dental business in Shenzhen
through our investment to own an 61.5% equity interest of
Shenzhen Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd. (RIITE B fE &5 B = B R%
7B BRA7A]) (“Shenzhen CKJ"), which became an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of the
investment. Shenzhen CKJ has one dental hospital and 12 dental
clinics in Shenzhen. By leveraging our expertise in medical services,
our patient base in Shenzhen, and the knowledge and experience
of Shenzhen CKJ in dental businesses, we believe Shenzhen
CKJ possesses great potential for development in Shenzhen
and other parts of the Mainland China, and together with the
assistance from our dental partners in Hong Kong and the Group’s
management team, we strive and are hopeful to unlock the full
potential and value of Shenzhen CKJ’s brand and platform.

Development in Hong Kong

Amid the uncertain market environment due to the spread of
COVID-19 in Hong Kong, we are committed to maintaining
proactive business development. This was achieved in part due
to the Group expanding our service portfolio by leveraging our
expertise in quality medical management and the recognition
of our brand and our capabilities from our patients. In 2021,
mainly through acquisitions, we started our business in dental,
optometry, oncology and medical aesthetics in Hong Kong.

For dental business in Hong Kong, we have started to provide our
services in Causeway Bay, Tsim Sha Tsui, Diamond Hill and Shatin
in 2021, and expect to provide our services in additional locations
including but not limited to Central, Kwun Tung, and Wan Chai in
2022.

Further, we acquired an oncology center in Central, and a
center providing one-stop premium medical aesthetics, dental
and ophthalmic services in Tsim Sha Tsui, in August 2021 and
November 2021 respectively with our partners in different
specialties to provide a comprehensive coverage on quality medical
services.

R202242 A - BB E N EAR R
mERRENEEBROBRAF (TRIE
B 161.5% 8% - FEKRMRFIN
FRED  ZRRRREZKEKRBARA
AMBEZIFEEZENBLRR - R EFERER
RINGEEVE T RS R 12 B2 e
BREBMANBERBTER FINBER
R R YIE B 72 OF B S5 77 0 A R0 8 M 4
B RARERNEERRERNETFERA
WHMREEEANERES.  £FF
B IF R R S R R B E 1R BB A 13 B
T BABRIEFLERRD EREFRIER
BegLFanE) REE-

EEBNRE

EEE  COVD-19EBERFEMISRHET
AR HERMBNREEGNEBER -
BEMSANKR  BHrRAZAEE
MARMCEERREE TENE XN
R EEHREMOmEMEE DR - 1§
MARRISEA - R2021F > BFIEZEE
BUREE - FAIRERBEE TR BREME K
fERER R B ERNER -

BHEBENIHES RSN 2021 FH
IR RDME - EBAILRY REMR
fR7% - WIHEAR2022F EFE Z MR - B1F
IR BEEFFHREERS

AN - TP B 2021 £ 8 A 20214 11
BUWEMAPRO —FERBEFRLRRA
DHEEEH -G ETRBEEER TR KR
BREH—MPL BTRRBENAER
HREZHFUNESBERS -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Vﬁﬁgﬁ?ﬁ&ﬁﬁ

To expand our services offering in the area of myopia control,
optometry assessments and spectacles and contact lens
prescriptions in Hong Kong, we have acquired an 60% equity
interest in an optometry group with centres located in Sai Wan,
North Point, Mong Kok and Tseung Kwan O and the completion
took place in January 2022. This will complement the Group’s
existing business, create patient traffic from these optometry
centres to the Group’s ophthalmology clinic network, and further
expand the Group’s service network to additional locations
in Hong Kong. The optometry group will further expand into
different locations in Hong Kong to serve the customers of the
Group.

In January 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the equity interests
in one of the leading and well-respected ophthalmology service
groups in Hong Kong, Champion Eye Centre Limited, operating
under the brand “Champion Eye & Refractive Surgery Centre
(FERB R AR F - 0)" which has over 20 years of
history and operates two clinics in Causeway Bay and Jordan,
from independent third parties. This increased the Group’s market
share, expanded our medical team and further solidified the
leadership position of the Group in the ophthalmology sector in
Hong Kong.

Revenue Overview

For the year ended 31 December 2021, we generated 48.9%
(2020: 48.6%) of our revenue in Hong Kong and 51.1% (2020:
51.4%) of our revenue in Mainland China. Despite COVID-19, our
revenue had experienced a rapid growth during the year ended 31
December 2021, generating a total revenue of HK$1,112.6 million
(2020: HK$699.5 million), representing an increase of 59.0% from
the year ended 31 December 2020. With the increasing demand
of quality medical services in Hong Kong, the revenue of Hong
Kong increased by 60.0% to HK$543.9 million (2020: HK$339.9
million). In addition, the revenue of Mainland China operations
recorded an increase of 58.1% in Hong Kong dollar terms to
HK$568.7 million (2020: HK$359.6 million) during the year ended
31 December 2021 primarily as a result of the strong growth
in revenue of the eye hospitals in Shenzhen, Beijing, Kunming,
Shanghai and Zhuhai. The appreciation of Renminbi (“RMB")
has also increased our revenue growth when reporting in Hong
Kong dollar terms. In RMB terms, our revenue in Mainland China
increased by 47.4% from the year ended 31 December 2020.
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The total revenue from the hospitals in Shenzhen (Futian and
Baoan) increased by 40.6% and amounted to HK$311.8 million
(2020: HK$221.8 million) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The revenue of the eye hospital in Beijing increased significantly
by 96.0% and amounted to HK$97.8 million (2020: HK$49.9
million). In addition, our Beijing hospital was approved to be
a Medical Insurance Designated Medical and Pharmaceutical
Institution (E2{R E Zh B B # 48 ) in Beijing in January 2022, which
would broaden our patient base.

The three acquired eye hospitals in Kunming, Shanghai and
Zhuhai commenced full operations in June 2019, November 2019
and December 2020, respectively and contributed HK$61.8 million
(2020: HK$35.0 million), HK$65.5 million (2020: HK$50.8 million)
and HK$24.9 million (2020: HK$2.2 million) to the revenue of
the Group, respectively, during the year ended 31 December
2021. Operations of these acquired hospitals have been running
smoothly and positively after the acquisitions. The Group will
continue to seek expansion opportunities through acquisition as
this provides a faster way for expansion.

Revenue

We are an ophthalmic, dental and other medical service provider
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Our ophthalmologists/
physicians are specialised in the fields of cataract, glaucoma,
strabismus and refractive surgeries and external eye diseases.
Our revenue is derived from our fees charged to our clients on
consultation, procedures, surgeries, and other medical services, as
well as the sales of vision aid products, including glasses and lens.
The following table sets forth our revenue for the years indicated
as a percentage of total revenue:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12RA31ALEE
2021 2020
2021 2020

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

FET FETL FET
Provision of ophthalmic services RERERHRT 920,049 82.7 605,607 86.6 314,442 51.9
Sales of vision aid products HER MW ER 140,342 126 93,938 134 46,404 494
Provision of other medical services T2 E b B8 & R 7% 52,186 4.7 - - 52,186 NAZTEM
1,112,577 100.0 699,545 100.0 413,032 59.0




Our revenue was generated from Hong Kong and Mainland
China. In Hong Kong, our service network included our two day
surgery centres and six satellite clinics for our ophthalmic services,
three dental clinics, one oncology centre and a one-stop centre
for medical aesthetics, dental and ophthalmic services located
in a prime location in Tsim Sha Tsui. In Mainland China, our
service network included our eye hospitals in Shenzhen (Futian
and Baoan), Beijing, Shanghai, Zhuhai, Kunming, Huizhou,
our eye centre in Fuzhou and our three satellite eye clinics in
Shanghai. The following table sets forth our revenue according to
geographical markets as a percentage of total revenue:
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Year ended 31 December

BEN2ANALEE
2021 2020 Change

20215 20204 =

HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET
Hong Kong &8 543,909 489 339,928 486 203,981 60.0
Mainland China R i 568,668 511 359,617 514 209,051 58.1
1,112,577 100.0 699,545 1000 413,032 59.0

Our total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2021
represented a significant increase of 59.0% as compared with
our total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2020.
In addition to the increase in the sales of visual aid products by
49.4%, the increase was primarily driven by the increase in the
revenue generated from the provision of ophthalmic services
to HK$920.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2021
from HK$605.6 million during the year ended 31 December
2020, representing an increase of 51.9%, which was primarily
attributable to the increase in the number of surgeries performed
by us and the number of our ophthalmologists and physicians in
Hong Kong and Mainland China.
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The revenue generated by our business operations in Hong Kong
accounted for 48.9% of our total revenue. As a percentage of our
total revenue, revenue from Hong Kong increased from 48.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2020 due to the quick growth
of our revenue in Hong Kong in 2021 by 60.0%, which grew at a
faster pace than that in Mainland China, with grew by 58.1% in
2021.

Provision of ophthalmic services

Our revenue generated from the provision of ophthalmic
services may be broadly divided into two categories, namely (1)
consultation and other medical service fees and (2) surgery fees.
The following table sets forth our revenue by category for the
years indicated as a percentage of total revenue generated from
the provision of ophthalmic services:
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Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2021 2020 Change
2021 % 20204 4
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i FE7T FE7T
Consultation and other e R EMER
medical service fees RS
- Hong Kong &% 181,356 19.7 111,890 18.5 69,466 62.1
— Mainland China —H BN 124,361 13.5 86,581 143 37,780 436
305,717 33.2 198,471 32.8 107,246 54.0
Surgery fees FE
- Hong Kong B8 307,457 334 226,573 374 80,884 35.7
- Mainland China — B A 306,875 334 180,563 29.8 126,312 70.0
614,332 66.8 407,136 67.2 207,196 50.9
Total st 920,049 100.0 605,607 100.0 314,442 51.9

The ophthalmic services provided by us focused on surgeries for
the treatment of not only cataract, glaucoma and strabismus,
but also eye diseases including corneal and vitreoretinal diseases.
Generally speaking, ophthalmic services provided by us are
outpatient or day care procedures, performed under local
anaesthesia. Hence, unlike other hospitals, clinics or nursing
homes, we are not constrained by bed capacity and do not focus
on providing large inpatient facilities at our eye centres, hospitals
or clinics.
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The following table sets forth the total surgery fees, the total
number of surgeries performed by us and the average fee per

surgery:

TREINFMBAE  LAETHFMAR
L EHFMOFHER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILEEE

For Hong Kong BE

Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FirB L% (FE7T)
Number of surgeries performed by us  F{Fi# 77 H) FiT 20 B
Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFMmE BT
For Mainland China HRE A it

Total surgery fee (in HK$'000) FlirERRE (FET)
Number of surgeries performed by us F 19377 ) F i 28 B
Average surgery fee (HK$) FHFME ET)

2021 2020
20215 2020 £

307,457 226,573 35.7
11,478 7,205 59.3
26,787 31,447 -14.8

306,875 180,563 70.0
23,661 14,520 63.0
12,970 12,435 4.3

In Hong Kong, the average surgery fee decreased by 14.8%
due to the change of the type of surgery mix. However, the
surgery volume increased during the year ended 31 December
2021 as a result of the increasing number of our Hong Kong
ophthalmologists and the demand of quality medical services.

In Mainland China, the average surgery fee increased by 4.3% due
to the change of the type of surgery mix during the year ended 31
December 2021. The number of surgeries increased by 63.0% to
23,661 during the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly due to
the strong growth in the number of patients who had surgeries
performed in the eye hospitals in Beijing, Kunming and Shenzhen.

Sales of vision aid products

We also generate revenue from the sales of vision aid products
including glasses and lens. The sales were conducted by us
through the assessment of the optometrists employed by us
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. During the year ended 31
December 2021, our revenue generated from the sales of vision
aid products amounted to HK$140.3 million, representing an
increase of 49.4% from that of last year.

Provision of other medical services

We started our dental, oncology, medical aesthetics and
laboratory services during the year ended 31 December 2021
and our revenue generated from these services amounted to
approximately HK$52.2 million, representing approximately 4.7%
(2020: nil) of our total revenue for the year.
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Cost of revenue $HE A
TREHNERMPDFIREE RS KA (A
BILAME B ZAE D EHIR) 85T

The following table sets forth an analysis of our cost of revenue
for the years indicated, both in terms of Hong Kong dollars and as
a percentage of total revenue:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2021 2020
2021 20204
% to % to
HK$’000 revenue HK$'000 revenue HK$'000
1 Wz iz
FEx B TFHET AS TFET
Doctors’ consultation fees Bive 204,623 18.4 139,456 19.9 65,167 46.7
Cost of inventories and FERFEMBRAE
consumables 272,259 245 163,761 23.4 108,498 66.3
Staff salaries and allowance B T %<& K& 84 140,088 12.6 101,806 146 38,282 376
Depreciation of right-of-use  f# A& EJTE
assets 60,820 55 49,317 7.0 11,503 233
Depreciation of property, ME - WEREETE
plant and equipment 38,226 34 33527 4.8 4,699 14.0
Others HAh 38,333 34 17,601 25 20,732 117.8
Total BET 754,349 67.8 505,468 72.3 248,881 49.2

Compared with the year ended 31 December 2020, in Mainland
China, there were three new service locations that commenced
operations to meet the increased demand of ophthalmic services,
including the eye hospitals in Zhuhai and Huizhou which
commenced operation in December 2020 and March 2021,
respectively, and the eye centre in Fuzhou which commenced
operation in December 2021. In Hong Kong, the new locations
included three dental clinics, an oncology centre and a one-stop
centre for medical aesthetics, dental and ophthalmic services
located in a prime location in Tsim Sha Tsui.

Accordingly, our cost of revenue increased by 49.2% from
HK$505.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$
754.3 million for the year 31 December 2021, primarily as a
result of (i) an increase in cost of inventories and consumables
of HK$108.5 million, (ii) an increase in doctors’ consultation
fees of HK$65.2 million, and (iii) an increase in staff salaries and
allowance of HK$38.3 million.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit
margin according to geographical markets for the years indicated:
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Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE

2021 2020 Change
2021 % 20204
HK$°000 GP % HK$000 GP % HK$'000
FExL ERE FET  EFE  FET
Hong Kong A 154,383 28.4 87,587 258 66,796 76.3
Mainland China B A 203,845 35.8 106,490 29.6 97,355 91.4
358,228 32.2 194,077 27.7 164,151 84.6

The amount of gross profit during the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to HK$358.2 million, representing an increase
of 84.6% from HK$194.1 million during the year ended 31
December 2020. Our gross profit margin was 32.2% during the
year ended 31 December 2021, as compared with 27.7% during
the year ended 31 December 2020. The gross profit margin for
our business operations in Mainland China recorded an increase to
35.8% from 29.6%, and the gross profit margin for our business
operations in Hong Kong also recorded an increase from 25.8%
10 28.4% primarily due to the economy of scale.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses increased by 80.9% from HK$69.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$126.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to an increase in
promotional expenses in Mainland China for the eye hospitals. The
amount of selling expenses, as a percentage of our total revenue,
increased slightly from 10.0% for the year ended 31 December
2020 to 11.4% for the year ended 31 December 2021. The fees
paid to online platforms represented the major component of our
selling expenses.

Administrative expenses

Our total administrative expenses during the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to HK$234.1 million and had an
increase of 68.1% as compared with HK$139.3 million during the
year ended 31 December 2020. The increase in our administrative
expenses during the year was primarily driven by the increase in
our staff salaries and allowances and depreciation of right-of-use
assets as a result of business expansion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other income

Our other income during the year ended 31 December 2021
consisted primarily of the management fee income from an
associate and government grants, and decreased to HK$10.6
million from HK$12.9 million during the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in
government grants and rent concessions.

Other gains, net

Our other gains, net during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$16.5 million and mainly consisted of gain on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and foreign
exchange gains.

Finance costs, net

Our finance costs, net during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$8.5 million and mainly consisted of interest
expenses on leases netted off by bank interest income.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense during the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$10.6 million, representing a decrease of 2.5%
from HK$10.9 million during the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was primarily due to the recognition of deferred tax
assets in relation to tax losses in Hong Kong.

Profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to HK$16.2 million (2020: loss of
HK$8.4 million), primarily due to recovery from COVID-19 and
increase in profit in Hong Kong despite the losses incurred by
the hospitals and eye centre in Mainland China in the investment
stages.
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Capital expenditure and commitments

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group incurred capital
expenditures of HK$216.9 million, primarily due to purchase of
equipment and leasehold improvements for our new hospitals,
centres and clinics.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total capital
commitment of approximately HK$312.4 million (2020:
HK$7.0 million), mainly comprising the related contracts of
capital expenditure for medical equipment, and the remaining
consideration of the investment into Shenzhen CKJ.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio, which is calculated as
net debt divided by total capital, is not applicable due to net cash
position (2020: same).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December
2021.

Pledge of assets

The Group had no pledge of assets as at 31 December 2021.

Financial instruments

Our major financial instruments include trade receivables, other
receivables excluding prepayments, cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, trade payables, other payables excluding non-
financial liabilities and lease liabilities. Our management manages
such exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Foreign exchange risk

Our subsidiaries mainly operate in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the transactions settled in HK$ and RMB,
respectively. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when recognised
financial assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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As at 31 December 2021, the financial assets and liabilities of our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China were primarily
denominated in HK$ and RMB, respectively. Currently, the Group
has not entered into agreements or purchased instruments to
hedge the Group’s foreign exchange rate risks. Any material
fluctuation in the exchange rates of HK$ or RMB may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group. The Group manages
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’'s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. We do not
anticipate significant impact resulted from the reasonable possible
change in interest rates.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk mainly arises from lease
liabilities at fixed interest rates.

Credit risk

Our credit risk mainly arises from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of cash and cash equivalents are limited because
the counterparties are state-owned or reputable commercial banks
which are high-credit-quality financial institutions located in Hong
Kong or Mainland China.

We have a highly diversified source of patients, without any
single patient contributing material revenue. Moreover, some
of our revenue is settled by reputable commercial companies
and local government on behalf of patients. We have controls
to closely monitor the patients’ billing and payment status by
communication with commercial companies and local government
to minimize the credit risk.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of
1,461 employees (2020: 1,058). The increase in the number of
employees was mainly due to the increase in the scale of the
Group’s business.

The Group ensures that its remuneration packages are
comprehensive and competitive from time to time. When
determining the emolument payable to the Directors (including
the executive Directors), we take into account the experience
of the Directors, their level of responsibility and general market
conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments of
the Directors are linked to the profit performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors. Employees
are remunerated with a fixed monthly income plus annual
performance related bonus. Share options are granted to selected
employees to reward their contributions under the share option
scheme of the Company, details of which are set forth in this
report. The Group also sponsors selected employees to attend
external training courses that suit the needs of the Group’s
business.

Events after the end of the reporting period

The events after the end of the reporting period are disclosed as
follows:

(a) During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the country/region.
The Group continues to pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluates its
impact on the financial position and operating results of
the Group.

(b) On 13 January 2022, the Company entered into an
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent agreed to place 76,500,000 new shares of
the Company at a price of HK$6.48 each (the “Placing”)
and the net cash proceeds received by the Company was
HK$490.6 million. The Placing was completed in January
2022. Further details of the Placing can be found in the
announcements of the Company dated 13 January and 20
January 2022.
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On 19 January 2022, the Group completed its acquisition
of the 100% equity interest of a company that operates
ophthalmic clinics in Hong Kong at a total consideration of
HK$56,020,000 by allotment of 8,790,000 shares of the
Company under a sale and purchase agreement dated 4
January 2022. Up to the date of this report, the acquisition
has been completed. Further details of the acquisition can
be found in the announcements of the Company dated 4
January and 10 January 2022.

On 19 January 2022, the Group completed its acquisition
of the 60% equity interest of a company that operates
optometry centres in Hong Kong at a total consideration
of HK$13,800,000 in cash under an investment agreement
dated 10 November 2021. Up to the date of this report,
the acquisition has been completed. Further details can
be found in the announcement of the Company dated 10
November 2021.

On 17 February 2022, the Group completed its investment
to own an 61.5% equity interest of Shenzhen CKJ at
a total consideration of RMB380,500,000 and capital
contribution of RMB50,000,000 in cash under an equity
investment agreement dated 3 September 2021 (as
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 24
November 2021) and an equity transfer agreement
dated 24 November 2021. Up to the date of this report,
the acquisition has been completed. Further details
of the Shenzhen CKJ investment can be found in the
announcements of the Company dated 3 September 2021,
24 November 2021 and 17 February 2022.
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OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

The implementation of the favorable policies to the medical
industry in Mainland China, the development of the GBA and
the increasing urbanisation and living standards of the middle-
class population in Mainland China are expected to stimulate the
demand for high-quality ophthalmic and other medical services.
The Group is prepared to exploit the business opportunities by
implementing the following strategies:

o establish or acquire eye hospitals, eye centres and clinics in
Hong Kong and selected Mainland China cities including
cities in the GBA and Eastern China;

o establish or acquire dental clinics and other speciality
medical clinics in Hong Kong;

o continue to improve our operational capacity and service
capability; and

o identify suitable strategic partners for collaboration.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our liquidity requirements are primarily used to satisfy to our
working capital needs for our business operations. Our principal
sources of liquidity are cash generated from our business
operations, our bank deposits and bank borrowings. As at 31
December 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of HK$386.7
million and bank borrowings of HK$179.4 million, most of which
were denominated in either US dollars, Renminbi or Hong Kong
dollars.

As at 31 December 2021, all of the Group's borrowings of
HK$179.4 million (2020: nil) are repayable on demand and the
effective interest rate of borrowings was 2.44% per annum (2020:
N/A). All of these borrowings were denominated Hong Kong
dollars and which were primarily subject to floating interest rates.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not use
any financial instruments, currency borrowings or other hedging
instruments for hedging purposes.
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Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. As at 31 December 2021, the
gearing ratio is not applicable due to net cash position (2020:
same).

The current ratio (calculated as current assets over current
liabilities) was 1.83 times as at 31 December 2021 compared with
4.01 times as at 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group reported net current assets
of HK$338.1 million, as compared with HK$458.9 million as at 31
December 2020.

Net cash generated from operating activities was HK$144.4
million during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$109.6 million). The increase was mainly attributed to increase
in business scale during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to HK$395.7
million during the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to
HK$153.1 million during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
Group invested approximately HK$45.9 million for acquisitions
of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired, approximately HK$190.8
million for prepayment of acquisition of a subsidiary and
approximately HK$118.1 million for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash generated
from financing activities amounted to HK$85.1 million, as
compared to net cash generated from financing activities of
HK$312.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
cash generated from financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2021 was mainly from the proceeds from drawdown
of bank borrowings of HK$175.1 million netted off by lease
payments of HK$88.6 million.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

To explore opportunities for strategic partnerships, alliances and
investment and expand into other medical services and projects
including medical laboratory, dental and optometry services, the
Group made the following significant investments and acquisitions
to complement and leverage the Group’s existing services and
enhance the Group’s medical services as an integrated medical
service provider.

On 9 February 2021, the Group acquired 90% equity interests in
Health Hope International Medical Laboratory Limited (“Health
Hope”), a company that provides medical laboratory services
in Hong Kong, from Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI Xiaoting, our
Directors, at a cash consideration of HK$9,000,000. On 23 July
2021, the Group’s interest in Health Hope decreased to 45.9%
due to dilution effect from investment from two independent
third party investors and Health Hope has subsequently become
an associate company of the Group.

On 10 February 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party dentist to acquire 60% of the equity
interests in CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre Limited (“CAD/
CAM"), a company that operates a dental clinic in Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong, and the consideration was paid by allotment
and issue of 1,137,235 shares of the Company (their value
being approximately equivalent to HK$6,084,000 based on the
published share price on the agreed date, 13 April 2021) and
HK$6,216,000 in cash. The completion took place on 27 April
2021. On a pro-rata basis, the dentist met the revenue guarantee
from the date after closing up to 31 December 2021.

On 3 September 2021 and 24 November 2021, the Group
entered into agreements with independent third parties to invest
and own a total of 61.5% equity interest of Shenzhen CKJ by way
of equity transfer and capital contribution. The total investment
amount was RMB430.5 million, including the consideration of
RMB380.5 million and the capital contribution of RMB50 million,
of which the consideration and capital contribution of RMB134
million and RMB35 million respectively would be settled within 12
months after the completion. The completion took place on 17
February 2022. For the details of the transaction, please refer the
announcements dated 3 September 2021, 24 November 2021
and 17 February 2022.
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On 10 November 2021, the Group entered into an agreement
with independent third parties to acquire 60% equity interest in
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited, a company that operates
four optometry centres in Sai Wan, North Point, Mong Kok and
Tseung Kwan O, Hong Kong. The total invested amount was
HK$34.5 million, which included a consideration of HK$13.8
million and the contribution of a shareholder’s loan of HK$20.7
million. The completion took place on 19 January 2022.

Health Hope contributed revenue of HK$25,833,000 and net
profit of HK$5,001,000 to the Group between the acquisition
date by our Group and up to the date it ceased to be a subsidiary
and CAD/CAM contributed revenue of HK$8,568,000 and net
profit of HK$3,400,000 to the Group since acquisition date,
whereas the investment and acquisition of Shenzhen CKJ and
The Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited were completed after 2021.
As of the date of this Report, the calculations of the purchase
price allocation for the acquisitions of Shenzhen CKJ and The
Optometry (OPT) Centre Limited have not been completed.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed (the “Listing”) on the
Stock Exchange since 15 January 2018 (the “Listing Date"”),
and the net proceeds from the global offering (the “Global
Offering”) amounted to HK$609.8 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no proceeds from the
Global Offering were used.
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Set out below is the intended use of proceeds as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 29 December 2017 (the
“Prospectus”), utilised amount and unutilised amount of net
proceeds as at 31 December 2021.

Percentage
of net
proceeds
ERER
HEE
B

%

%

Use of net proceeds
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Net
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Amount
remaining

Amount
utilised
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x|
HK$'000
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R
HK$ 000
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Here @
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Mainland China cities R 42.5% 259,200 (123,679) 135,521
For establishing three eye hospitals in ~ F R f£ A B P93 328 5 33 Th

selected Mainland China cities HIT = ERR R 40.4% 246,400 (246,400) -
For establishing two satellite clinicsin -~ FIRTE R LR E 2

Shenzhen B2l 4.2% 25,600 (10,000) 15,600
For upgrading our medical equipment  FIREE 8 K = Bl A 7

and enhancing our information REBEERERILREM

technology system in Hong Kong and ~ H% &4t

Mainland China 8.5% 51,800 (51,800) -
For our working capital and general ~ FA{EZELE S R —B1%¥

corporate purpose i35S 4.4% 26,800 (26,800) -
Total et 100.0% 609,800 (458,679) 151,121

As announced by the Company on 29 March 2022, the Directors
have carefully considered the Group’s past investments and future
development trends, especially the available potential investment
opportunities of eye clinics, eye centers and eye hospitals within
Mainland China and in Hong Kong. Taking into account the
Group's strategies to develop the Group’s ophthalmic, dental
and other specialty medical practices within Mainland China
and Hong Kong, and to maximise the flexibility of the Group in
capturing potential acquisition opportunities as and when such
opportunities arise, the Board has resolved to expand the use of
the unutilised net proceeds from the Global Offering towards
possible acquisition(s), and/or establishment of eye clinic(s), eye
centre(s) and eye hospital(s) in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
The Directors expect that the amount remaining will be used by
the end of 2023.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE 2020 SUBSCRIPTION

On 19 June 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with C-MER Group Limited (the “Seller”) and the Hong Kong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, as the placing agent,
in respect of the placing of an aggregate amount of 68,000,000
existing ordinary shares of the Company (the “Placing Shares”)
at the price of HK$5.80 per Placing Share to not less than six
independent professional, institutional and/or individual investors
(the “2020 Placing”). The aggregate nominal or par value of
the Placing Shares is HK$6,800,000, and the closing price of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on 19 June 2020, being the date of the placing
agreement, was HK$6.28 per Placing Share. The Seller then
subscribed (the “2020 Subscription”) for 68,000,000 Shares
(the “Subscription Shares”) that were subsequently issued by
the Company at the placing price of HK$5.80 per Placing Share
(collectively, “the 2020 Placing and the 2020 Subscription”).
The 2020 Placing and the 2020 Subscription was completed on 23
June 2020 and 30 June 2020, respectively. The net subscription
price (after deduction of the expenses incurred by the Seller
in relation to the 2020 Placing and the 2020 Subscription) of
each Subscription Share was approximately HK$5.70. The net
proceeds from the 2020 Subscription (after deducting relevant
expenses borne or incurred by the Company) were approximately
HK$387.6 million. To capture potential acquisition opportunities
of medical and dental clinics, which may complement the Group’s
existing practice areas, the Board has resolved on 31 March
2021 to expand the use of the net proceeds from the 2020
Subscription towards possible acquisition(s) and/or establishment
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of dental clinics and other medical clinics in Hong Kong, the
acquisition(s) and/or establishment of eye hospital(s) in Mainland
China and/or as working capital for the Group. The table below
sets out the planned applications of the net proceeds as per the
announcement of the Company dated 31 March 2021 and their
actual usage up to 31 December 2021:

Percentage
of total
net proceeds

Planned
applications

EHRERE

FRAR
RERZ Rl
HK$000

FET

Use of proceeds

FERERE

BRAERERRER/
RRULTRD I R EM
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medical clinics in KBRSk LR
Hong Kong, the ERRIRERR/
acquisition(s) RERREER
and/or establishment of BELS

eye hospital(s) and dental
business in Mainland China
and/or as working capital
for the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all of the net proceeds
from the 2020 Subscription in the amount of approximately
HK$387.6 million were used, consisting of (1) a total of HK$39.2
million for the payment of the acquisition of dental clinics,
an oncology centre and a medical centre in Hong Kong, (2)
HK$157.6 million for the establishment of the eye centre/hospitals
in Guangzhou, Fuzhou, Foshan, Jieyang and working capital to
our hospitals at investment stage, and (3) HK$190.8 million for
the payment of the investment in Shenzhen CKJ, which operates
a dental business in Shenzhen.

Net proceeds
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis /P (M) % 8 4 ), aged 62, is the
Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer and our
executive Director. Dr. Dennis LAM is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Dennis LAM is our founder and
has been leading our business growth for over nine years. Dr.
Dennis LAM obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of
Surgery from the University of Hong Kong in November 1984.
Dr. Dennis LAM has become a Fellow of The Royal College of
Surgeons of Edinburgh since 1988, Fellow of The Royal College
of Ophthalmologists since 1990 and a Fellow of The College of
Ophthalmologists of Hong Kong since 1994. Dr. Dennis LAM
obtained the Doctor of Medicine degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2003. Dr. Dennis LAM has been a
registered medical practitioner in Hong Kong since 1984, and a
Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of Medicine in the speciality of
ophthalmology since 1998.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the Past President of the Asia-Pacific Academy
of Ophthalmology (APAO) and the Asia-Pacific Vitreo-Retina
Society (APVRS), and the Editor-in-Chief of the Asia-Pacific Journal
of Ophthalmology (APJO). Dr. Dennis LAM is a Chair of the
Academia Ophthalmologica Internationalis (AOI), a member of the
board of trustee of the International Council of Ophthalmology
(ICO), an International Council representative of the International
Society of Refractive Surgery (ISRS) from 2011 to 2019 and
a member of the Board of Governors of World Glaucoma
Association (WGA). Dr. Dennis LAM was the Associate Dean
(External Affairs) of the Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University
of Hong Kong from 2004 to 2009. Dr. Dennis LAM was also the
Chairman of the Department of Ophthalmology & Visual Sciences,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong for 13 years (from 1998 to
2011). Over the years, a number of awards have been bestowed
to Dr. Dennis LAM, including: “Ten Outstanding Young Persons”
awarded by the Hong Kong Junior Chamber of Commerce in
1994; “Ten Outstanding Young Persons of the World” awarded
by the Junior Chamber International in 1995, “Young Leader of
Hong Kong” in 1998, “World Economic Forum’s Hundred Global
Leader for Tomorrow"” in 2000, “Hong Kong Humanity Award”
in 2007, the "Educator Award” of Asia-Pacific Association of
Cataract & Refractive Surgeons in 2005, the prestigious “Golden
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Apple Award” for the Best Clinical Teacher in the Asia-Pacific
region issued by the International Council of Ophthalmology
in 2011,"Jose Rizal Medal” (the highest achievement and
contribution award by APAQO), “De Ocampo Lecture Award” for
excellence in ophthalmology awarded by APAO in 2003, on the
“Top 100 Power List” of The Ophthalmologist in 2014, 2016,
2018 and 2020. Dr. Dennis LAM has been appointed as a “Justice
of Peace” in Hong Kong since 2004. Dr. Dennis LAM has been
serving as Deputy of the National People’s Congress of China since
2008. Dr. Lam has been elected as a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong for the Election Committee Constituency in
December 2021.

Dr. Dennis LAM is the spouse of Ms. LI Xiaoting, an executive
Director and the son-in-law of Mr. LI Chunshan, an executive
Director. Dr. Dennis LAM has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies in the last three years.

Ms. LI Xiaoting (ZH & Z 1), aged 43, is our executive Director
since June 2017. Ms. LI is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Ms. LI is a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Ms. LI obtained a Bachelor of
Tourism Management from Shenyang University in China in July
2001 and a Postgraduate Diploma in Business and Administration
in Management from Massey University in New Zealand in 2004.
Ms. LI was the project coordinator and executive officer Il at The
Chinese University of Hong Kong from 2005 to 2007 and from
2007 to 2009, respectively. Ms. LI has been the general manager
of our eye centre in Hong Kong since January 2012 and the
general manager of the Shenzhen C-MER Hospital since March
2013.

Ms. Ll is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, an executive Director, and
the daughter of Mr. LI Chunshan, an executive Director. Ms LI has
not held any directorship in other listed public companies in the
last three years.

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Z{h 8 B 4£), aged 53, is our
executive Director. Dr. LEE has been practicing for us since
January 2012 and is our Head of Hong Kong Operation. Dr. LEE
obtained a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1993. Dr.
LEE completed the Postgraduate Diploma in Epidemiology and
Biostatistics in 2008 and was awarded a Master of Science degree
in Epidemiology and Biostatistics in 2009 all from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE has been a registered medical
practitioner in Hong Kong since 1994.
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Dr. LEE has been a Fellow of Royal College of Surgeons of
Edinburgh since 1998, Fellow of College of Ophthalmologists of
Hong Kong since 1998, a Fellow of College of Surgeons of Hong
Kong since 1998 and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Medicine in the specialty of ophthalmology since 2002.

Dr. LEE was the President of the Hong Kong Ophthalmological
Society (“HKOS"). Dr. LEE was the Chief Editor of the Newsletter
of the HKOS called Eye Opener. Dr. LEE was elected as the
regional secretary of Hong Kong and has represented Hong Kong
in the Asia-Pacific Academy of Ophthalmology. Dr. LEE holds
two ophthalmic patents as an inventor. He was awarded “Ten
Outstanding Young Person of Hong Kong” in 2009.

Prior to joining us, Dr. LEE was the Honorary Clinical Assistant
Professor (from 2003 to 2007) and later the Honorary Clinical
Associate Professor since March 2011 in the Department of
Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was the Assistant
Professor, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences,
Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
the Visiting Professor, Shantou University Medical College and
the Consultant, the Department of Ophthalmology and Visual
Sciences, New Territories East Cluster, Hospital Authority.

Dr. LEE has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. LEE does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Dr. LEE has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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Mr. LI Chunshan (Z & L % %), aged 70, is our executive
Director since June 2017. Mr. Ll is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LI graduated from the
fundamental course specialty of Liaoning University for party
and governmental cadre in April 1986. In 1998, he obtained
the qualification certificate of land appraiser and first prize for
Progress in Science and Technology in the Information System
of Urban Cadastral Management from Land Administration of
Liaoning Province. In 2008, he was conferred the title of Labour
Model by People’s Government of Shenyang.

Mr. LI served in the Chinese army between 1969 and 1996. Mr.
LI was awarded Lieutenant Colonel in 1988. Since retirement
from the military service in 1993, Mr. LI had worked at different
departments and agencies of the Chinese government, including
Assistant to the Head and Deputy Head of the People’s Armed
Forces of Huanggu District, Shenyang (1993-1996), Deputy
Director of the Construction Committee of Huanggu District,
Shenyang City (1996-2002), Deputy Secretary to the Party
Committee of Lingbei Street, Huanggu District, Shenyang City
(2002-2003), Deputy Director General of Property Bureau of
Huanggu District, Shenyang City (2003-2006) and Secretary of
the Party Committee of Culture, Sports Broadcast, Television
and News Publishing Bureau of Huanggu District, Shenyang City
(2006-2011). He retired from the public services since May 2011
and joined Shenzhen C-MER Hospital in October 2012.

Mr. Ll is the father of Ms. LI Xiaoting, an executive Director, and
the father-in-law of Dr. Dennis LAM, an executive Director, and
the spouse of Ms. CAO Yuerong, one of the grantees of the Pre-
IPO share option scheme adopted by the Company.

Mr. LI has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen JP , aged 69, is our independent
non-executive Director since November 2020 and vice chairman
since November 2021. He is currently the chairman and non-
executive director of MTR Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066),
an independent non-executive director of China Construction
Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited and an advisor to Nippon Life
Asia Pacific (Regional HQ) Pte. Ltd (a company incorporated in
Singapore). Dr. AUYEUNG has over 40 years of experience in the
insurance industry in Canada and Hong Kong. Dr. AUYEUNG was
Chairman — Asia of the Principal Financial Group Inc. (“PFG"), a
Fortune 500 company, responsible for PFG’s overall businesses in
Asia. During his time with PFG, Dr. AUYEUNG represented PFG
and its member companies across Asia in building and expanding
PFG's relationship with clients, joint venture partners and strategic
investors, and assisting in business development across all products
lines of PFG. Dr. AUYEUNG also actively serves the public sector
and is currently a member of the Board of Directors of the Investor
and Financial Education Council under the Securities and Futures
Commission and he was previously an observer of the Independent
Police Complaints Council Observers Scheme. In addition, he
is a board member of Bo Charity Foundation (Food Angel)
and a convenor of the Advisory Committee of the Jockey Club
Community eHealth Care Project. Dr. AUYEUNG was previously
the chairman of Hong Kong Strategy for Financial Literacy Sub-
committee on Stakeholder Coordination and Collaboration and
a member of the Independent Review Committee on Hong
Kong’s Franchised Bus Service. Dr. AUYEUNG holds a Bachelor of
Environmental Studies (Urban and Regional Planning) Honours
Degree from the University of Waterloo, Canada. He was awarded
an Honorary Fellowship by the City University of Hong Kong in
2013 and conferred a Doctor of Business Administration, honoris
causa, by Lingnan University in 2020. Dr Auyeung was appointed
a Justice of the Peace in 2018.

Dr. AUYEUNG has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG does not hold any other
positions with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. AUYEUNG has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald SB8S OSt/ JP (ZBIfREE 4 ), aged 67,
is our independent non-executive Director since December 2017.
Dr. LI'is a member of the audit and remuneration committees of
the Company. Dr Ll is a specialist in Family Medicine in private
practice in Hong Kong. Dr. LI is the Immediate Past President
of the World Organisation of Family Physicians (WONCA), the
Past President of the Hong Kong Academy of Medicine and the
Chairman of the Governing Board of Hong Kong Jockey Club
Disaster Preparedness and Response Institute. Dr. LI is also the
Censor of the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians. Dr LI
graduated with his first Bachelor of Arts degree from Cornell
University, USA, in 1975 followed by his study of medicine and
obtained the Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery from
The University of Hong Kong in 1980. Dr. Ll is a Fellow of The
Hong Kong College of General Practitioners, Fellow of the Hong
Kong Academy of Medicine, Honorary Fellow of the College of
Dental Surgeons of Hong Kong, Honorary Fellow of the Royal
Australian College of General Practitioners, Honorary Fellow of
the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians, Fellow of the Faculty
of Public Health of the Royal College of Physicians of the United
Kingdom, Honorary Fellow of the Academy of Family Physicians of
Malaysia, Registered Mainland China Medical Practitioner, Fellow
of the American College of Physicians, Honorary Fellow of the
Royal College of Physicians of Thailand, Fellow of the Academy
of Medicine, Singapore, Honorary Fellow of the Royal College
of Physicians of Ireland, Honorary Fellow of the Royal College of
General Practitioners.

Dr. LI served as Member of Council of Cornell University. Dr. LI is
Clinical Professor (Honorary) in Family Medicine in the Jockey Club
School of Public Health and Primary Care of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong; Honorary Professor in the Li Ka Shing Faculty of
Medicine of the University of Hong Kong; Advisor Professor of
Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, China; Vice Chairman
of Cross-Straits Medicine Exchange Association; Special Advisor
of the Physicians’ Education and Training in General Practice
Committee of the Chinese Medical Physician Association.
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Dr LI is the Director of the Hong Kong St. John Ambulance
Association. Dr. LI is the Director of Bauhinia Foundation Research
Centre, Senior Advisor of Jiahui Health and also the Chairman of
the board of directors of the Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare
Council Limited. Dr. LI is the Honorary Steward of the Hong Kong
Jockey Club. Dr. Ll is the Adjunct Associate Professor of the Faculty
of Health Science of Macau University of Science and Technology.
Dr. LI is the Honorary Adviser of the Award Scheme of The Hong
Kong Award for Young People. Dr. LI is also the Chairman of the
Action Committee Against Narcotics of Security Bureau, a member
of the Steering Committee on Primary Healthcare Development
of Food and Health Bureau and member of the Chief Executive's
Council of Advisers on Innovation and Strategic Development of
the Hong Kong Government.

Dr. LI has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited, a company listed on
Stock Exchange with the stock code: 00722, since 6 November
2015, Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited, a company listed on Stock
Exchange with the stock code: 1177, since 31 December 2020
and New Horizon Health Limited, a company listed on Stock
Exchange with the stock code: 6606, since 5 February 2021. Save
as disclosed above, Dr. Ll is not and has not been a director of any
other listed company in Hong Kong and overseas in the past three
years.
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Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (5 B8 # % %), aged 80, is our
independent non-executive Director since December 2017. Mr.
MA is the chairperson of the audit committee and a member of
the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. MA holds a Bachelor's degree in Economics from The London
School of Economics and Political Science (The University of
London). Mr. MA is the Fellow Member of each of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a full
member of The Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. MA has over 40 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and finance. Mr. MA is a director of Mayee Management Limited.
He is the founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Ltd).

Mr. MA is also an independent non-executive director of Asiaray
Media Group Limited (Stock code: 01993), and S.A.l. Leisure
Group Company Limited (Stock code: 1832) all of which are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. MA retired as an
independent non-executive director of Asia Financial Holdings Ltd.
(Stock code: 00662) on 23 May 2019, C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd.
(Stock code: 00043, before withdrawal of its listing on 18 January
2022) on 5 June 2020, Chong Hing Bank Limited (Stock code:
01111, before withdrawal of its listing on 30 September 2021)
on 14 May 2021, and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited (Stock code: 00836) on 15 September 2021.

Mr. MA has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. MA has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.
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Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (R & = £ &), aged 75, is our
independent non-executive Director since December 2017. Mr.
Chan is the chairperson of the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. CHAN obtained a Bachelor in Economics from the University
of Warwick, United Kingdom in 1971, and a MBA degree from the
City University of London in 1973. Mr. CHAN is the founder and
chairman of the group of companies of Primasia (the “Primasia
Group”), which is in the business of, among others, investment,
research and consultancy and securities brokerage. Mr. CHAN had
been the Chairman of Asian Securities Analysts Federation from
1986 to 1988. Mr. CHAN is also the founder of Taiwan Sotheby’s
International Realty Company Limited.

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong was until recently a licensed person under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") permitted to
engaged in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on
securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities (as defined in the SFO).

Prior to founding the Primasia Group in 1990, Mr. CHAN worked
in Bankers Trust from 1988 to 1990, and he served as general
manager of Kwang Hua Securities Investment Trust in Taipei from
1986 to 1987, executive director in charge of sales and trading
of Hoare Govett Asia Limited from 1980 to 1987 and manager of
investment banking department of Deutsche Bank, Hong Kong
Branch in 1978 to 1980.

Mr. CHAN has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Mr. CHAN does not hold any other positions with the Company or
other members of the Group.

Mr. CHAN has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (R Z ik Z 1), aged 73, is our
independent non-executive Director since December 2017. Ms.
BENTLEY is the chairperson of the nomination committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Ms BENTLEY
Annie Liang is the founder of Bentley Communications and a
pioneer of the branding, corporate and marketing communications
profession in Hong Kong.

Ms. BENTLEY obtained a bachelor of arts degree in English
Literature and Chinese Translation from the University of Hong
Kong in 1971, an advanced certificate in Education from the
University of Oxford in 1976 and a master's degree in Buddhist
Studies from the University of Hong Kong in 2010. Ms. BENTLEY
was made an Honorary Fellow of the University of Hong Kong in
2013.

Ms. BENTLEY began her career in educational publishing for
Oxford University Press working on their ESL books and the Oxford
English Chinese dictionary.

In 1981, she joined the public relations industry working for a
financial services banking and securities group in Hong Kong.
In 1987, she established her consultancy in partnership with
Omnicom, one of the world’s largest public relations and
advertising conglomerate, and grew Bentley Communications
to be one of Hong Kong'’s reputable communications agencies
with coverage in Singapore, Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou by
2007.

Ms. BENTLEY is Chairman of Robert Black College HKU. She is
a trustee of the China Oxford Scholarship Fund, board member
of Action for Epilepsy, Heifer International (Hong Kong) and
committee member of the Boys and Girls Clubs Association of
Hong Kong.

Ms. BENTLEY has been a member of the Hospital Governing
Committee of the Prince of Wales Hospital, and has served on the
Executive Committee of Project Vision since the inception of the
charity in 2006.

Ms. BENTLEY has no relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. BENTLEY does not hold any other
positions with the Company or other members of the Group.

Ms. BENTLEY has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP, aged 70, is our independent
non-executive Director since November 2020. Mr. IP graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a degree in social
sciences in 1973 and completed the Program for Management
Development of the Harvard Business School in 1986. Mr. IP
joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was
promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He
worked in the Hong Kong Government as a Principal Official
from July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in
the past include Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for
Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and Secretary for Financial
Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in respect of
economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological
services, competition and consumer protection. He was also
responsible for labour policies including matters relating to
employment services, labour relations and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and
Labour, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority
Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the
Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board as well
as the Chairman of the Logistics Development Council, Port
Development Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation
Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong
Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia
Star award from the Hong Kong Government in 2001, and
is an unofficial Justice of the Peace since 2007. Mr. IP was an
independent non-executive director of Synergis Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December 2017. Mr.
IP has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
of six listed companies on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
namely, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code:
1313) since August 2008, Lai Sun Development Company Limited
(stock code: 0488) since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook
Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 0590) since October
2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018 and Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since
June 2018.

Mr. IP has no relationship with any Directors, senior management
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP does not hold any other positions
with the Company or other members of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. IP has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Wa Ping (B # ¥ % %), aged 37, is our Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. CHAN joined
us in April 2017 and is responsible for overseeing the finance,
compliance, merger and acquisition, and investor relations of the
Group. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor in Business Administration in 2006 and has
over 10 years of financial and accounting related experience.

Mr. CHAN is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Prior to joining us, Mr. CHAN worked for
PricewaterhouseCoopers and was involved in a number of
audit and assurance, capital market transactions and advisory
projects advising corporate clients including listed companies and
conglomerates worldwide.

Ms. SIU Man Yi (T8 2 &£ L), aged 40, is our Centre
Manager in Hong Kong. Ms. SIU joined us in January 2012 and
is responsible for the overall management of clinic services and
daily operations of our eye centre and satellite clinics in Hong
Kong. Ms. SIU also designs and implements standard operating
procedures to maintain a consistent and efficient work flow in the
eye centres and all satellite clinics. Ms. SIU graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Nursing in 2006 and a
Master of Social Sciences in Behavioural Health in 2010.

Ms. SIU is a registered nurse since 2006. Before joining us, Ms.
SIU worked for Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital during
the period between July 2006 and September 2007, the Chinese
University of Hong Kong during the period between September
2007 and January 2008, St Paul’s Eye Centre during the period
between January 2008 to September 2010, and Asia Medical
Specialists Limited in the period between November 2010 and
May 2011.

Each of the senior management members is not or has not been a

director of any other listed company in Hong Kong and overseas
in the past three years.
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Our Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of our Company is investment holding and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ophthalmic,
dental and other medical services and sale of vision aid and
pharmaceutical products in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

An analysis of our Group’s performance for the year by
geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of our Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on page 108
of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
"Dividend Policy”). The Company endeavours to maintain
sufficient operating capital to develop and operate the Group’s
business, and to provide stable and sustainable returns to its
shareholders.

In deciding whether to recommend dividends and determining the
amount of dividends, the Board will consider the following factors:

o the Group’s financial results and general financial condition;

o liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group;
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o the Group’s current and future operations;

o the Group’s business development strategies and future
expansion plans;

. the general market conditions,

o any relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will also constantly review the Dividend Policy and
retain the discretion to update, revise, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy will not in any
way constitute a legally binding commitment of the Group in
relation to its future dividends and/or will not in any way render
the Company obligated to declare dividends at any time or from
time to time.

The Board is not aware of any shareholders who have waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of our Company on 24 May 2022 are entitled to attend and vote
at the AGM. The register of members of our Company will be
closed from Thursday, 19 May 2022 to Tuesday, 24 May 2022,
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the AGM, shareholders should ensure that all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 18 May 2022.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

o AKREBRREARKHEE:

o AKEMEBERRERARERT

&
o MR

o ETAR A EAEG - 18 B KR FI A
NN B 4B 4 AR KA I 4 B A (1A
MHERE &

s EFERA/MBENTMEMRAZE-

EFeERERSREBE  XRE

BRNBEREH B2 B &R
BB BE o BB ER M T& AMER T A E
PSR B — IR A B A R RA SR BUE R
RNEHR RETEAEAMTRSER
AABETENTARBERTREIRRE

REZEEMA HERRREXRENE
BB e

EEMERDBFECFEUESR
HERRBEFASEARELREN
R

720225 A24 B 25 A AR A R% R & it
MR RAERELERFRBFAgERE L%
Z o AR AEBR2022F5 198 (£ HM)
E202F5A824 8 (EH D) (BIEER™W
) HEEEHEROMBEFERLFE - AF
AEEBHERERAFAGIREG LRE
BRREEREMBEZNBS XHERAE
B ZER 202265 A18H (EHi=) T4
ARF309 A REIARRREBHRD B
FERDEEBBTREHFZLARAR
it AE B BT ERF REBEISIFA MF
THENT12-1716 5540 - PR E L F4E -

FHBENBRZERERLQF



Report of the Directors

EEERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of our Group during the year and a
discussion on our Group’s future business development are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 9 and pages 10 to 30 of
this report respectively.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s results and operations are subject to various factors
with the key risks summarized below:

Reputation risk

Our business depends significantly on the soundness of our
reputation. Failure to develop, maintain and enhance our
reputation, or any negative publicity or allegations in the media
against us, may adversely affect the level of market recognition
of, and trust in, our services, and failure to properly manage our
ophthalmologists’, physicians’ or other medical professionals’
clinical activities may expose us to medical disputes, which could
result in a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our reputation and business
may be harmed accordingly.

Customer risk

As we provide mid- to high-end medical services, our business,
financial condition and results of operations are subject to changes
in patient preference, consumption capacity, consumer confidence
index and general economic conditions in our market.

Regulatory risk

Changes in government policies, relevant regulations and
guidelines established by the regulatory authorities would have
an impact on the business operation of the Group in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties imposed or suspension of
the business operation ordered by the authorities. The Group
has closely monitored changes in relevant government policies,
regulations and guidelines as well as assessing the impact of such
changes.

Price Risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
Directors will closely monitor the exposure.
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Talent risk

If we are unable to attract, train and retain a sufficient number
of qualified ophthalmologists, dentists, physicians, optometrists,
management staff and other hospital personnel, our hospital/clinic
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Key Relationship

The Group fully understands that employees, customers and
partners are the key to our sustainable and stable development.
We are committed to establishing a close relationship with
our employees, enhancing cooperation with our partners and
providing high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure
the Group’s sustainable development.

Staff

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. The Group has been endeavoring to provide our staff
with a competitive compensation packages, attractive promotion
opportunities, comprehensive training courses and a professional
working environment. In order to assist us in attracting, retaining
and motivating our key employees, the Group has adopted share
option schemes, pursuant to which share options will be granted
to eligible employees. The Group provides ongoing training to our
employees.

Customers

We uphold the principle of providing high-quality medical services
throughout our operation, which we believe is vital to achieving
customer satisfaction and maintaining our reputation.

Suppliers

We firmly believe that our suppliers are equally important in
providing high-quality medical services. When selecting suppliers,
we consider, among other things, their product offerings, pricing,
reputation, service or product quality and delivery schedule. We
conduct regular review of our suppliers and will remove any
suppliers who do not meet our supply standards or requirements
from our list of approved suppliers. We usually have more than
one supplier for each kind of our medical supplies needed to
ensure we maintain sufficient inventory levels and bargaining
power to deal with price fluctuations. We do not rely on any
single supplier for any of our major pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables or medical devices. We had stable business
relationships with our suppliers in 2021.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to various Hong Kong and PRC laws, rules and
regulations with regard to environmental matters, including clinic/
hospital sanitation, disease control, disposal of medical waste, and
discharge of wastewater, pollutants and radioactive substances.
We have established systems and procedures in place concerning
environmental protection, such as requiring all our hospitals to
engage qualified service providers to dispose of medical waste
and radioactive substances. In 2021, our businesses were in
compliance with all the relevant laws and regulations with regard
to environmental protection in all material aspects.

As reported by senior management, which is delegated by
the Board to control and monitor the Group’s day-to-day ESG
performances, the Board considers that the Group’s performance
on environmental matters, with respect to the applicable subject
areas and individual aspects that are set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules, has been satisfactory.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Mainland China while the Company
is a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
its shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Our
establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
the Cayman Islands. In 2021, our businesses were in compliance
with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, and the Cayman Islands in all material aspects.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of our Group for the past five years ended 31 December 2021 are
set on page 240 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of our Company are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of our Group and
our Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2021, the reserves of our Company available
for distribution to the shareholders of our Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,100.5 million (2020: HK$1,090.9 million).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige our Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND POST-IPO
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Our Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to the resolutions
of the shareholders passed on 28 June 2017. As at 31 December
2021, 44,054,999 share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme has been exercised pursuant to the terms of grant
of the options.

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentives and rewards to our Directors, employees,
ophthalmologists/physicians, advisers, consultants and business
partners of our Group for their contribution, and to align the
corporate objectives and interests between us and our grantees of
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Grantees”). The principal
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were approved and
adopted pursuant to the resolutions passed by our shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of our Company held on 28
June 2017. On 13 December 2017, our Company has adopted
another share option scheme (the "Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”).
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As at 31 December 2021, outstanding options granted under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to the Grantees amounted to
an aggregate of 1,433,001 Shares (representing approximately
0.12% of the issued share capital of our Company as of 31
December 2021 and date of this report). The Grantees comprise
three Connected Grantees, seven Doctor Grantees, five Consultant
Grantees, two members of our senior management team, our
employees in Hong Kong and our physicians and employees in the
PRC. All the options were granted on or before the Listing Date
and no further options will be granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme after the Listing Date.

The options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to
the Grantees will be vested on different dates.

The terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are the same as
the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(i) the total number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme is 46,765,000 Shares, representing 4.68%
of the enlarged issued share capital of our Company
immediately following completion of the Global Offering
(without taking into account any Share which may be issued
upon any exercise of the Over-allotment Option (as defined
in the Prospectus) and the options which have been or may
be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme) and approximately 3.8% of
total shares in issue as of the date of this annual report;

(i) save for the options which have been granted to 140
Grantees, no further options will be granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme after the Listing Date;

(i) subject to any restriction contained in the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
terms of grant thereof. All the Pre-IPO Share Options that
are not exercised by them within the exercise period shall
lapse and be deemed as cancelled and void;

(iv)  the exercise prices for each Share under the Pre-IPO Share
Options are in the range between HK$0.10 and HK$1.0;

R2021F12A31H  BEEAAEBE
A IE IR AT BB AR AR T MAITERE
B AE A £ 51,433,001 B BX 1D (15 A8 A &) R
2021 F 12 A3 B RAFRE HEHHBE BT
BEAR%I0.12%) o EEABIE =R BEEER
A LtREEEARA ABEEBEARA
MEZEREEERKE  BRMUEESNE
BEREREMNELENEE - TEERED
MEMBEBRZARE R EWHEES
EREBEERAAHAEEREREFTSFHE
fhEERRAE -

RIBEEH R A% E /B RES S RARA
RO EREIN TR BENEE -

BRAREERERET S OGEREER
R RIS R AT R0 R SRAR R - A
TEBERI

()  HEITEREER AR S [ERER
SR ABREM A BEEITHR
17 48 81 /346,765,000 % * 15 AR AR
BEERBETHREEAD BEITRA
4.68% CR&EH &R E A REFT AR B ER
FLRE (E& RHEIRER) MRBEA R
NAEENBRESERERAME
ERBEREFIER D HAERLN
BREMETOEMBD  RIGANF
HEMDHITRDAELD38%)

(i) BREIR 140 BAER AR HE BRI -
RETHBETEREERARAEE
AR AR T B3R B A BB AR A

(i) HETERAFMEEAMBEEE
HEFARBIOBERT  ATREBERR
B % & A1 BB AR AT 81 A9 IR IR L IR
B RO RO (R R TT R B A - AR A
RITEHAR R RITENAE B RAFH
LHENBRERSSRABNE SRR
1R

(iv) BEXLAHBESIERENTRENH
TEEBNF010BTE1.0B T2
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(v)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

In terms of rights on death or ceasing employment:

(aa)

(bb)

If the Grantee (being an individual) dies before
exercising the options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Options”)
in full, all unvested Pre-IPO Share Options shall vest
on the date of his death, and the legal personal
representative(s) of such Grantee may exercise all Pre-
IPO Share Options granted to the deceased within
twelve (12) months thereafter;

If the Grantee is an employee, director, consultant
or adviser of our Group at the time of the grant
of the relevant Pre-IPO Share Options and his or
her employment or service to our Company is
terminated on the ground of disability resulting
from an occupational accident, all unvested Pre-IPO
Share Options shall vest on the termination date of
the employment or engagement of such Grantee.
The Grantee may exercise all Pre-IPO Share Options
granted to him or her within twelve (12) months
thereafter; or

If the Grantee is on leave without pay accumulated
for more than one hundred and eighty-three (183)
days in any calendar year after the Listing Date, the
vesting periods for all unvested Pre-IPO Share Options
granted to him or her shall be respectively extended
for twelve (12) months. If any such extension will
result in the vesting period of any unvested options
to cross beyond the date of the 3rd anniversary of 1
April 2017, 1 September 2017, 1 November 2017, 1
December 2017, 1 January 2018 or 1 June 2018 (as
the case maybe), such extension shall be deemed to
be made up to the business day immediately prior
to the date of the 3rd anniversary of 1 April 2017,
1 September 2017, 1 November 2017, 1 December
2017, 1 January 2018 or 1 June 2018 (as the case
maybe).

(v)

FHBENBRZERERLQF

A SRR ROENMS

(aa)

(bb)

A EA (REA) RBEEITE
ERANGE: =¥k 335 il
BhmBERE ((BERLRRE
ABIRAED AT E % BB R
FEERAFARERNBRES
REGHEBRE ZARA
VEIEEEREANRZEH
Bt +=(12)EARTEESRE
MFEERERAFAEENE
P HE

WERAREEEHEE R AR
BEAMBERERSTEEES -
B ERSHERA BELS
BEMRIEZERIBRAA
AER RBFEREBE AR
3% % B BB AR M IS R RZ AR A
BRIEZEXIZEEARE - &
BRAARZ B BB+ =(12)
RATEMBEEERARE
ERTEERRAE 3k

WEARBRAR ETHBREOE
MEFEHFKRE BB
—BABNTZ=(183)H  HEK
WATEAEBE XA AMEER
BRENEBHREEELR
+Z(12)EA - WEMNBRBRLER
BRI WAGEBERENSES
HAR BB 2017 F4 A1H ~ 2017
F9HA1H 201711 A18H -
2017412818 201851 A1
H=k2018F6 418 (RGN
E)REFIR=-FEH  BABLT
ERANREBE2017F4818 -
201749 A1H -~ 2017411 A1
H - 201712818 20184
1A1BE2018F6 518 (1R15E
MME) B M =FEEBRN—
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, a total of 46,765,000 share
options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as
at the date of the Prospectus. Due to the nature of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme, no further share options may be granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, and therefore “maximum

entitlement”

is not applicable. A remittance of HK$1.00 was

payable by the grantee to the Company upon acceptance of the
offer of the options. They were all accepted and paid for by the
grantees prior to the date of Listing of the Company.

As no further options could be granted by the Company under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme after the Listing, the remaining
life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme would not be applicable.

The following table sets forth a summary of the key terms and

conditions of the Pre-IPO Share Options:

An executive Director,
seven Doctor Grantees, selected

physicians practising in the PRC
and a member of our senior
management team
—BUTEE tEBEARA
RPEHENRERER
-#RREERRAE

Major terms

TERH

Number of grantees

ARAHE

14 Grantees (including Dr. Vincent LEE
and Mr. CHAN Wa Ping, a member
of our senior management team,
and seven Doctor Grantees). Further
information on the Pre-IPO Share
Options s set forth in the paragraphs
under "D. Share Option Schemes -
1 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
WERRA (BEZERBE RS
ﬁﬁF LRREREGNERETE
EREEBEARA) ERARE
Eﬁﬁzﬂ%%wﬁ**ﬁﬂ@“ i
TEMmID. BRE -
EnBRETE-R-

Our employees in Hong Kong
and a member of our senior
management team
REBNERR
-#RREERRAE

28 Grantees (including Ms. SIU Man Yi,

amember of our senior management
team). Further information on the
Pre-IPO Share Options granted to the
member of our senior management
team is set forth in the paragraphs
under "D. Share Option Schemes -
1 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
BEARA (BERMET 25
WE%%K:%EEQ%
IENN

s3d

S5 fok

N A E

RERE

RERER B

émﬁﬁ%%m%%%ﬁ%ETﬁ?ﬁ
46,765,000 A% B8 A% 4 o BB B R A B
%k%#%%ﬁ%@%'éﬁﬁﬁ%%
w%h%ﬁﬂﬁTK"&ﬁEy%h%'
F ot [FREE EBR W TEA - S REREE

1%
B e MARQE LB
BEER A Z B

ERAERA QA AF1.0078 7T

% E R

SEEN

HREMERARBRTARBEERARES
@ﬁﬂx% AEIRMEZRBRE AR
HERBAERT SIS T F L N E M

TREINERARE

ARARFHBR

An executive Director,

a Connected Grantee and
our physicians and employees
in the PRC
-RUTES - ABEARAR
REENEERES

93 Grantees (including Mr. L Chunshan,
an executive Director and Ms. CAO
Yuerong, a Connected Grantee and

the spouse of Mr. LI Chunshan and the
mother of Ms. LI). Further information
on the Pre-IPO Share Options granted
to our executive Director is set forth

in the paragraphs under “D. Share
Option Schemes - 1 Pre-PQ Share
Option Scheme" in Appendix IV to the

Prospectus.

BEARA (BEHTESZALL
ERFFURENEBRERLNE
HEARRL(E % A-EBR
FAMHAES FWEE‘ B
R - 54 H’x%ﬁﬁﬁ
. EfE ;

SR BB E 2K

Five Consultant Grantees

RREEARA

Five Consultant Grantees. Further
information on the Pre-IPO Share
Options s set forth in the paragraphs
under "D. Share Option Schemes -

1 Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix V' to the Prospectus.
¥?A FEERLREE

ipdbE
EnERETE] -8



Major terms

IRRR

Pre-IPO Share Options granted (in
terms of number of our Shares and
the shareholding percentages)
BRLNERDARYENRRE R
ROHERERAALAE)

Exercise period

8

An executive Director,
seven Doctor Grantees, selected

physicians practising in the PRC

and a member of our senior
management team
—ZUNES LEBLEREA
RPEHENEERER
-EEAEEBHAE

An aggregate of 3.13% of the number
of our Shares in isste immediately
following completion of the Global
Offering, the Capitalisation ssue and
the full exercise of the Over-allotment
Option, representing 32,276,000
Shares

AREZERFBERER LY

TR TRERRE ’%’E%m&
BMERIRNEAD3.13% &
32,276,000 B 15 ©

36-month period commencing from the
third anniversary of the latter of (3) the
expiry of the First Six-Month Period and
(b) the first anniversary of 1 April 2017
r 1 December 2017. All unexercised
Pre-IPO Share Options will lapse.
E > ~NEAHFERRD) 20175
AR0TENA1BRER-F
éﬁﬂﬁwlﬁﬁ%%%ﬁbﬁéﬁziéa
Riae36 EA S - FARETRN
BRRREEHRRERAY

=]
w2}

36-month period commencing from
the latter of (a) the expiry of the First
Six-Month Period and (b) the first
anniversary of 1 January 2018, Al
unexercised Pre-IPO Share Options will
lapse.
E @ENEABRERR D) 20185
1A1IBRE-FEABBERE)
e 3618 A - A RETRY
BRARBENBREREL

Our employees in Hong Kong
and a member of our senior
management team
REBNESR
—4ERERERAE

An aggregate of 0.45% of the number
of our Shares in isste immediately
following completion of the Global
Offering, the Capitalisation ssue and
the full exercise of the Over-allotment
Option epresenting 4,666,000 Shares
REREERER
IR %BEEHA ’%’*%ﬂ
AMBEARNEEM045% &
4,666,000 i f7 -

k/tt

36-month period commencing from the
third anniversary of 1 April 2017. Al
unexercised Pre-IPO Share Options will
lapse.
BN17E4A1BRFZFERRFE
36 [R5  HAREARNER
AREEHBRERRN -

An executive Diractor,

a Connected Grantee and
our physicians and employees
in the PRC
—%47ES - 2BEARAR
RPENEERES

An aggregate of 0.71% of the
total number of our Shares in issue
immediately following completion of
the Global Offering, the Capitalisation
Issue and the full exercise of the
Over-allotment Option, representing
7,323,000 Shares.
u/\n% BENEERERLEST
TR ERERREERA I
ZHEETRHBEDH % &
738300017 «

36-month period commencing from the
third anniversary of 1 April 2017 or 1
September 2017. All unexercised Pre-
IPO Share Options willlapse
B017F4A1RZ201759A418
EW=FEBRIR61EASRE -
ERENENERAREENERE

‘IKM

&y
F
=1

j=4
ef

36-month period commencing from
the third anniversary of 1 Apri 2017 for
60.0%

BT BRR=FERRL
836 1 A &7  60.0% °

60-month period commencing from
the fifth anniversary of 1 April 2017 for
40.0%
B017F4A1BRFLFERRFE
#1601 A &7 - 40.0% o

All unexercised Pre-IPO Share Options
willlapse
FERENFRERRREERER
BREM-

Five Consultant Grantees

RARAARA

An aggregate of 0.24% of the

total number of our Shares in issue
immediately following completion of
the Global Offering, the Capitalisation
Issue and the full exercise of the
Over-allotment Option, representing
2 500 000 Shares

/mﬁE%;on” $21670.24% )
2,500,000 %17 -

36-month period commencing from the
third anniversary of the latter of (3) the
expiry of the First Six-Month Period and
(o) the first anniversary of 1 November
2017, 1 January 2018 or 1 June 2018.
B ENEABRERRb 20175
NA1E 201851 A1R2018%
6R1ERN-FER (BB EARE)
EHR=FEERRN0EARH



Major terms

IRRR

Exercise percentages
gAML

Exercise price (Vote)

fEERZ)

Performance target

REER

An executive Director,
seven Doctor Grantees, selected
physicians practising in the PRC

and a member of our senior
management team
-BUTES tRBEARA
RPEHRNRERER
-EEAEEBHAE

In three equal tranches for each of the
12-month period commencing from the
date of commencement of the exercise
period for a period of 36-month.
PZHEEAR - ARIR36EAHRE
RETREERRAEE 2EART

One tranche.

_iﬁ:

HK$0.1 for each Share to be allotted
and issued.
BRBREREIRDIET

No performance target for the
physicians practising in the PRC and
the member of our senior management
team.

The exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Options by our Hong Kong
Ophthalmologists is subject to agreed
performance target in terms of revenue
generated in each of the 12-month
period. If the performance target
cannot be satisfied, the Pre- 1PO Share
Options exercisable during the relevant
12-month period would be exercisable
on a pro-rata basis with the target
amount of revenue.
BRBRBENFENLREENE
%E;E”x‘ﬁ 12{ERBEmELL
: T%h h?

V& ”ﬁé%ﬂ h&%ﬁ% 1
haeBELAnE -

Our employees in Hong Kong

and a member of our senior
management team
RERNEER
-EEAEEBHAE

One tranche.

—#

HK$1.0 for each Share to be allotted
and issued.

ERREERERM 10T

No performance target
BRERE-

Note: The exercise price in respect of each Pre-IPO Share Option is in
the range between HK$0.1 per Share and HK$1.0 per Share for
different tranches of Grantees, as a nominal consideration.

An executive Director,
a Connected Grantee and

our physicians and employees
in the PRC
—%47ES - 2BEARAR
RPENEERES

One tranche.

—#

Two tranches.

HK$1.0 for each Share to be allotted
and issued.
BREREREIRM0ET

The exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Options by 5 physicians in the PRC is
subject to the agreed performance
targets in terms of revenue generated
during the first 36-month and then
24-month period immediately after 1
April2017. If the performance target
cannot be satisfied, the Pre-IPO Share
Options exercisable during the relevant
12-month period would be exercisable
on a pro-Tata basis with reference to
the target amount of revenue.
RAER RABETEERAH %E
HBREAXZR017F4A18
E36EABARNERLEAR Elﬁﬂaﬁﬁﬁ
EXRAMATEERERR - %
FREREN MEENEAREY
FOENERAREENERELS
ZERRELRELIGR -

Five Consultant Grantees

RARAARA

In three equal tranches for each of the
12-month period commencing from the
date of commencement of the exercise
period for a period of 36 months.
PZHERTRE - HRIR36EAHR
REfTRERERR A EE 2EART
o

X

HK$0.1 for each Share to be allotted
and issued.
BREREREIRA0.

No performance target.
BXERE-

The exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Options is subject to the completion of
services for a period of 12 months.
RERAREENBREAR TN
NERAFRERR -

MisE R TR ERA - SO ERAMAE
BRI BRENTEEN FERKRK01E
TESRBRM1.08TZE EREHERE -



Major terms

IRRR

Cessation of cooperation or
employment

ArafaER

Lock-up period following the
exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Options
ERAREEARRBIERN
3]

An executive Director,
seven Doctor Grantees, selected

physicians practising in the PRC

and a member of our senior
management team
—ZUNES LEBLEREA
RPEHENEERER
-EEAEEBHAE

Pro-rata in terms of revenue generated
in each of the 12-month period with
the target amount of revenue for those
grantees subject to performance target.
Pro-rata on the number of months of
employment in each of the 12-month
period for those grantees not subject to
the performance target
HREEAEBROARATE &
PEERRELRNENAANEE
ERAREIA < 573 25
BOARAME  &E12EALHE
(HVEGAIR

Not applicable.
ER -

Our employees in Hong Kong
and a member of our senior
management team
REBNESR
—4ERERERAE

No pro rata adjustment and the
unexercised Pre-IPO Share Options will
lapse upon cessation of employment for
whatever reasons

REKLERERE SRR
REARNERRREE
BIREBXN -

Not applicable.
T

An executive Director,

a Connected Grantee and
our physicians and employees
in the PRC
—%47ES - 2BEARAR
RPENEERES

No pro rata adjustment and the
unexercised Pre-IPO Share Options will

lapse upon cessation of employment for

whatever reasons
REFARRLERE Bkl
fIRERRETROERAREEN
BIREREN -

Not applicable.
T

Five Consultant Grantees

RARAARA

Pro-rata on the number of months of
service engagement in the 36-month
contract period commencing from 1
November in each year. Cessation of
engagement before November will
continue to be subject to the grant

of the Pre-IPO Share Options in the
forthcoming November
EEFNR1ARHEASHERR

BB ARELE - fr 1 A 28T
HEE TREZRDEIRG 1A
BRERAHEEABRERR
Not applicable.

g o



Details of the shares outstanding on which options are granted BEEAAHEENBRESIRNEETR
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to Directors and senior AEESREEEURBERARAREDY
management of our Group as of 31 December 2021 under the BB 5 K B M R AT R AR 9 72 2021 F 12 A
scheme and to Consultant Grantees are as follows: 3TERFFIBIT

Nurber of options

RREHA

Lapsed  Lapsed
Heldat  Granted  (expired) (cancelled) Exercsed  Heldat Exerdse

TJaniary  duing  duing  duing  during 31 December price Vesting Exercisable  Eercisable
01 theyear theyear  theyear  theyear m HKS Grantdate  period from until

VLS Hug

1818 RER  RER  RER RMER 0BNE fRE BUT  fiRE
i Rb X000 xMGEH 68 KRR An REER BEM oEIE  UTHE

DocorGrantees ~ EEARA(REE 518000 - - - - 518000 1 3Api 2017 Vestinthree tranches within 16)uy2018 31 March 203
(eicuding FhxEL) WIELE3E  apedofdyeasineqal 018278 0337
Or. LEE Yau Wing proporton of share aptons 168 38
Vincent) granted, ie. 33.3% of the share
options granted shllvest on
the 15t anniversary of the grant
(1.2 Apri 2018);33.3% of the
share options granted shal vest
on the 2nd anniversary of the
grantfie. 2 Apil 2019 and the
femaining 33.3% shallvest on
the 3rd anniversary ofthe grant
(1.2 Aori 2020)
RIEBRH=HFEE
ke M LERED
BICRRRUL AR FER
(f018%4A28)5
BIHCRERREANR
B2 R (095
RIB)5R  BINHIEL
ERIEFER(EN0ELR
B

=

BoR

X

Contant Grantee - EXFSCEA 166,668 - - - (166,667 1 0 1September  Vestinonefrancheon3May — Tlune2021 37 May 2024
017 01
WITEIR1E RAESA3NA ME6AIE 0WESA
—1E5E il



Nurber of options

BhEsR
Lapsed ~ Lapsed
Heldat  Granted  (expired) (ancelled) Exercsed  Heldat  Exerdse
TJanuary  duing  duing  duing  during 31 December price Vesting Exercsable  Exercisable
01 theyear theyear  theyear  theyear 01 HKS Grantdate period from until
R g R g
1818 RER  RER  REA RER 0BNR GRE BUT fikE
i RE AN xMEH AR KRR An RERR BRE oETE  WTHE
Employees E2 216,000 - - - - 216000 10 TAol2017 Vestinonetrancheonthe3d T Aprl2020 31 March 2023
anniversaryof the grant
(1. 31 March 2020)
DIELRIE RREER-ERZR(00E 0054R18 0B%3R
3A31R)- AR 38
Employess EE 578,000 - - - - 578000 10 TAorl2017 VestinonetrancheontheSth T Aprl 2022 31 March 2027
anniersary o the grant e
31 March 2022)
NIELRTE RRUARDEER(INE AELAIE A0EIA
IRNA)-HEER 318
Employee E2 121,000 - - - - 121000 1.0 16 October 2017 Vest inone tranche on 30 1 December 30 November
November 2018 018 3
NN ROBENANA-HASE 08F0F  NBFIA
168 18 8
Tod & 1599668 - - - (166667 1433001

The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately
before the date on which the options were exercised was HK$6.92
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

REZ2021F12A31HILFE BB
f& #EETTE B HART A9 AR 0 INAE 5 W (B
F6.928 T -



Report of the Directors

EEERE

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of our Company approved and adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to enable our Company to grant
options to eligible participants as incentives and rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
took effect on the Listing Date.

With the opening balance of 7,680,000 post-IPO share options
and an aggregate of 200,000 post-IPO share options granted
during the year, as at 31 December 2021, 7,880,000 post-IPO
share options were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme. As at 31 December 2021, 1,882,000 post-IPO share
options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have
been exercised pursuant to the terms of grant of the share
options.

As at 31 December 2021, options granted to the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 4,792,000 shares (representing
approximately 0.42% of the issued share capital of our Company
as of 31 December 2021) were outstanding under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme:

(@) Who may participate

Our Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the
terms set forth in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to:

(i)  any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial,
supervisory or similar position in any member of our
Group (the “Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded
to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (the "Employee”);

(i) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member
of our Group;

(i) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our
Group;

(iv)  a supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group;

BXRARABRERBRES
ARBBERIERRBERAFESEKES
RS USARARAGERDEEY
AEEELNERARSERLBREES
BEREF ARAHBEERBRESS
AT EEAERX -

F 44 7,680,000 17 & X AR E & BT AE
RIEREE I F A E & A $£200,00000 B IR A
FMEERERE  B2021F12A8318
7,880,000 B X A EEELBREDR
BERAAHAEEEBRETEERD - X
2021F 12 A31H  REHAAREERE
A4 =1 2197 1+ #91,882,00019 & R AR 3 &
# AR D AR L B AR MO (R AT -

R2021F 128318 BRIE&E X QR
ERBEREFERTEARATRES L
4,792,000 B f% 17 (15 22 8174 2021 612 A
31T HMBEITRAL0.42%) HBE I 5 &
171 o

UTRERARBERBRETSEZRK
HEBLE -

() ATBEAL

EEgn2ENBEREERHEE
RERES B MENERA TIIAL
RENRBEABEE R EERE -

() AEEIFKERAHEEHR
TEE KE RELTHRE
B oEEREUABRCHEME
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HRBER AERBRAEAE
B{EMKEARETEREE
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(i) AKBEEFAKEARMNESS
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(b)

(9,

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(v)  a customer, consultant, business or joint venture
partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of our Group;

(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of our Group; and

(viiy an associate of any of the persons referred to in

paragraphs (i) to (iii) above.

(the persons referred above are the “Eligible Persons”)

Maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options maybe granted

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme and any options granted under any
other share option scheme must not in aggregate exceed
100,000,000 Shares (being 10% of the Shares in issue as
of the Listing Date) unless our Company obtains a fresh
approval.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

Unless approved by the shareholders of our Company in
the general meeting in the manner prescribed in the Listing
Rules, the maximum number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each Eligible Person under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not at the time of
grant exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

(b)

(9)

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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B XBRE BB - B
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(vi) MAEBEEFMKERFRMHREK
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(ERALRIEE®/ALD
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(d) Acceptance of an offer of options

(e)

(f)

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of
28 days from the offer date provided that no such grant of
an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. An option
shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person and to have taken effect when the duplicate
offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option
duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.0 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof is received by our Company on or
before the date upon which an offer of an option must be
accepted by the relevant Eligible Person, being a date not
later than 30 days after the offer date. Such remittance shall
in no circumstances be refundable.

Exercise price

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular
option shall be such price as our Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the exercise price shall not be
less than whichever is the highest of: (i) the nominal value of
a share; (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; and
(iii) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Time for exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the period
which is notified by our Board at the offer date when
making an offer to an Eligible Person but such period not to
exceed the period of 10 years from the offer date of such
option. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.
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(g) Duration of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date,
after which period no further options will be granted but the
provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto which
are at that time or become thereafter capable of exercise
under the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, or
otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Details of the shares options outstanding on which options are
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to Directors,
chief executive, substantial shareholders, consultants and others
of our Group as of 31 December 2021 under the scheme are as
follows:

Number of options

i HE

Closing price

immediately
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m theyear theyear  theyear theyear m HKS HKS
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Number of options

L IEE
Closing price
immediately
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Among these 4,900,000 share options, (i) 4,640,000 share options
granted by the Company on 18 July 2019 shall vest in three
tranches within a period of 3 years in proportions of 20%, 30%
and 50% of the share options granted, i.e. 20% of the share
options granted shall vest on the 1st anniversary of the grant (i.e.
18 July 2020), another 30% shall vest on the 2nd anniversary of
the grant (i.e. 18 July 2021), and the remaining 50% shall vest on
the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2022); (ii) 200,000
share options granted by the Company on 18 July 2019 shall vest in
one tranche in a period of 3 years, i.e. 100% of the share options
granted shall vest on the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July
2022); (iii) 60,000 share options granted by the Company on 18
July 2019 shall vest in three tranches within a period of 3 years in
proportions of 7%, 35% and 58% of the share options granted, i.e.
7% of the share options granted shall vest on the 1st anniversary
of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2020), another 35% shall vest on the 2nd
anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2021), and the remaining 58%
shall vest on the 3rd anniversary of the grant (i.e. 18 July 2022).

The weighted average closing prices of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised during the
year ended 31 December 2021 were (i) HK$6.92 for 250,000 share
options exercised by Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent, and (i) HK$6.92 for
1,532,000 share options exercised by others.
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On 18 July 2019, a total of 6,040,000 Share Options were granted
in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to 39 non-employee consultants (the “Consultants”) who are
not Directors, as incentives and rewards for their contribution
to the Group and to align their interests with our corporate
objectives. Among them, (a) six were consultants who entered
into consultancy agreements with the Group and operate in
insurance, investment or other industries who have either provided
strategic advice and assistance in the Group’s development of its
eye hospitals, eye centres and clinics in Hong Kong and the PRC,
or assisted in identifying and liaising with suitable partners for
collaboration within their industries, which are two of the key
strategies of the Company, and the grants to these Consultants
were in recognition in their contribution to the Group’s strategic
development, (b) 20 were members of the International Advisory
Council, whereby the International Advisory Council provides
us and our ophthalmologists/physicians with insights and high-
level industry-related advices on the development of the business
of provision of ophthalmic services and with updates on the
latest development of new medical and surgical techniques in
ophthalmology, and the grant to these Consultants were in
recognition of the contribution of their expertise and advices to
the Group and our ophthalmologists/physicians, and (c) 13 were
ophthalmologists in Hong Kong, who were under cooperative
or partnership agreements with the Group with revenue or fees
target, and they provide medical services under the Group’s service
network and who generate revenue and fees for the Group, and
the granting of Share Options to them was aimed to incentivise
them for them to provide continued service to our Group.

In consideration of the above, the Company considered the
Consultants to be valuable resources and their contributions in
their respective roles served the purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, and grants of Share Options to them were in the
interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, (i) 200,000 share
options were granted by the Company on 2 November 2021
to Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (who is the Vice Chairman and
an independent Non-Executive director) and the options shall
vest in three tranches, with 66,666 share options vesting on 1
November 2022; 66,667 share options vesting on 1 November
2023; and 66,667 share options vesting on 1 November 2024 and
(i) an aggregate of 8,000,000 share options were resolved to be
granted by the Board on 11 July 2021. The procedure on granting
of the said share options was not completed. Accordingly, the
grant that was resolved was not completed in accordance with
the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. For details of the
non-completed grant, please refer to the announcement dated 11
July 2021.

R2019F7H18H RIEEB XA AHEER
BRI MG AL FEEER39HBIE
EEREM (BB SXEEELNERRA
5% A 6,040,000 17 B f% 4 15 A& 15 B)
MEF O UFEEMNZELZMANIIBE—
BoHA QB il AEEIEEEHE
R HERERR  REREMITE
BEAEBEERBERTRERERER -
BEAFALOEZHEH‘RIBEEER RIBE
LB ERBBEAEENAERHTEE
AEERNEGE UEMEEAARAREE
RE MZEERRLERENAESER
ERAEERBERFELNER (0205
TEBFAZEENRE  BEHHZE
EHRHEBRRBEBEBSHERREMER
MERFIE A " BARBENNE RFK
ERITERBES  URBER 252N
BRFMEMOSENERARMEERMAN
RElEL " BERHEHER  RZSE
MEEEBREDAEERERAER LK
FIHEREI L "B RHEENERER
MOBARESHEREE  FHHEAE
BT A5 BHKEREREENEIERENY
e BRESEEASENRBEEBIE
HEERYE  FAEEERKERER -
MESRHBRESTRBESEELSE
SERHRS -

ZEI LN ARARAERREER
MER REESBMETERE EELK
BE NEERAMBEERBEESEN
RE MEREXRLBRENSEARRFRK
REVER A

HZE2021F12A31HIEFE ) ARER
2021F 1M A2H A G EEE T (BlEE
FBIIEMITES) I 200,000 17 BERLHE
ZEBREB D ZHRE  E+66,6661
ERRER2022F 11 A185 8B 66,6674
IR 2023F11 81 HE B : 66,667
MERER2024F 11 A1TBE B+ &)
EFEER2021F7A1TBEE AR BA R
8,000,000 17 i fx ik - 3= i il BE IR A AR
FFARER Bt BIEHBRXARAEESR
BRETENER CRRETHRRY
AEK BEAEZAERLOFE F2H
BEIA2021E7A 1M BHAE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z&E = —FF3}




(3

L/

Report of the Directors

QE%%%%

The exercise price of the options granted during the year ended
31 December 2021 was based on the highest of (i) the closing
price of HK$7.35 per Share as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2021 (the
“Date of Grant"); (i) the average closing price of HK$7.728 per
Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
Date of Grant; and (iii) HK$0.1, being the nominal value of a
Share. The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotation sheet issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 1 November 2021, being the last business day
immediately before the grant of the post-IPO share options by the
Company on 2 November 2021, was HK$7.45.

The total value of options granted to each class of grantees, being
our Directors, and non-employee consultants of the Group, were
HK$3,785,000 and HK$9,501,000, respectively as at 31 December
2021.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme as of the effective date of the scheme was
100,000,000, representing 8.69% of the issued share capital of
1,150,340,870 Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of securities available for issue (less those
exercised, cancelled and lapsed) under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme was 96,912,000, representing 7.84% of the issued share
capital of 1,235,630,870 Shares as at the date of this report.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The fair value of the options granted on 18 July 2019 of 1,782,000
options, which were exercised during the year ended 31 December
2021, was HK$2,421,000. The fair value of the options granted
on 18 July 2019, 14 September 2020 and 2 November 2021
with outstanding balances as at 31 December 2021 of 3,452,000
options, 1,140,000 and 200,000 options were HK$5,920,000,
HK$2,405,000 and HK$597,000 respectively. These fair values
were calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model and the
significant inputs into the model were as follows:

Exercise
price

TeEE

MR2019F7A18H I L BRE E2021F
12A31HIEFEE1T# 21,782,000 8
% 7 2 A ¥ 18 A2,421,0007% 7T ° F22019
F7H18H 202099 A 148 K& 2021 11
A2B®EHEBER2021912 A31H HAK1T
i 2 3,452,0004% ~ 1,140,000 K2 200,000
MEERE 2 A F{ED 545,920,000 7T
2,405,000 7T 5% 597,000 7T > 2 E A F
BENREBROR-FBHHEEXGTE -
ZEAZERGAEROT ¢

Risk-free
rate

BEBFE

Dividend
paid-out
kE =

Expected
volatility
HHKIE

Expected
life
B EH

Granted on 18 July 2019 (Note) 142019 F7 A 18 A& ! 5.18 46% 1.5 years- 1.39%- 0.39%
(Hiz) 3.5 years 1.63%
15F-35%
Granted on 14 September 2020 #2020 9 A 14 B&R L 6.34 55% 2.5 0.2% 0.32%
(Note) (friz)
Granted on 2 November 2021 722021F 11 A2 A& 7.73 60% 2.5 years- 0.54%- 0.36%
(Note) (H1:z) 4.5 years 0.95%
255-45%
The expected volatility is based on historic volatility adjusted TEERRIARE LR IE AR - WRE A

for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly
available information. Dividend paid-out rate is based on
historical dividend paid-out rate. Changes in these subjective
input assumptions could affect the fair value estimate. The fair
values calculated are inherently subjective and uncertain due to
the assumptions made and the limitations of the model used.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change in variables so adopted may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

Note: For the purpose of calculation of the value of share options, the
respective dates on which the share options were granted are taken
as the measurement dates.

Our Group participated in various retirement benefit schemes in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
of the Group in Hong Kong is registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the relevant rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions.

Employees of the Group in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC government (the
“PRC Scheme”). The Group were required to contribute a certain
percentage of the payroll of our employees to the pension scheme
to fund the benefits under the PRC Scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme is to make the
required contributions.

Except for voluntary contribution under the MPF Scheme, no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme or the PRC Scheme
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as of 31 December
2021 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our five largest clients
accounted for 1.1% of our total revenue, of which 0.6% of our
total revenue was generated from our largest client, which was an
insurance company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our five largest
suppliers accounted for 16.8% of our total purchases. These five
largest suppliers include suppliers of pharmaceuticals, medical
consumables and intraocular lenses. For the same period, our
largest supplier accounted for 7.8% of our total purchases.

None of our Directors or any of their respective close associates
or any shareholder which to the best knowledge of our Directors,
who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital,
had any interest in any of our Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

Our Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP (#K JI8#0 & 4 )
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. LI Xiaoting (F H =% 1)

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (2 {4888 4)

Mr. LI Chunshan (=& L L 4)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen (B [5 15 #1#E +) JP
(Appointed as Vice Chairman on 2 November 2021)
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald OSt/ JP(Z= Bl 1R 8 4 )

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (5 BB#f 55 4)
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (FRE =2 L 4)

Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang (2% 8%z +)

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen (8% 4t 4 ) GBS JP

At the AGM, Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis, Ms LI Xiaoting, Mr.
CHAN Chi Leong and Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang will retire
as Directors in accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of
Association of our Company (“Articles of Association”) and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S AND
COMPANY SECRETARY'’S PROFILE

Profile details of our Directors, the senior management and
company secretary of our Group are set out on pages 31 to 42 of
this report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis, our executive Director, has been
elected as a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong for
the Election Committee Constituency in December 2021.

There has been no change in Dr. LAM’s positions held with the
Company and other members of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen, our independent non-executive
Director, has stepped down from the position as an observer of
the Independent Police Complaints Council Observers Scheme in
March 2022.
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Dr. AUYEUNG has been appointed as our Vice Chairman with
effect form 2 November 2021. Save for the foregoing, there
has been no change in Dr. AUYEUNG's positions held with the
Company and other members of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung (5 88 #¥ 5t &), our independent
non-executive Director, retired as an independent non-executive
director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited
(Stock Code: 00836) with effect from 15 September 2021.

There has been no change in Mr. MA’s positions held with the
Company and other members of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald (Z= Bl % & 4 ), our independent non-
executive Director, has the following changes to his profile:

(@)  stepped down from the position of President of the World
Organisation of Family Physicians (WONCA) in October
2021; and

(b) appointed as the Chairman of the Action Committee
Against Narcotics of Security Bureau in January 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in Dr LI's
positions held with the Company and other members of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong (FR & 52 5t 4£), our independent non-
executive Director, ceased to be a licensed person under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO") permitted to
engaged in type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on
securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities (as defined in the SFO), with
effect from 30 June 2021.
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There has been no change in Mr. CHAN’s positions held with the
Company and other members of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with our Company and our Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts and letters of
appointment are (a) for a term of 3 years and (b) are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term
of the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by our Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Our Group remunerates its employees, including our Directors,
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
Our employees are subject to regular job performance reviews
which determine their promotion prospects and compensation.
Subject to our Group’s profitability, our Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to our Group. Our Company has adopted share
option scheme as an incentive to our Directors and eligible
employees.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of our Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of our Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors of the Group.
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INFORMATION RELATING TO DEED OF
NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely C-MER
Group Limited (“C-MER Group”), Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms.
LI Xiaoting, confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2021, none of them carried on, participated or was interested
or engaged in or held any other business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from
time to time. Relying on this confirmation and the fact that all
executive Directors (some of them are controlling shareholders
of the Company) have devoted their time and resources in
different business activities/medical practice of the Group, the
independent non-executive Directors are satisfied that the Deed
of Non-Competition was fully complied with by the controlling
shareholders of the Company and the executive Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” below and the related party transactions
as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director and/or any of his/her connected entity or any
controlling shareholders had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of our Group to which our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i)

Maida Medical Software Development (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (383E BB ¥ (451 2 ORYI) AR 2 7)) (“Shenzhen
Maida”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of D&S Limited which
is wholly-owned by Dr. Dennis LAM, and it is therefore a
connected person of our Company. Shenzhen Maida is
therefore a connected person of our Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Shenzhen C-MER Hospital entered into a new lease
agreement with Shenzhen Maida dated 22 May 2020 (the
"Lease Agreement”) in relation to the lease to Shenzhen
C-MER Hospital of a property located at No. 101 Sheng
Tang Building, Tairanjiu Lu, Futian, Shenzhen, the PRC (the
“Shenzhen Property”), which constitutes continuing
connected transactions for our Company.

The Lease Agreement was for a term from 1 June 2020 to
31 May 2023 (both days inclusive). The Shenzhen Property is
currently used by Shenzhen C-MER Hospital as the premises
for our eye hospital in Shenzhen.

The transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement
also constitute related party transaction of our Company
under HKFRS, details of which are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Under the Lease Agreement, the Group will recognise
the lease as a right-of-use asset. From 1 June 2020 to 31
May 2021, the rent per sq.m. per month is RMB197.32
and total monthly rent is RMB687,000.00 (equivalent to
HK$751,097.10). From 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022: the
rent per sq.m. per month is RMB206.79 and total monthly
rent is RMB720,000.00 (equivalent to HK$787,176.00).
From 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2023: the rent per sq.m.
per month is RMB215.41 and total monthly rent is
RMB750,000.00 (equivalent to HK$787,176.00).

The amount of the monthly rental has been determined
after arm’s length negotiations between Shenzhen Maida
and Shenzhen C-MER Hospital with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the rental level of similar
properties in the vicinity of the leased property.

The actual rent paid by us in respect of the Shenzhen
Property for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
HK$10.2 million (For the year ended 31 December 2020:
HK$6.9 million).

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated
22 May 2020.
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(i)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28
August 2018, the Group entered into an agreement to
acquire 80% equity interest of Kunming Eye Hospital.
Following completion of the acquisition of the Kunming
Eye Hospital (B RHBRE}EFR), the vendors of the Kunming
Eye Hospital shall own 20% of the Kunming Eye Hospital
and be substantial shareholders (as such term is defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Kunming Eye Hospital (which
will be a 80%-owned subsidiary of the Company). As
such, the vendors shall be treated as connected persons
at the subsidiary level of the Company and the transaction
contemplated under the lease agreement to be entered
into between the Kunming Eye Hospital and the Landlord
(as defined below) in relation to the hospital premises (the
“Hospital Premises”), which is located at 44 Yunrui West
Road, Wuhua District, Kunming, currently used by the
Kunming Eye Hospital and will be disposed to the vendors
pursuant to the acquisition agreement before completion
(as disclosed below), shall constitute a continuing connected
transaction with connected persons at the subsidiary level
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
but does not constitute a related party transaction under the
applicable accounting standards.

As one of the conditions precedent to completion of the
acquisition of Kunming Eye Hospital, the Kunming Eye
Hospital will dispose of the Hospital Premises to the Landlord
and that the Landlord will lease the Hospital Premises back
to the Kunming Eye Hospital. The Board considers that
the operation of the Kunming Eye Hospital will not require
the ownership of the Hospital Premises so long as the
Kunming Eye Hospital has the right to continue to use the
Hospital Premises upon normal commercial terms. In this
connection, a lease agreement was entered into between
the Landlord and the Kunming Eye Hospital prior to the date
of completion on the following terms:

Date: 28 March 2019 (the date on which completion takes
place)

(ii)
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Parties:

1. Kunming Shirong Industrial Company Limited (213
E AR AT (the “Landlord”) as the landlord,
all equity interest of which is held by the vendors

2. Kunming Eye Hospital (as the tenant)

Duration: Three years from the date on which completion
takes place, which can be renewed for further terms of
three years at the option of the Kunming Eye Hospital with
the annual rental cannot be increased by more than 4.0%.

Annual rental: RMB2,917,000 (for the first year),
RMB3,500,000 (for the second year) and RMB3,500,000 (for
the third year). These amounts of rental are determined with
reference to market transactions of comparable commercial
buildings, including offices and medical use premises. The
rental under the lease agreement shall be payable in cash
quarterly one month before the end of the relevant quarter.

Subject matter: The Kunming Eye Hospital shall continue
to use the Hospital Premises as an eye hospital free from all
encumbrances and third parties’ interest and has exclusive
possession of the Hospital Premises during the term of the
lease agreement.

Governing law: Laws of the PRC

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated
28 August 2018.

The actual rental paid by us in respect of the Hospital
Premises during the year ended 31 December 2021 was
HK$4.2 million, which included HK$4.1 million as payment
for rental for the year ended 31 December 2021, and
HK$0.1 million as payment for rental for the year ending 31
December 2022.
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(iii)

On 9 February 2021, C-MER Lab Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, executed (1) bought and sold
note and instrument of transfer with Dr. Dennis LAM,
and (2) bought and sold note and instrument of transfer
with Ms. LI Xiaoting, to effect the sale and transfer of the
90% of the existing issued share capital of Health Hope
in aggregate, at the total consideration of HK$9,000,000
in cash. Immediately prior to the acquisition, Health Hope
was owned as to 85% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 15% by Ms.
LI Xiaoting. Since Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI Xiaoting are
directors of the Company, the transaction constituted a
connected transaction for our Company.

The consideration was determined after arm’s length
negotiation among Dr. Dennis LAM, Ms. LI Xiaoting and
C-MER Lab Limited with reference to, among other things, (1)
the paid-up share capital of Health Hope of HK$10,000,000
immediately prior to the acquisition, (2) the costs incurred
for inventory and equipment purchases by Health Hope
and the expenses incurred by Health Hope in setting up the
laboratory, (3) Health Hope's laboratory has been accredited
under the Hong Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme
(HOKLAS) of the Hong Kong Accreditation Service (HKAS)
and is a local COVID-19 nucleic acid testing institution
recognised by the Hong Kong government, and (4) the
synergies between the Group and Health Hope that may be
achieved.

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated
9 February 2021.

Save as disclosed above and amounts due from C-MER
RainsOptics Limited (the transaction of which is fully exempt
under Listing Rule 14A.89), all the related party transactions
of our Group under HKFRS (with details set out in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements) do not constitute
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

(iii)
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
non-exempt continuing connected transactions, namely, the Lease
Agreement with Shenzhen Maida and the lease agreement in
relation to the Hospital Premises in Kunming, and confirmed that
the transactions have been entered into:

(@)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of our Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to our Group than terms available to or from independent
third parties;

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of our Company as a whole; and

(d)  such continuing connected transactions did not exceed their
respective annual caps for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to perform certain procedures in respect
of the continuing connected transactions set out above in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions to the Board and a copy of the
letter has been submitted to the Stock Exchange.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the above connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions. The Company also confirms that during
the year under review it has followed the terms of the relevant
agreements as described above in determining the pricing and the
terms of the continuing connected transactions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
our Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company has
complied with the applicable requirements under the Listing
Rules for those related party transactions which constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” on pages 71 to 75.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of 31 December 2021, none of our Directors is interested in
any business, apart from our Group’s businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of our Group.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES, ISSUE FOR CASH OF EQUITY
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Our Company has share option schemes, the details of which are
set out in the section headed "Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in the Report of our Directors.
To expand into the provision of dental services, on 10 February
2021, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent
third party to acquire 60% of the equity interests in CAD/CAM
Restorative Dental Centre Limited (“CAD/CAM"), a company
that operates a dental clinic in Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, and
the consideration was paid by allotment and issue of 1,137,235
shares of the Company (the “Consideration Shares”, their value
being approximately equivalent to HK$6,084,000 based on the
published share price on the agreed date, 13 April 2021) and
HK$6,216,000 in cash. The Consideration Shares shall be issued
within twenty business days from the date of closing under the
general mandate credited as fully paid. The completion took place
on 27 April 2021. For details of the closing conditions, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 10 February 2021
and 25 February 2021. Save as the aforesaid, no other equity-
linked agreement was entered into or existed and there had not
been any issue for cash of equity securities during the year ended
31 December 2021.
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As of 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of our Directors and chief executive of our Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of our Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO; or () as otherwise notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
were as follows:

(A) Long and short position in Shares of our
Company

Name of Director

BEEHR

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP
MIEFAEE A& (K Far1)

Nature of Interest
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Interest of controlled
corporation

RERE S

Interest of spouse

L

MR2021FE12A31H  EERARAHES
THABRARRSEEE ZE (F& K&
AR EE G EXVED) Bk - B D
LERBLHBEAGQREREFRKAGED
%XV%%7&8“*HWA$ 7) N B A2 R
MR AR (BREREESF KB EGGIHA
@wa*ﬁiﬁﬁmﬁm%‘&ﬁﬁ)
2k (b) S BN IR B B H K HAE 51 58 352 f§
BEREBENSTMANER KR TU@
BEMBTAESETEFRIINZE
B ([#ZZ£&=<pAl]) BEg AR T&%“%m
EmMABRWT

(A) RERFRDNFRERKR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

our Company (%)

Number of shares AARA TR RE
BBEE BB DL (%)
693,694,553 60.3%
(long position) (Note 1)
693,694,553 fi%
(F&) (FtsE1)
1,333,333 0.1%
(short position)
1,333,333
CKE)
1,140,000 0.1%

(long position) (Note 1)

1,140,000 A&
(a72) (FIzE1)



Name of Director

E=nS

Ms. LI Xiaoting
FHERLT

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
FIHERBE

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong
R kA4

Mr. LI Chunshan
=HILEE

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen
BLF5 R E L

Nature of Interest

EEMtE

Interest of controlled

corporation
R AEER

Beneficial owner

BEalE A

Beneficial owner

BEalEA A

Interest of spouse

L e

Beneficial owner
EmEAEA

Interest of spouse

L

Interest of spouse

L

Beneficial owner

BEmEBA

Number of shares

v 2 4=

693,694,553

(long position) (Note 1)
693,694,553 fx
(aF&) (B5E1)

1,333,333
(short position)
1,333,333 %
(%E)

1,140,000

(long position) (Note 2)
1,140,000 %

(4F&) (M5E2)

13,453,000

(long position) (Note 3)
13,453,000 %

(aF &) (MH5E3)

3,008,000
(long position)
3,008,000 A%
(aFE)

777,000

(long position)
777,000 %
(a7 &)

259,000

(long position)
259,000 %
(57 E)

300,000

(long position)
300,000 i%
(47 E)

200,000

(long position) (Note 4)
200,000 %

(4F &) (M5t 4)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

our Company (%)
RARD B RAE
BAE D (%)

60.3%

0.1%

0.1%

1.2 %

0.3%

0.1%

0.02%

0.03%

0.02%
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Notes:

693,694,553 Shares and a short position of 1,333,333 Shares
are beneficially owned by C-MER Group. C-MER Group is
owned as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by Ms. LI
Xiaoting. Ms. LI is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both
of them have been managing and operating our business
collectively and reaching consensus before making major
decisions in respect of our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM
and Ms. LI, as directors of C-Mer Group, will continue to act
jointly so far as the exercise of the voting rights attached with
our Shares (through C-MER Group) is concerned.

Ms. LI Xiaoting, the spouse of Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis,
was granted 1,140,000 share options under the, Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

Among these 13,453,000 shares, 250,000 shares represent
the underlying shares in respect of the share options granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen held 200,000 share options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Dennis LAM is deemed to be
interested in the Shares and the short position held by C-MER
Group.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FHBENBRZERERLQF

GEE

693,694,553 % % 1 LA & 1,333,333
BADNBRG AR HAIHEEE
R o A5 % E 5 Bl e HRIE B
ERFHEZLTHEBT70% X30% K
W% o Tt AIBEEE A NS
BMRAY—E LR E R RS R
MEBT R EHBBEARMPANESLD
FEREAER —BER - HIEH
BERFLt+ (FAFBESEES)
B (ERAIHER) TTHERGIZ
ZREELFTE -

THEBELZLT (AWRIEREENRERE)
BIBEEAAFAEERBIRET S
521,140,000 19 BE B4 -

% 13,453,000 & # + 250,000 /% 72 15
BERAREERERE MR
TR BB -

B RgELREERAMEER
BB AR i =T 15 200,000 17 BB AR HE

RIRFE S MBI - MIEHE 4+ 1%
BRRFBREMFARABRN AR
KBRS -



(B) Long position in underlying Shares of our (B) AEARMEERGHNERE-BEY

Company - physically settled unlisted equity HEIELTRATETLR
derivatives
Number of
underlying shares Approximate
in respect of percentage of
the share options shareholding in
granted (Note) our Company (%)
Name of Director Nature of Interest ERRHBREN RS R T IR RE
EENA Eatg HERGEE (M) BAE 2 (%)
Ms. LI Xiaoting Beneficial owner 1,140,000 0.1%
THELT EmEE A (long position) (Note)
1,140,000 f%
(a7 &) (M5E)
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent  Beneficial owner 250,000 0.02%
ThEEE EmEE A (long position) (Note)
250,000 i%
(4F &) (M5E)
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Beneficial owner 200,000 0.02%
Pak-kuen EREA A (long position) (Note)
BS RfEiE £ 200,000 A%
(7 &) (M&E)
Note: Details of the above share options granted by our Company Bt Bl Ll AR ER OB RETE
are set out in the section headed “Pre-IPO Share Option BRARE B AREERERE
Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” in this report. FEIREARAAABRERERESS ]

—fhe



(C) Long position in shares of associated corporation
— C-MER Group

Nature of Interest

ERME

Name of Director

EEnA

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu
Dennis JP
MIEFAEE A (K Fap 1)

Beneficial owner

BEalEEA

Ms. LI Xiaoting Beneficial owner
FHELL BEmEEAA

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2021, so far as
is known to our Directors or chief executive of our Company,
none of our Directors or chief executive of our Company
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of our Company or its associated
corporations which (a) were required to be notified to our
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange.

(@)

REBEZERONETE-FHE
E]

Approximate
percentage of
the issued shares

(%)

Number of shares REBTRG

B0 &0 B BAE D (%)

1,400 (long position) 70.0%
1,400 f% (47 &)

600 (long position) 30.0%
6000% (47 &)

Br = SCRT#E R A& SN - 72021412 A

H BEERARARSTRAS
Fran - EFRARARSTHRABR
AAFSHEAEBEENRS Wiﬁﬂﬁ
19 REEFE P EES E Q) IRIEFE
MEAE GBI EXVIBETRSD I AM
TAQNARIRBRATMERS AR (B
FEIREZS LB ROIBBGEXHEE
BB AERNER R AR) » S(b)
BIEE S KB E K0P 55352 (6B RE 8%
R EZIEFT s & e i R A 25 EJZWE
i( VIR IEAZESTRIZAANE AR

RETEER AR -



As of 31 December 2021, so far as was known to any Director or
chief executive of our Company, the following persons (other than
our Directors and chief executive of our Company) had interests
and/or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by our Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

BR 3R & B EaEE
C-MER Group Limited Beneficial owner
("C-MER Group") EREaA
FHIEEFRAA]
(IHBEHE])

Note: C-MER Group is owned as to 70% by Dr. Dennis LAM and 30% by
Ms. LI Xiaoting. Ms. LI is the spouse of Dr. Dennis LAM, and both of
them have been managing and operating our business collectively
and reaching consensus before making major decisions in respect of
our business. Both Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI will continue to act
jointly so far as the exercise of the voting rights attached with our
Shares (through C-MER Group) is concerned.

By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Dennis LAM is deemed to be interested in
the shares and short position held by C-MER Group.

R2021F12A318 M ESSH AR
RABESTHABRH  THAL(EERAK
NElREITEA BRRIN) R (7 S AE B8 I 15
PHEBREESFRBEGHIEXVEFE2 R
35 ERA M A A A B Sk R SR A A R RIE
BEARHEENE3B6KAEFENE DM
NE R KSR AE °

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

our Company (%)
Number of shares RAD B RE
B0 & B A E D (%)

693,694,553 60.3%

(long position) (Note)

693,694,553 %
(a1 R) (FI=E)

1,333,333 0.1%
(short position)
1,333,333%
KB

M HEEEENEREERTYEELLED R
HHET0% &30% Mz - TL LT AMWIE
HELEMERS BEMAY—EAREEK
CERMOEFLAELEERMERD
BBARARRAER —MER - MEBHELER
T tHER (ERFITER)TERGKIE
ERBEXRITE -

RIBFE S RG] - HRIERE LR D
REFBREFANRDASKETHEE

M o
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Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2021, our Directors
were not aware that there is any other party (not being a Director
or chief executive of our Company) who had an interest or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company,
which would fall to be disclosed to our Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded
in the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to our Company and
to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
as at the date of this annual report, our Company has always
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on
pages 85 to 99 of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the end of the reporting
period are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
page 22 to 23 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of our Company. A resolution for re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor of our
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of our Board
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has
applied the principles as set forth in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
which are applicable to the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and also to enhance its corporate
governance practices, the Company has also adopted a number
of corporate governance policies, including but not limited the
board diversity policy, the shareholders’ communication policy, the
director nomination policy, the inside information policy and the
dividend policy.

In the opinion of the Board, during the year ended 31 December
2021, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set forth in the CG Code, save and except for code
provision C.2.1 (previously code provision A.2.1) , which states
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Dr. LAM
Shun Chiu Dennis JP is both our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and is responsible for the overall management of the
Group and directing the strategic development and business plans
of the Group.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same individual would enable
the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and
effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises four
executive Directors (including Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP) and
six independent non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly
strong independence element in its composition. The Board will
nevertheless review the structure and composition of the Board
from time to time in light of prevailing circumstances, in order to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

EEERER
BEEEHIHERD

IKFEREERITE -

HZE2021F12A3MBLEFE  ARAE
KREARABERANEEHAZIMAERA
A (B RFT)) B EmR R ([ EmAR A
Mgk 14 Frek b B AT A ([ EEE AT
FRRR-RIELETHRAUMBT LHA
T EMEERER  ARRIHEHER
AETHEERABR  BREETRRESS
ZILBUR - REBBEER EERIRABUR -
WEH BBR R BIR ©

BEeR A BE2021F12A318IEF
B ARBEETEEEATAUMENS
E03E A ST RIS - BSFRMESXE C.2.1 1§ (4
ATEY ST BIE ST A2 1K) IRBRIN 3% 16 IR
TlIEERTRAZMNAECEEREY » 1
e — ARBEFRE] - MRIEHE £ (L F4

) RABEEERERITBRAERNBRE  B8&
AEENEBERBEERIEEAKEARERE
&K R E

E=gMEE EEMTREAENACEHRA
— ABEEEARR B R HIET E B R R
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ESNBEIM AN EEEMERER
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ARBNRBKFEEERER
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set forth in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions of the Directors. Employees of the Group
(the “Relevant Employees”) who, because of their office or
employment, are likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities are also subject to compliance with
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors,
each of the Directors has confirmed compliance with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the Relevant Employees
was noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises ten members as follows:

Executive Directors:
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. LI Xiaoting
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
Mr. LI Chunshan

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen JP (Vice Chairman)
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald SBS OSt/ JP

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong

Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” on pages 31 to 42 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of directors,
senior management and company secretary” in this annual report,
the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other as at 31 December
2021.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are served by Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP and have
not been segregated as required under code provision C.2.1
(previously A.2.1) of the CG Code. The Board is of the view that
such arrangement provided the Group with strong and consistent
leadership to the Company and allowed for more effective and
efficient business planning and decisions as well as execution of
long term business strategies.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code requires that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of
the executive Directors is appointed under a service contract for a
term of three years from 13 December 2020 which is terminable
by either party by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is
appointed under a letter of appointment for a term of three years
which is terminable by either party by giving three months” written
notice to the other party.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
annual general meeting after his/her appointment and they will be
subject to re-election at such meeting.
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Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the Chairman, Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis,
determines and monitors the overall strategy and policies, annual
budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance of the
Group, and supervises the management of the Company.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review
of the corporate and financial policies, review and assessment
of the Company’s financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems and the oversight of the management of
the Group’s business and affairs.

All Directors, including and independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company as well as the services and advice from the senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company.

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group, who possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, and also instructs the
management to implement the Board’s decisions and resolutions.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters
which include, inter alia, the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgeting, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests of substantial shareholder(s)
or Director(s)), financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures adopted to guide the
nomination committee of the Company to select and recommend
candidates for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
nomination committee of the Company in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o (in case of independent non-executive Directors) requirement
for the Board to have independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to
the Board;

o commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company'’s business operation and environment as well as
the industry in which the Company operates.

Corporate Governance Report
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The nomination committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third party agency firm and proposals from the
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the
criteria which include but are limited to the above-mentioned.

The nomination committee or the company secretary of
the Company shall convene a meeting upon receipt of any
nominations of candidates to evaluate such candidates based on
the selection criteria mentioned above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. The nomination committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by
a shareholder of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting. The
Board should have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company'’s expenses.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their training

records and such records have been maintained by the Company
for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.
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Summary of training received by the Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2021 according to the records as provided by
the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors BITES

Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP WRNE % A& (K F )
Ms. LI Xiaoting FHEBELZT

Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent ThERE

Mr. LI Chunshan FHELEAE
Independent Non-Executive Directors B IEHTESE

Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen JP
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald SBS OSt/ JP

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung BRELEE
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong PR =2 5 A
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang R+

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
(www.cmereye.com) and the HKEx's website (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the Corporate
Information on page 2 of this annual report.

G iRgE L (K F#HL)
FTEREE (REFEE X FHL)

BB hE (EZHEE  XFHL)

RIBFEFRMHOCE  EFNEAE 20215
12A31BEFEMEZBINHENT

Training on regulatory
updates, corporate
governance, inside

information or other

relevant topics
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Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review,
supervise, and assist the Board in providing an independent view
of, our financial reporting processes, and internal control and risk
management systems, as well as to oversee the audit process,
review our annual and interim financial statements, provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance, develop and implement a policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting to our board
and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
held 2 meetings to review the interim and annual financial results
and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
work.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
had 2 meetings with the external auditors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
(i) develop and review the policies and the structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management; (ii)
evaluate the performance of, and make recommendations on the
remuneration packages and long-term incentive compensation
or equity plans for, the Directors and senior management; and
(iii) evaluate and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting to review and make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management and other related matters. Major
work completed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year included: (i) determined and approved the remuneration
and bonus payable to executive directors of the Company; (iii)
determined and recommended the remuneration of independent
non-executive directors of the Company for approval by the Board,;
and (iii) approved the letter of appointment and remuneration
of Dr. Rex Auyeung Pak-kuen as the new vice chairman. Details
of the Director’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the
code provision E.1.5 (previously B.1.5) of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

REZE2021F12A31BIEFE > 8 £
BRI —REF URHAQRNE
BB s MR - EFE R mREIEE R H N
FEUAREMEEEEYRIEAEESR
HEZ - FHEZESRNFATKNEET
EBIE  (VET W ERAAARRITE
ENHFRTA : (VETTRESTEHE
WA R BB IERITESHOEH M R Gi)
HEZEBRGAEBLATIIEEND
BEEHEEHM EZHNFBHINGRE VB
WMERMIFE o boN - BB EEATAMN ST
BMEXX BENSIR(ERIFIEBNSIR) B E
2021F12ANBLEFE  afRERBEEM
RERFNERE SO FEFMETI O T

Number of

individual

Remuneration band (in HKD) HEMZER (BT) AE

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001 & 1,500,000 1

1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001 % 2,000,000 1
Nomination Committee RELEEE

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors and senior management, and on matters of
succession planning.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to professional
qualifications, regional and industry experience, educational and
cultural background, skills, industry knowledge, reputation and
gender. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

REZEENIZRASEHESTRER
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee held 2 meetings to review the appointment of the vice
chairman of the Board, review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and review of re-appointment of retiring
Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 (previously D.3.1) of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and the guidelines, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) as required by the Listing Rules which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity when selecting candidates from a
number of perspectives based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board has reviewed the appropriateness of an express
diversity quota or measurable objective in achieving board
diversity, and noted that currently the Board has members of
both genders. In light of the above, the Board has concluded that
selection of Board members should continue to be based on the
above said diversity perspectives instead of setting an express
quota or objective. The Nomination Committee will monitor
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness as appropriate.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BMEREREFTNEEAER RERZE
SHERNEFTEHFLEZZAN  BEBAR
MR BR KR BIIODUEER
ERELEREEEREZ T (WER)
P B H A AH R AR 2E -

REZE2021F12A31BIEFE L%
BEERITMALH UEHESS =
FRZT BRUTESTTMEE  ABLA
BERBYIENTEEZNB LA RBRTE
NZTRITES -

2R (ERTEVE D3 IK) TS A BLRE o

EEERARANEEERBRELESR
EEREREEEBNEIRSESERR
AAREETEREMEERE T MAKE
RER HRETURESINETERLR
ARRBTREEATUHOBR  ARA
CEERRETHRERBR -

EETERESTIEE
RELTRUBR EFZSERNEFS
KREZTHEERR(EFEKREZTILEK
R RBREINEBEFEKREZ T
BB -EXEEHRPALREEEFENES
TAEHREARANRAETEERRS - &
BEEZEREAR ARAHR-RNZ
BB AREE  BRERETRIMER  F
B UELRBEER  BELKLR  KE A
# MRS ER  BREREFEKEZ T -
ARAIBBABNRENAR/REFTETK
MEBMMESKRE EFSCHAER
EZ2ZUEREBENZ TR ERA
FRERRELGAEMELRE  WEIEIE
FECEBAMETRMERNKE < EitL -
EXERRERITUAENSZ TILBEX
ARAEG YAREESTEXNETHESL
BRELINEFEZ TIRBBE -REE
SeREERABATEREEENESZ T
LB EREOMITABRE AR -

FRRNMEBREZERERAQA




The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, BEEZREZE2021F12A31AEFESR
Board committee meetings and the annual general meeting of the TOARRESFEEE EFTCLEES
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2021 set out BARBRRBEFRGNHELHENAT

in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

R/ eRRY

Nomination ~ Remuneration Audit  Annual General
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exps REZEE FMzSe ERZEEE RREAFXE
Executive Directors
HITEF
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis JP 1 N/A N/A N/A 171
MIBHE £ (X F#1) TER NER il
Mes. LI Xiaoting 1 N/A 17 N/A on
FHERL Nk Gy
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent 7 N/A N/A N/A on
PHREE TER TER TEA
Mr. LI Chunshan 6/7 N/A N/A N/A 0N
FRIKE Nk ek AN
Indepenaent Non-executive Directors
BUHPITEE
Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen JP 1 N/A N/A N/A 0N
BG AT (X FHT) NEm NEF N
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald $BS OSt/ JP 6/7 N/A 17 212 171
FERELE TEA

(REHEE A FHL)

Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung 17 212 N/A 2/2 I
SRELE Nk

Mr. CHAN Chi Leong 1 212 171 N/A 171
RERKE @

Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang 6/7 2/2 N/A 212 171
RRet qNih

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen GBS JP 1 N/A N/A N/A 171

ERREL (EHEE X TF#HL) TER TER TER



The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 100 to 107 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the remuneration that should be paid to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for
the audit of the year ended 31 December 2021 and non-audit
services is set out below:

EERBRFEEAEETEREEARNTEHZE 2021
FIN2ANHIEFENTBRE -

BERVARMBHARRFEKL L NBEK
BEARBNEFXIBTABEAIEA TR

ARARBYZBMEREHT B RERE
ETMERHEANAFREI00BEEFE 1078
I8 7 A% SRR R & R o

REE2021F12A3MBIEFEFENE X
FEFE AT AR T 1 A1 AN 2 5] #Y 40 36 4% B AT 28
KB G FT RN EIEFT A B B & 9 37 27
N

Fees Paid/Payable

g ENER

HK$°000

Services rendered P2 fit AR 7 FET

Audit service Eit iR 2,100
Non-audit Services FEE RS

— tax compliance service — B E HRIRS 66

The Board is responsible for maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Company’s assets and the interests of shareholders. The systems
of risk management and internal control of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve corporate objectives and only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company on 23 March 2022, including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting function.
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The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal
control structure are as follows:

- Well-defined organisational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to minimise risk of errors and abuse;

- Clear and written policies and procedures have been
established and regularly reviewed for major functions and
operations;

- Important business functions or activities are managed by
experienced, qualified and suitably trained staff;

- Continuous monitoring of the key operating data and
performance indicators, timely and up-to-date business and
financial reporting, immediate corrective actions are taken
where necessary; and

- Internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of
major operations on an ongoing basis.

A risk-based approach is adopted to ensure that a methodical
coverage of the Group’s operations and resources are focused on
high risk areas. The internal audit team takes the lead to evaluate
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group by
reviewing the major operations of the Group on a rotational basis
every year with review period covering the full financial year. The
review covers all material controls including financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management. Review results and
recommendations in the form of written reports are submitted to
the Audit Committee for discussion and review. Follow up actions
will be taken up by the internal audit team to ensure that findings
previously identified have been properly resolved. The Board had
discussed with the external auditor and reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2021, and considered them effective
and adequate.

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. With a view to
identifying, handling and disseminating inside information, various
procedures including pre-clearance on dealing in the securities
of the Company by designated members of management,
notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions to relevant directors and employees, restrictions on
access to financial records and dissemination of information on a
need-to-know basis have also been implemented by the Group to
guard against possible mishandling of inside information within
the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wa Ping, who is the Company secretary of the
Company, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter
alia, providing updated and timely information to all Directors
from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Chan has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company aims to establish fair and transparent procedures
to enable all shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their
rights in an informed manner and communicates efficiently with
the Company. Under the Articles of Association and the relevant
policies and procedures of the Company, the shareholders enjoy,
among others, the following rights:

1. Convene an extraordinary general meeting/put
forward proposals:

Any one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held with two months after
the deposit of such requisition at the Company’s Hong
Kong office at Suite 1535, Central Building, 1-3 Pedder
Street, Central, Hong Kong. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements in accordance with the
requirements under Article 58 of the Articles of Association
once a valid requisition is received.
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2. propose a person for election as a Director:

As regards to the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director”
under the section headed “Corporate Governance” of the
Company’s website at www.cmereye.com.

3. put forth enquiries to the Company:

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board'’s
attention can be sent in writing to the company secretary
at the Company’s Hong Kong office at Suite 1535, Central
Building, 1-3 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company has adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy to enable shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed manner. The Board will review Shareholders’
Communication Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other extraordinary general meetings. At
the annual general meetings, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company’s website (www.cmereye.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the
company to the shareholders, other stakeholders and investors.
The Company will also update the website information from time
to time to inform the shareholders and investors of the latest
development of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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To the Shareholders of C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of C-MER Eye Care Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 108 to 239, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report \/
bR S ETE S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment of
goodwill.

ERHNER

HMERBEEESHMAGSHEMANELESR
HEA ([EBFERER]) EITER - B A
EZERATAENRECERNRE [EH
BBt FT AR A M S MR AR BT — &
TR — SRt -

BARGE - P ESHETRERTRE
MEEMR/RMNERIZHERE -

By
REBREGTHASBRMOEX G ENE
AR BMABLRY E5E-
WEETTRATFHEMERBERMT -

BREITEE

BARBAFHEERBRMANERAE R
REAHGRAMBRENBAR/EEN
FH - ZEFHEERMEAEREAY
BRERRDABERKETRE

RPEBT RN ARE T EESRA
B -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

ARENEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BHREGFEH

Impairment assessment of goodwill
AERENRE

Refer to note 4 (Critical accounting estimates and
judgments) and note 15 (Intangible assets) to the
consolidated financial statements.
SHGRAPBERRWES (EB ST R AE)
M EE15 (EREE)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had goodwill
of approximately HK$194,970,225, representing
10% of the Group’s total assets.

R2021F 128310 ESENBENA
194,970,22587C 15 BEEBAEEN10% °

Management performed goodwill impairment
assessment on each cash-generating units in
Mainland China and Hong Kong and assessed their
recoverable amounts based on the value-in-use
calculations. This assessment involved significant
judgements in adopting the underlying assumptions
for the calculations.
EREHPELEASREESEMETEHER
BEFE - WARBERAEEAEM AL KESRE -
Ut AP ER AN ET B B AR R AR B 5 I B K T o

The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating
units estimated by management exceeded their
carrying values and the directors were of the
opinion that no impairment was necessary as at 31
December 2021.
ZERSELBUHEREGEN KL SRR
HEHREE NEFRARN2021F12A4318H
BRIE °

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEMNEFNAEEARETFSH

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill included:

BRPEERERENENEFEE:

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of impairment
of goodwill and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

BV R B R E R A BRI LA AIRF - WERER
EEFTHEEMEMIEE AW E SRR EENKFE (1
MM BN ZPHERIEEERRUMFOTER) T
HEREREAEARER -

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment of goodwill to assess the effectiveness of
management'’s estimation process.
BAERE AR B AN GIEHFE AT EEE
L ETBZ BB ©

We evaluated management’s impairment assessment
including cash flow forecast, and the process by which they
were drawn up, and tested the underlying calculations.
BMYEREBREN G (BRASRER) REAERB
RAELFE - LR EREE -

FHRNEREZRARAA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

HRESTEE

ARENEE®

dit addressed the Key Audit Matter
NAEEERETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)
BEREYR (B

We focused on this area due to the estimation of
recoverable amount being subject to high degree
of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in
relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
is considered significant due to subjectivity of
assumptions used including estimated growth rates
and discount rate which are subject to change of
economic environment in future.

BMBIN MRS - DhER AT REeEAR
BENMGETEE - ARERNRK (BHEG
AREERERBBAR)NEEEIAREEREDN
BT E BtABERERENGENESRRE
BWRBEK -

Specific work we performed over the impairment
assessment included:

BAERENGETHRRTIEREE

° Comparing management’s forecasted revenue and
profit margins with historical performance;
o HEBEMTRBIWERFEEEBERRIELE

o Comparing the management’s key assumptions for
discount rate in the forecast with industry data; and

e HKEEEMRBAPMREINTIERRETREE
TELLE : &

° Obtaining management’s sensitivity analysis over the
key assumptions of the cash flow forecast to analyse
the potential impact of a range of possible outcomes.

o EEREREHRRIBANEERIOGUREDHNT
AT E BRI ge it RVEEZE -

We also considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the growth rates and discount rate would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

BT ERERERERRREMENHB SR
EREEMREFARELNTR

Based on the above, we considered that management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of goodwill were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

BB FEPT - MR R - BIEE B REN G ER
B HI T N R RS B PSS B IR LT BITIZ PR S s ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

H b &t
EQAEF AL MAR AR - K g
BEFANNOMAER AR QERAN
BHRRR MO EBETRS -

BB GAMBRRNBERL TREEM
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AR EE i -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B %A RS

BB FeT RS M B |MRAEN
B

BHWER RYUYSAMBHREABERSD
TEFEERREFRBRM BB ERER
RAEBMBAERE THARREMAER
MZBE RS - HPIER BT (ERRE)
BEHRMWER Rtz RHmEFIEE
it B #) - AT 2B AF RN AT RER
HMALTB FSAETMET A ERE
ERKTFHRE BETRRELRELSE
SHEAETHER X -EXRERRL
T fE By A RE 38 3R - SR ERIRM AT BE f BRRF =X
HRSIE MRAEBMEMEBRER
HIARF LR B a7 A M IS MR E R E KL
BB WKL RERE - RIARK
SRR AR AEE X ©

EREEBEFEAETRINBERES
B EREEHAE  URFERIEREE -
HAFIIR

o BRI AR IE B EKRE B BR T 8 BUAR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEMMBI RSB RRAEN
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cecilia, Lai Ting Yau.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report
bR S ETE S
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REZHEWER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue g 5 1,112,577 699,545
Cost of revenue SHER A 8 (754,349) (505,468)
Gross profit EF 358,228 194,077
Other income HAb A 6 10,580 12,913
Selling expenses HEMY 8 (126,442) (69,885)
Administrative expenses THRFAX 8 (234,115) (139,276)
Other gains, net Hib W F 5 7 16,492 10,247
_Operatingprofit  &&NMA 24743 8,076 _
Finance income B A 10 4,475 5,056
Finance costs B PR AR 70 (12,995) (10,352)
_finance costs,net  MEAAE®E (85200  (529)
_Share of profit/loss) of associates _______ AMEMERFANE/(BB) 37 10652 (276)
Profit before income tax B BT 158 AT R 26,875 2,504
Income tax expense FTEHiM Y 11 (10,645) (10,916)
_Profit/(loss) for theyear  FRNE/BR) 16230  (8412)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: U\ T&FEEERFE,/
(B#B) -
— Equity holders of the Company —RARERFTEA 21,861 (6,246)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (5.631) (2,166)
16,230 (8,412)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk A
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to ~ BE# Sl & EF 7B F 52
profit or loss #E A
Currency translation differences SN E E R 19,069 32,944
Other comprehensive income for the year FREME2EKA 19,069 32,944
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZ2HEWKAHALE 35,299 24,532




Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HILEE
2021 2020

20214 20204
Notes HK$000 HK$°000

g FET FET

Total comprehensive income for theyear U T&FEEFERZEY

attributable to: Nt
— Equity holders of the Company —ARARERFEA 40,286 26,209
— Non-controlling interests — IR (4,987) (1,677)
35,299 24,532
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) HERAQAFTERIZE ARE
attributable to equity holders of the HFRE (BE)NER
Company during the year (expressed in BA,/ (FE) (ASRB
HK cents per share) i 517R)
- Basic —ER 12 1.90 (0.57)
- Diluted —#8 12 1.90 (0.57)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income LA EERE 2 MR EREEENN T —0F5E -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
HREBMBEARRE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS 8E
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERHE 13 301,961 218,150
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 599,325 566,033
Intangible assets BREE 15 203,961 144,934
Interest in associates REE RRIMEDS 37 24,814 1,928
Financial assets at fair value through other /A (EF A ML E
comprehensive income WA S REE 21 52,575 52,575
Deferred income tax assets REFEHEE 27 10,971 3,127
Deposits and prepayments e RIBRFHIE 19 15,881 31,236
1,209,488 1,017,983
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 16 33,444 20,443
Trade receivables 2 5 EWFIA 18 17,980 14,749
Deposits, prepayments and other B BRRBEREMmE
receivables WA 19 240,489 22,102
Amounts due from associates JE W Bt & X B 5RIE 33 12,113 -
Financial asset at fair value though BATESABENSR
profit or loss BE 22 55,704 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkEa%EEY 20 386,659 553,934
746,389 611,228
Total assets mEE 1,955,877 1,629,211
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders  &AFEZEIEE AERN
of the Company R
Share capital e 23 115,034 114,725
Reserves 1 1,216,196 1,179,600
1,331,230 1,294,325
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M 2 36 6,013 2,906
Total equity s 1,337,243 1,297,231



Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31B8LEE

2021 2020
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
LIABILITIES &8
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other payables H bR 3R 29 3,657 2,303
Loan from a non-controlling interest IR S B 33 7,595 -
Lease liabilities HE&E 14 198,616 177,373
Deferred income tax liabilities EXFEHAE 27 518 -
e 210,386 = 179,676
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables 2S5 ENFIA 28 39,866 19,023
Accruals and other payables FEET & R R H N 3RIE 29 79,643 51,627
Contract liabilities AREE 5 10,728 8,603
Borrowings EE 30 179,406 -
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  J& < JEHE A g 25 7008 33 3,961 -
Amount due to a related party e — % BE R 75 3R 33 33 23
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTE R A G 8,537 5,436
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 86,074 67,592
PO, 408,248 . 152,304
Total liabilities BEE 618,634 331,980
Total equity and liabilities HERRAE 1,955,877 1,629,211

FI08EEF290EMNZEAVBREER
2022F 3 A0 HKEESHETRREE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 239 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and were
signed on its behalf.

LAM Shun Chiu Dennis LI Xiaoting
K JIE THIE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEEF

VA 4R & BA IR 2% I8 B B P R — DF B AT o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARAARE
Statutory Share-
Share surplus based Non-
capital Share  reserve Exchange  payment  Retained controlling
(Note 23)  premium (Note24) reserve  reserve  eamings  Subtotal interests
RAA
Eit
ﬁﬁ DEST
HKS HKS 000
U / L / /L J‘Jh— / (
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F17818 105130 653417 10838 (11907) 17679 81581 856,738 4583 861321
Comprehensive income 2EUA
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (6,246) (6,246) (2,166) (8412)
Other comprehensive loss A2 ERE
Currengy translation differences ~ JMEAEZE - - - 3455 - - 345 489 32,944
Transactions with equity holders EEREEAHRS
Dividend paid (Note 26) Bl (Fii26) - - - - - s 1519 - 1)
Issuance of shares ¥kl 7311 408777 - - - - 416,148 - 416148

Issuance of shares upon exercse of  FNE R AR EE AT
pre-IPO share options (Note 25) %féﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ{”ﬁ
(fizt25) 14 8997 - - - -1 - M

Issuance of shares upon exercise of - &R AR BERES
post-PO share options (Note 25)  EEfTERETRM

(Bit2s) 10 508 - - - - 518 - 518
Share-based payments (Note 25)  bUR‘ AER A

(fizE25) - - - - 5016 - 5016 - 5016
Transfer to statutory reserve BREELTHE - - 908 - - (908) - - -
As at 31 December 2020 R2020E128318 14,725 1,071,699 11,746 20,548 22,695 52912 1,294,325 2906 1,297,231
As at 1 January 2021 RNE1R1H 114,725 1,071,699 11,746 20,548 22,695 52912 1,294,325 2,906 1,297,231
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit for the year EnflE - - - - - N8 21861 (5631) 16,230
Other comprehensive income ~~ E#2EUA
Currency translation differences ~ JMEREZ% - - - 184 - - 18425 644 19,069
Transactions with equity holders £EZFAAHRS
Dividend paid (Note 26) EW&L%‘(W i26) = = = = - (2298)  (22,98) - (22,98)
lssuance of shares ?i‘ﬁﬂ% 114 5970 - - - - 6,084 - 6,084

Issuance of shares upon exercise of - N ERAR E’*Eﬁw B
pre-PO share options (Note 25) Pé’éﬂf SERITRD
(H&£25) 17 - - - - - 17 - 17
lssuance of shares upon exercise of E/M %’*E/é B
post-IPO share options (Note 25) T% TREZIRG
(f

[15£25) 178 9,053 - - - - 9,231 - 9,231
Share-based payments (Note 25) DU AER A
(B&25) - - - - A4S - 425 S ¥
Transaction with non-controlling ~ EFERERNR S
interests
- Capital injection i - - - - - - - 8,120 8,120
Transaction with non-contralling ~ EFFERERNRS
interest
- Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 34) - - - - - - - 1,562 1,562

Transaction with non-controlling
interests
- Disposal of subsidiary (Note 34)

(Hrt34) .
Transfer to statutory reserve BABETHE - - 1330 = (1,330) =
As at 31 December 2021 R2021512831H 115,034 1,086,722 13,076 38973 26,950 50475 1,331,230 6,013 1337243

(1588)  (1,588)

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be LA FERE S B REEEM T — 158 -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTRER

Year ended 31 December
BE12ANBLEE
2021 2020
2020
HK$'000

FAT

20215
HKS$'000
FET

Cash flows from operating activities RETHHERERE
Cash generated from operations REMBHRE 31(a) 158,116 126,541
Income tax paid ETFEH (13,715) (16,950)
Net cash generated from operating activities REREMERLTE 144,401 109,591
Cash flows from investing activities RETBFERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BENHRE (118,144) (31,491)
Payments for acquisition of land use right Y i b BRI (7,538) (187,431)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEVEAE 15 (3,548) (1,886)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HENE BERREMS

equipment I 31b) 9 1
Payment for assets acquisition BEWESENNT = (116,611)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired WENB AR MBAEHRE 340 (45,864) (39,320)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKBLRF 34(b) (2,431) -
Interest received BEFILE 4,475 4,793
Decrease in bank deposits with original maturity over RE|H1H 28 =18 A H#R17

three months B - 253,675
Proceeds from financial assets at fair value through ~ R AFEFABZNEREE

profit or loss ikeE 8 - 37
Payment for financial assets at fair value through BRATEFFABRNEMEE

profit or loss 2R (38,993) -
Payment for financial assets at fair value through BRATE qu)\HﬁﬁiﬁuﬁU\E’J

other comprehensive income SREEINR = (34,915)
Advances from associates o UNSEE (1,008) -
Capital injection by non-controlling interests to

subsidiaries FERERRNBARTE 8,120 -
Prepayment for acquisition of a subsidiary WiE— KB AANBENRE (190,808) -
Net cash used in investing activities REZEMARSTE (395,730) (153,148)
Cash flows from financing activities RETDAERERE
Principal elements of lease payments HENTMASHD 31(d) (76,097) (55,479)
Interest paid on leases BRFIE 31 (12,533) (10,352)
Interest paid on loan from a non-controlling interest % ¥ JFE AR B EF A & (270) -
Interest paid on bank loan YRIBIERMFIE (192) -
Proceeds from exercise of pre-IPO share options IFERRHEERNERE

TSR 17 11,211
Proceeds from exercise of post-IPO share options FRERARBERERE
FriGaE 9,231 518
Proceeds from issuance of shares BRI = 387,633
Proceeds from borrowings ERFTEHIA 31(d) 175,113 -
Repayment to borrowings 5 Ujai ?K 31 (663) -
Advances from a director EED 31(d) 6,000 -
Loan advances from a non-controlling interest 3H“Hx$f§ SR B ER 31(d) 7,485 -
Dividend paid ERRE 26 (22,968) (21,515)
_ Net cash generated from financing activities B & Z@Eﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁi, 851 312,016

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BeRBLEEU(HD)

equivalents 18 0% 58 (166,206) 268,459
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ~ F#1R & FRESEY 553,934 282,178
Currency translation differences INEMEEE (1,069) 3,297
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FREGRAEEZED 20 386,659 553,934

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in NEGEREREREEAK T —HE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

GENERAL INFORMATION

C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1 February 2016
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of ophthalmic and other medical services and sales
of vision aid products in Hong Kong (“HK”) and Mainland
China. The Company has been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 January
2018.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollar (“HK$") and all values are rounded to nearest
thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which are carried at fair
value.

FHBENBRZERERLQF

—REH

FHEBERBEERBR AR (AR
al]) R2016F2 A1 AIREHSHS
EBIFE 228 R ENE (1961 F £ 358 %
Bl - 4R & RIER]) TR S S M
R BERRBR AR o ANAQE M
1R BR b AE A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARBB—BEREERAR BB
REl (GBI AEE]) TERERE
BAES]) RPRARERR ME
HEEREREERNHEYESR - 8
2018F 1 15 A - AR RIEERB
HERXPBRARERLET -

BRBREAN  SEMBRERABT
(MBT) 2% MAEEBENEER
BEm TR (TET) °

TESERBE

ARHIEED B AR % F M S A TR A
MEZEEE -BRARBEREBIN &
ERENME2INEEERER -

21 REEE

AEENGAMBHREADER
FRMBHREER (FBHMB
WELER) ME622EEFERA
EOIR R ERB - 28 B 5 ]
RBELKA LR E XEH
BAFEFAEMEZEEAN
CRMEEREATEFAER
ME R EE (BRAFEIR W
EfiMEHER -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has adopted the following revised
new and amended to standards which are
relevant to the Group's operations and are
mandatory for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2021:

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS Reform — Phase 2
39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

The adoption of the above revised new and
amended to standards did not have any
significant financial impact on these consolidated
financial statements.

2 FEEHEHEME®W

2.1

mEEXE(E)

BRESMBEREELBRER
AU BRRAFERAETEEZS
- EREEEEAASE
ST N AL B E - H
R 85 = 72 T2 MY I I ok e M Y
HENBRERGAHGRENH
BEBEAFENEBEER
MsE4 -

(a) FEBMEAHIHETRAE
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AEBDRERM T EARE
BREE B NMR2021F
1AV BB IREER
BT BT 5T R AS S BT 2%
Al
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oy BAEH A
RBI£29%

e
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FEIZIER
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A ZFHRAYHRERAL
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2.1 mBEEG)

5] 7R R A B9 # AT R A2 15
TR
ETHet R RRED

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to (b)
standards not yet adopted

There are certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are 4558 0 18 37 4% 3t &L = 2021
not mandatory for the year ended 31 December F12H31H8 iif‘%?ﬁiﬂi
2021 and have not been early adopted by the W AEETER PR

Group. These standards are not expected to M#’EEUTE,HH/T;T%’?@
have a material impact on the entity in the B A kR 2R S e B B

current or future reporting periods and on ARARRNR ZEKER
foreseeable future transactions. &

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on
or after
RT58H
R &BHN
B HEEN
Annual Improvements Projects Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 (amendments) 1 January 2022
FEYERR BB BREER2018-2020 F M FE A (BITA) 202241810
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 Narrow-scope amendments 1 January 2022
and HKAS 37
BEMBREEUEINR BEEH  RELF 202251818
BRE 16 RE LG EAE37H
CHEY

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5

EERCERYACHEY

Amendments to HKAS 1

ARG ENE 15 (BITR)

HKFRS 17

EANBREENETR

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BEEMBRERNE TR (BITF)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5

BARBESH (BITX)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BEEGHENE1RRAE
EABEBEAEFE 2% (BFTA)

FHERE

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations

LREENAHEE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
E 1 -\*E o /m%jﬂi#m@b
Insurance Contracts
REEH
Insurance Contracts
1 VAN

M =] /\
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause
BRAEREREXERERNEHE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

5B

SHHRRE

1 January 2022

202F1A18
1 January 2023
2023F1A1H
1 January 2023
202351A18
1 January 2023
2023F1 418
1 January 2023

202351A1H
1 January 2023

2023451718



2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards not yet adopted (Continued)

21 mBEEG)

(b) [ R ERAYHI AT 5T R AZ MK
FTER (%)

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on

or after

RT5EH

F2RMAEN

S BEEN

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

BB G ERIE 85 (B F) EEREREE 2023F1A18

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a 1 January 2023

single transaction

BEEGRANE125% (BATF) BE-RHELNEERBBRENELHE 202351A18

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its To be determined
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture

BREMBRE 105 RER REZFEEBENAFALCERNEELEIRA BT

R
ERRSIEPEEACCHEN)

The Group will apply the above new standard
and amendments to standards when they
become effective. No new standard and
amendments to standards is expected to have a
significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

g R ETER R AER 2
BT EME - AEEHE
PRI SR LR 75T ©
I AT R R HE B 2 (&
SR EHARENGS
MBmRBEERTE -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 BEARRAIRESSTE
accounting b

(a) WEAA

(a) Subsidiaries

118

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances, and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in the results
and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

FHBENBRZERERLQF

MEAREASEEGE
HIESNEER (BREE
BEER) - EXAKERA
SHEBREMEELERE
SrIZE® - BehiE B
HIEERIZHNENF
E2%50%H  AAKEE
HZER -HBARAE
HEEBREAREE QL
Mz HEaAR X8
PRI AL B R AR
BARK -

AEBERBUE S LB
E¥BAHAE (GEL2EW
223) 0

SEARARZEANKS
B ZXZHARER Y E
BT AEE - BRIFZER
SRR BREENRE
EiE - BRIKRERERIT
TS - B R A &&
BERRN U EFIEHES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(b) Associates

(9]

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (c) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investment is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition. Goodwill represents the
excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair
value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired associates at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising on acquisitions of
associates is included in interests in associates
and are tested for impairment as part of overall
balance.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised
as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

2

e M ARMEE

FESHBERE @)

2.2
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b NC )

(b) BELF

(9]
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2

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(0

(d)

Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

2

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 ZEANERRAREREHE
accounting (Continued) B (&)

(d) HEEREREZZE (E)

(d) Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted

EAREEERRIEGE
ARZHIEXERTZES
MiF &R AR IZE S
ABR—EERER RNER
MEMRBESENE
EHRVE - R EEE
HNBEARER - BLHER
ARIEE AR A&
CEATHEENREE
wmME ZAFERIA
BRTEI(E © BLoh - SERTI H
i 2 T U A BE 5% B BB R AR

for as if the Group had directly disposed of HER S ERBINAREE
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean EEELEAMEESA
that amounts previously recognised in other BEHAAAR - EBRE

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified or permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

SERTR E b 2 H AR
HREEREEMBERS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Business combination 2.3 EBE4t

AEERABBBEAKABES
BHAR THEehC WEE
S TASHMBEE - WE—X
MEARMEENKERR:

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

e fair values of the assets transferred; s FERAENATME:

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the e WWEEBAHEARE
acquired business; EMAE:

e equity interests issued by the Group; o AKREBEFFEITHMRE

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a o SAREBLHFEANE
contingent consideration arrangement; and MEEHREBENRFE:

)54

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in e RWBRATMNEMERS

the subsidiary. BRERN R TE -

REBEHTRBOHABFRE
ERAENRABERIAREE
(REBERBOPIIMERT) BME
BERBREZEANAFEE -
AEBERZARBEERRE
(A1 U B8 T BE M) S PR A s
ZER RN FERRIFER
BamR i oA EERA

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net

122

identifiable assets.

BRI BN E -

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. WA AR TR EER I -
The excess of the: UTeEBEHNZERE :

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

consideration transferred;

amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity.

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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o REWBERNEMIEE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combination (Continued)

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquired entity is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

2 FEEHEHEME®W

2.3

2.4
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

2.6

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

0]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the "functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

2 FEEHEHEME®W

2.5

2.6
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, within
finance cost. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a net
basis within “other gains/(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI") are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group's entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy), that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

2 FEEHEHME®

2.6 INEBE(E)

(i)

@iii)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®

POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.6 INEBE(E)

(iiij) Group companies (Continued) (i) FE 2 (&)

126

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) income and expenses for each statement

() BHHERAWA R

of comprehensive income are translated TERFEHEXRKBE
at average exchange rates (unless this (B 3E Ut 45 [ = A
average is not a reasonable approximation B UAE B M T4 e
of the cumulative effect of the rates MR 5 B HmITER

prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(0 all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements v
R EHRRMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESTBEBME@®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.6 IEBRE @)
(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial (iv) HEBGHHEBRIBHH
disposal E
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that A —TEE N E TSI (B
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in HEAREER—BBINE
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving BHhRH R s—E
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a B REEBEBINERE
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of M A R R IR E
joint control over a joint venture that includes —EFREAEBEBINE
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving BH & & 13 H 2R 2
loss of significant influence over an associate BHHE B RK
that includes a foreign operation), all of the EHBEEINEROEE
currency translation differences accumulated in NAMBEATEHINH
equity in respect of that operation attributable B) AAAE AE
to the owners of the Company are reclassified HZEBREBLERERA
to consolidated statement of comprehensive ZIWMEEREZR &
income. EFHoBESREEENE
=
In the case of a partial disposal that does WHDEETEEHAE
not result in the Group losing control over a EREEHBEBINEBD
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the BB A BRI R - Rt
proportionate share of accumulated currency PloE Rt EBHmEZEE
translation differences are re-attributed to non- THEMBRIEERER -
controlling interests and are not recognised in AR B ANER - ShAT
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that BEMIAH HE (BIIEF
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest BHRAEBERRELEEATE
in associates or joint ventures that do not result Nk REZEGIEAAREE
in the Group losing significant influence or REERNRIAEEDTER
joint control), the proportionate share of the HERERRD)ME @ 1%
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified LBl DR RETE R EZRETD
to consolidated statement of comprehensive EfoBEEgREEENE
income. xo
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Land use rights and property, plant and 27 tFERAEREYE BRER

128

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

equipment
Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if

B

THEHE

b {55 PR R AR AR AN R R AT 8 8
RBFRERBE(MA) 25 -

any. Cost represents consideration paid for the right to MAERSWME REEMA T
use the land on which various plants and buildings are Tz R ERE

situated for a period from 13 to 40 years. Amortisation
of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the period of leases.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

R 2 BAR B13E2404F - £
FHAEBRENHEHRANER
JEETE o

W* BERRE

ME - B MR B IRE LA
R ETE Mk RFHREEE (0
B)IIER - B RABIEWEZ
ZRBEEREBENRAX -

BEKAEEEZIAREREN
R AL N 25 A5 A BE R AR SR
B AEE KA A ER
FERABENREELER
REBYEE (WMER) ° )
BRI NREAES K LR -
FrEEtEEREERGE
HEANVBRAHRARGEE 2
T W R AR FORR o

ME - BERJREHENITEGNU
BRREFE AR T3
EREFHABERADEEH
RIEREE -

Medical equipment 5-10 years ER&E 521046

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining MEMERE STHRBSMFTAR
lease term or REHAREE
estimated useful life RE)

Office furniture and fixtures 5 years MRRE 54

EEHE
Computer equipment 3-5 years B 3E5F
Motor vehicles 4-5 years B 4F5F

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ARMEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Land use rights and property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains/(losses), net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents buildings under
construction and machineries and equipment under
installation, which is stated at historical cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed
and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are ready for use, the costs are transferred
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated
in accordance with the policy as stated in Note 2.7
above.

2

FESHBERE @)

2.7

2.8

T ERERYE - BER
BAAC)

¥ BERRE(E)
BEMNRREE R ERFH
RERERRBRIL AR (W0E

B) -

WEEMNEmAERRBE MG
WeesE: IEEMNFEAES
BB s = H T U e & 28 (B 5T
2.10) °

HEEENBEIZMEHAR
FEHECHNEZEEE TN
FAERERERPOTEME R
/(1R 58 | RHER -

EEIR

ERTRELERROEEY
RIEEREOER L RME
& st AR RTERVEE 1R (10 F)
SRR - BLE LA T2 AE R
BERE EZHREERIR
ARBREREEARE/LE -8
HEEERHER  RARR
BEXME27TMERREBES
WE - BB MR AL E R -
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Intangible assets

(i)

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. Gains and losses on disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly comprise acquired
computer software. Acquired computer
software licenses are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the
specific software into usage. These costs are
amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years. Cost
associated with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

2
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e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

210 ke RMEERE

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (CGUs).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

ERFHTROBERELE
EDE#E BEEFANBE
ETAR  HEBFHHREX
B0 2 8 8RR EL AT BE H 3R RU(E
BAMFLEREREN H
MEEEEEEMHHALBR
i BN BR LA AT AR BRI
BETRERT - RMEBERZR
BENREEBODEALRDS
BHNEEER - ATRESER
BEN R FER SR A EE
REEMEETRNRSE -0
AEERER BERARE L
BORRNEMEEXEEMR D
BERACREELEM) A7
B HEBIR SR AR SIEER
DM - BREESN - BIEHRIER
FeMEEESBREHMRIA
BRI REREETRT

2NN RERHMWEREE

(i) Classification (i) #HE
The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEEZ T E8AE
following measurement categories: ERMEEETHE

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

o HRERBAFEGIA
Hip 2 mEUA - et
ABZ)FFENS R
BE M

o  REBHEKAFENS

ZOBBRNEREES
BMEEMEFEAARE

TREMA DERK -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETBERBE®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets 2NN RERHMEREE (80)

(Continued)

(i)  Classification (Continued) (i) BB
For assets measured at fair value, gains and HRAAFEAENEE -
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or HBBSTABRLHEM
other comprehensive income. For investments in ZE WA - HR I IEFFE
equity instruments that are not held for trading, BEEME=LAREMS -
this will depend on whether the Group has HEBUARAEETOH
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial WRE A EH T AR
recognition to account for the equity investment REEMBER AR
at FVOCl. FEFAEMEZEKRAA
The Group reclassifies debt investments when ENEBEEEZEEEN
and only when its business model for managing EBEABTESEME K
those assets changes. SEFSHEBRELET

Eiba i

(i) Recognition and derecognition (i) ERBRALER
Reqular way purchases and sales of financial THMEENEEB AR
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on EERXSHER X HH
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the BASEAEBERILE
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when FHAEEER -Etem
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial BEWRBESRENEN
assets have expired or have been transferred and R ke EEAEREH
the Group has transferred substantially all the EEE LKA RMERADY
risks and rewards of ownership. Receivables are P 765 2 Be R g M 28 o B
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the TREENRILER &
effective interest method. Wk IE B 12 (5 A B RR N

RIR B SR AN DB o

(iiij) Measurement (iii) FrE
At initial recognition, the Group measures a R HRE - AR E R
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case AREEMNME(He®EE
of a financial asset not at fair value through WIEAFETAERR
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that (MR FEFAER]))A
are directly attributable to the acquisition BEEBBRKEZESH
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of BENXSERAGESH
financial asset carried at FVPL are expensed in BE -ZRATEFAER
the consolidated statement of comprehensive JIRNEMEENRHK
income. ARG 2 ER R o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

QNN BERHEMWERMEE (&)

whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

(Continued)

(iiij) Measurement (Continued) (iii) FrE (%)
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are BWEABRATAELAER
considered in their entirety when determining CRHEENBEERERES

ERXNAE KA S
FREREENBBET

Debt instruments (E
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments B TANEETEECR
depends on the Group’s business model REEBEERZEENE

for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for

BEANRZEENR S
MERH AKEHEE
BIADBER=RBFER
Al :

o EHAAK: RYEA

collection of contractual cash flows where MR REMFE
those cash flows represent solely payments BEREREERATN
of principal and interest are measured e LFENEER
at amortised cost. Interest income from XN E - ZF
these financial assets is included in finance TRIEENNEWA
income using the effective interest rate REBRAZRT AR
method. Any gain or loss arising on WA o 21 E1ER

derecognition is recognised directly in A ] 2 2k B 1B
profit or loss and presented in other gains/ BEERERNER
(losses) together with foreign exchange IR E U (B
gains and losses. Impairment losses are B) ERINE K= K

presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

EETIIR - BIEE
BrEaezmiiaR
FERBIABIIR -
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt

instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other gains/(losses), net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other gains/
(losses), net and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), net in the
period in which it arises.

2

FHBENBRZERERLQF

FESHBERE @)

QNN BERHEMWERMEE (&)

@iii)
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BEEIA(E)

BAFERFARME
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A ERIEEAER
H R (B W s s R 1R
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

QNN BERHEMWERMEE (&)

investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses), net
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and

(iv)

(Continued)
(iiij) Measurement (Continued) (i) FrE (%)
Equity instruments BRIA
The Group subsequently measures all equity KEBMABERAKERERE

BAFEFE - WAKE
EEEDEERBRARE
MR ERE R EERE
o2 EBRA RS Bl IE
BRAKER BERES
MoBAFEYRERER
E8 @ o A% BRI K
M REFIRE B - BRI E
MR B EENBE AR
AEAUYA -

BAFEFABENS R
BERVEEHINGA
FEMERDEMKE
(B 18) F BT iR (nE
) - BRFERAEME
WA G E R IR A4 B R
EEE (R EBEER)
TgRHEMATEESD
F2W -

HB1E

7N 5 [ At B E 4 8 K R
Mg A FEFARMGEE
WASERNEH TARRH

FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied BT B A B R 1E I ATRE
depends on whether there has been a significant MEET L o FTERARE 7

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3 for further details.

BRREEERRZE B
P

HNEHRWFIE A%
EIXAE Y& EER
FORAFNBIT X
A B ¥ HE R MR IR R
EREHEHELX %
FHIERMES -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Offsetting financial instruments 212 EEEMTIA

136

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when the Group currently has
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first out (“FIFO") method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from clients,
commercial companies and local government for
services rendered and goods sold in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair values and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits
held at call with banks with original maturity of three
months or less.

FHBENBRZERERLQF

EASEREH A RIAMEH
TTEVRER AFRHE RS -
BEREREFRFELEENLR
REREENEERER 8
MemEERA BN EHEKE
WHAREMBHRRARZHBEFE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

FESHBERE @)

2.16 R &
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)

POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

2.18 BRI KB A ()

ERHEMEBERNAREEESF
ERiFazmamRARER -

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the

138

consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the year in which they are incurred.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets

2.19 BVH R IRE FE Fir 1§ 8t

HAMBHRAX KB RERAN
HEERBRBAREBERR
MERMERMEINNHEA
(REHEZRRAPHARIAEE

and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and BHEENBEEERBEZD
to unused tax losses. TELFAE) o
(i)  Current income tax (i) BIRFTS#

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively

BVEAFR B HRIBA S
EI0 = PNCIDNE: LN

enacted at the end of the reporting period in EREFERTWAPME
the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and KR |EHRD Bfsk
associates operate and generate taxable income. B FEEMRERTE -

Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject

EEEARARBER R
BT RIR 1B E HiRT A
HREROMR L EEH

to interpretation and considers whether it is BHEEDEAREEZT
probable that a taxation authority will accept an WERMBEIE - N&E

uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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FETE 1 BV ARIR T30



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)

POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2.19 BN RIEEFT B8 (&)
(i) EEFEH

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and

EIEFBHERBAEEM
BERBENHRERRE
BMBHRRTHEREZ
IR I =R - A
RN AREREEDN
ML HERMES - AR
MEBETGER - HE
EFEHERS (%A
PERIN FRF R BEEREA
BRI HERMEL - M
RPHAIZEGT RE
AR EE - ARERFH
IRA & AN BT PTSH

laws) that have been enacted or substantially KABBMRREBHE
enacted by the date of statement of financial B EE FEBEMER
position and are expected to apply when the E(RERB)ETE BHZ
related deferred income tax asset is realised or EPR(REB)EEBAE
the deferred income tax liability is settled. EFTISTEERR R

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

FEHAREERER -

ERRRR AT BEA AR TR
B AR ST
EZRNMEBEBENBRAT 7
SHRBRLEMSRHEE

s 75 2 7] B 422 ) 98¢ (0 B By
ERNERILZFEER
AT RET A R A SR
AT EBIN KB IRER
HEEREZENEGEZ
ERRECHERBERE
o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)

POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(iij) Offsetting

2.19 BN RIEEFT B8 (&)
(i) &5

140
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

B AIXE Al 58 Bl B 1T HE R
AR A E R A EK
o BREHALHER
— MR AR
EERIAE ER A EEKE
EERAETEARBIMT
RN AK S BB BIRFHE
HAEBEXRAREREE
REEBER - AR
HEEEGARREKE -

BNEA SR E R AR B A
R HEAERNEMER
WA EEZERERERR
HEBRSN e ERBRT
BRI 2 B 7 Bl 2 UL
AREERES PR -

2.20 Employee benefits 220 BEEEF
(i)  Short-term obligations () HEHEMF
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including EBEEZWMEHRNRS

non-monetary benefits that are expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as
accruals and other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits (Continued) 220 EEER (#)
(iij) Pension obligations (i) EBUKELEMF

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan
that is not a defined contribution plan.

For defined contribution plans, the Group
pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

(iii) Bonus entitlements

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

(@iii)

EREFFEEARNEER
BYERNEEHRRD
BAREFE -HAERES
VTEEHEERMBRES
SATRDEAEE E HI R Y (8
BRBEAN  AKEIE
EEHME R E IR
#E— F R TR A
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Share-based payments 221 URGAERHNAR

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment (@) URBRRZEURGHE

transactions BHHZE

The Group operates equity-settled, share- AEERE —HUERLE

based compensation plans, under which B AR 0 A R B AT

the entity receives services from grantees as 2B BERBEEARA

consideration for equity instruments (options) of G RIEERAN S EER

the Group. The fair value of the services received TH(BRE ORE-K

in exchange for the grant of the options is i B s A T AR R JE 1S B AR

recognised as an expense. The total amount to BRFERRR/FXZ

be expensed is determined by reference to the RAXHNEET2ERK

fair value of the options granted: HEREN QA FEET

g

e including any market performance o BEEMMISREK
conditions (for example, an entity’s share (Pl EEHRN
price); B

e excluding the impact of any service o IEIEFEMARFGAMIE
and non-market performance vesting Mg &RIEHBEGMH
conditions (for example, profitability, (BlanZ A ge 1 - 88
sales growth targets and remaining an EEREERNETE
employee of the entity over a specified HEATNAERENE
time period); and BINTE Rk

e including the impact of any non-vesting o  BIEFHBEMS
conditions (for example, the requirement I E KA AR TE
for grantees to save or holding shares for A AR B S B Ik

a specified period of time). M) HIFE -

REREHER  AEER
BT BRI LIRS G4
BRI EHEEEREHRE
BEEr - AEBEREE
2HEWEKERIEFTR R
HEr(nAE) M2 A

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company RIEREETER  AA
issues new shares. The proceeds received net Al BT o PTUCER Y
of any directly attributable transaction costs are FriS RIEBR IR E M B
credited to share capital. JEIE R S AN ET AR -

fied 8 S B AR AR A R R 3E
BUIRTS 5 R AR R 1 1 4808
U - 38 1 it 5% 5 T A R T
REEM AR KE B

Where the options are forfeited due to failure
by the grantees to satisfy service or performance
conditions, any expenses previously recognised
in relation to such options are reversed on the
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Share-based payments (Continued)

FESHBERE @)

221 URGBAERNOAR@E)

(b) Share-based payment transactions among (b) FEEREZEURGH
group entities EEHNHZE

QR A AR E B A A

MEREIRE  REIEA -

B EEREHRRTHE

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and

consultants of subsidiary undertakings in the R TENEBREDRA
Group is treated as a capital contribution. BARLE  -FEFRBER
The fair value of services received, measured ATFEDZEREANA
by reference to the grant date fair value, is FEFE THRBHANRE

RRYHBRRIRENE
me WHEFASRARE
BREAMER -

recognised over the vesting period as an increase
to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.

2.22 BE

EAEBAEBESMAHMAER
BAEREERMT  ARA 8
SIMERMENBEEE B
EHRESBOEAE[RER A
BREGE - MIRAREES

2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

IBRERBE -

WEZHEBUEE BITEME
BARLERNOAEETIEE
ERBETHEMNEEE - B
R —EEERAESNEM
—EEEmME  BRREOA

BEMERRDN - (D/RRERRRE -
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EEEMERXNEREETE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Provision for reinstatement cost 2.23 EERAEE

144
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Provision for reinstatement cost is included in other
payables and represents the present value of the
estimated cost for the restoration work of the Group’s
leased premises agreed to be carried out upon the

EER AR B AR ET A AR 5K
TR Y8 R R B R B AT A
A ERBREELOE D
BAKEERNMEETEE

expiry of the relevant leases using a risk-free pre- IRMKANRE EFRIE
tax interest rate. The provision has been determined HEHREMFTmMETEE - HE
by the directors based on their best estimates. The EERADRIVITERBETA
related reinstatement costs, upon initial recognition, REEHMBRAKRANEED
have been included as leasehold improvements in the ¥R (WE2.7) -

consolidated statement of financial position (Note 2.7).

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.

FHBENBRZERERLQF
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e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.24 W (8)

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on availability of observable
information.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from
providing medical services and sales of vision aid
products.

(a) Provision of ophthalmic services

The Group provides a range of ophthalmic
care, diagnostic, medical and surgical treatment
services at the eye centres, clinics and hospitals.
Revenue from ophthalmic services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the related
services are rendered and is recognised over the
period of the time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation.

HWeaHrkeRABHENE
ERZERBEREBILE
BEOREERBOEE -EEE
EEBTHEEREE NERE
B ANER KNG HET IS
A TTEEITEE  BE A E
R AR ERTE
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EREIAEEREAE - EZRE
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(a) REBHRARHE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETBERBE®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.24 W (8)
(b) Sales of vision aid products (b) HERDHEEG

Revenue from sales of vision aid products HER B Eme W
is recognised when control of the products REmEHI#EER (E
has transferred, being when the products mRXNTEFPE) B &
are despatched to the client and there is no RAETEASREEPE
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the ANEE o PR TERR ©

client’s acceptance of the products.

(c) Provision of other medical services (c) EUREMEERE

The Group provides a range of medical services AEBEBERER L 2
(dentistry, oncology, family medicine and FERRHZERERS
medical aesthetic), diagnostic, surgical treatment CF®b - EBE - REEZS
services at the medical centres, clinics and REBEXE) 2 B
hospitals. Revenue from medical services is B RTE o B AR S W a
recognised in the accounting period in which the IR AE B AR % 00 & 51 ER
related services are rendered and is recognised MR W2REE2ENT
over the period of the time by reference to B E R N Z HA N
the progress towards complete satisfaction of R o

performance obligation.

(d) Management fee income (d) EEEUA
Revenue from management fee services is ERERB WA IRE A
recognised in the accounting period in which BRI Gt BRI TR o

the related services are rendered.

2.25 Interest income 2.25 F B WA
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective FEWA S ¢/ EEMRMEZ
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a EXRAERNEEAESFL -

financial asset.

2.26 Leases — as a lessee 226 HE—ERAEMBEA
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a HERHEEERAHASE R
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased AERHMALREREEE LA
asset is available for use by the Group. ERE-
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e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Leases — as a lessee (Continued)

226 HE-EHBABAHE)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a
lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESTBEBME@®
POLICIES (Continued)
2.26 Leases - as a lessee (Continued) 226 HE-1ERFABA (B)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest HEMZFRARERESHF

rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily T LABLIR o W MOATE T & A

determined, which is generally the case for leases in R(AEENHEE—RBUILAE

the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is J) - B AR A S 2 &
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would = BNE B AR A TE 5B LA
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain RFEPEALGR B8 RE
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in HENEGREREEEEGE

a similar economic environment with similar terms, HUNEEMTESLEIM

security and conditions. B o

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the RETHEEEBHNE  KEH -

Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing o  EFEEEAT - EAER
received by the individual lessee as a starting EEARTESNE=R
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing A AR R
conditions since third party financing was REEESE=FREN
received; REE R E

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk- e FAZRINE BEERAS
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for B EHENEERR
leases held by the Group, which does not have (RETEE=HME)H
recent third party financing; and BEREBAE R

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. o ETRERMEANHE -
term, country, currency and security. PITHARR - BIR - E¥ &

o

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available fis & Bl A AP AR 5 R ER

to the individual lessee (through recent financing or ENHEERNE (BRKON

market data) which has a similar payment profile to MELTIHEE) - MEMFKMK
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a REEEREM AEEEEH

starting point to determine the incremental borrowing VA 5% FI| 2 1 /3 HH 3% B oK 78 5E 3

rate. EfERAE o

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in 7N & B 5K 2R ] B AR R 8 sk A

variable lease payments based on an index or rate, & 3% 0 T S AT B R & EE

which are not included in the lease liability until they hn - A B R B R R AR AR
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments Mg AHEAGE ERE
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability BHAMEHEENTIELD
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use HELANE HEaFETRIE
asset. LA EEITEINL AR -
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e M ARMEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHREBE®
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Leases — as a lessee (Continued)

226 HE-EHBABAE)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs; and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it
has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings
held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss without a purchases option.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

2.28 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED HHERBEBEZERERA A
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e M ARMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the board of
directors. The board provides principles for overall risk
management.

(a) Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument fluctuates
because of the changes in foreign
exchange rates.

The subsidiaries of the Group mainly
operate in HK and Mainland China with
most of the transactions settled in HK$
and Renminbi ("RMB") respectively.
Foreign exchange rate risk arises when
recognised financial assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

B 7 L B 1
3.1 MERAKREZR
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

0]

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the financial
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries of
the Group in HK and Mainland China are
primarily denominated in HK$ and RMB,
respectively (2020: same).

As at 31 December 2021, the result
of the foreign exchange difference on
translation of US$ denominated cash and
cash equivalents of subsidiaries with RMB
as their functional currency is immaterial
(2020: same).

The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its foreign
exchange risk profile, and will consider
appropriate hedging measures in the
future, as may be necessary.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
refer to the changes in cash flows or fair
value of a financial instrument as a result
of fluctuations in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate
risk through the impact of rate changes
on interest bearing assets and liabilities.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
In the opinion of directors, the expected
change in fair values as a results of
change in market interest rates will not be
significant, thus no sensitivity analysis is
presented.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings
at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. Management monitors
interest rate fluctuations to ensure that
exposure to interest rate risk is within an
acceptable level and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should
the need arises.

The Group’'s cash flow interest rate
risk mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings at floating
interest rates. As at 31 December 2021,
if interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$498,000 higher/lower
(2020: post-tax loss HK$440,000 higher/
lower), mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate bank balances and borrowings.

(b) Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
bank deposits with original maturity over three
months and cash and cash equivalents. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBEREREREm
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BIEEBEER@)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1=EEE (&)
(i) Risk management (i) EpEE

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(i)

In respect of cash and cash equivalents
and bank deposits with original maturity
over three months, the credit risk is
considered to be low as the counterparties
are reputable banks, with credit ratings
from AA3 to BAA3. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the
past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate
of cash and cash equivalents and bank
deposits with original maturity over three
months are assessed to be insignificant
and no provision was made as of 31
December 2021.

The Group, being a provider of medical
services to patients, has a highly diversified
client base, without any single client
contributing material revenue. Moreover,
some of the Group’s revenue is settled
by reputable commercial companies and
local government on behalf of patients.
The Group has controls to closely monitor
the patients’ billing and payment status
by communication with commercial
companies and local government to
minimise the credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period
of 48 months before 31 December 2021
and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the gross domestic product and
inflation rate of the countries in which it
sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

The expected credit loss rates for trade
receivables are considered as immaterial
and loss allowance provision recognised
for these balances for the year is less than
1%.

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1

B 7% B P B B ()
B R EE (8)
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b) EEmpE (F)

(i) EWMEERRE(E)

For other financial assets at amortised MAIRE AT E R
cost, including deposits and other HtemEE (B
receivables, management considers that its e &H M E R
credit risk has not increased significantly F)ME - BEEL
since initial recognition with reference to 2ERXSGHFHRESL
the counterparty historical default rate BHER B AH T

and current financial position. The Group
measures credit risk using Probability
of Default (“PD"), Exposure at Default
("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD").
The Group’s deposits and other receivables
are not credit-impaired and are classified

RRE REEEE
[\ B B 7] 2 e R LA R
I 4 R HRIE 0 © AR £
#E\ R K 2 R K &
BMEFERR A%

in “Stage 1”. The impairment provision B ize REMER
is determined based on the 12-month FIE EAZ ERME -

expected credit losses which is less than
1%.

VEHEBERIF K
Bl BERETR
1218 A R HIE
EEBR(ERN1%) &

T o
Impairment losses on other financial R ARSI AR EY H
assets at amortised cost are presented as fth & BE ERUREE
net impairment losses within operating BRI REEFNEA
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts BB BRI FE &
previously written off are credited against 1& W 15 5% AT 2 A8 &Y
the same line item. AT AR —A7%18

g -

(c) Liquidity risk () wmEMEE

Prudent liquidity risk management implies FEEORDERBRERE
maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances, EHREZXRR & RIRITHE

the availability of funding from an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities from
leading banks and the ability to close out market
position.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of
sources including orderly realisation of short-
term financial assets, receivables and certain
assets that the Group considers appropriate
and long term financing including long-term
borrowings are also considered by the Group
in its capital structuring. The Group aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient bank balances, committed credit lines
available and interest bearing borrowings which
enable the Group to continue its business for
the foreseeable future.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BI¥EMEZE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) () mEMEE (&)

The table below analyses the financial liabilities TR AL E RSB
of the Group into relevant maturity groupings BRAKRBHESGOER
based on the remaining period at the date of Aayeh T B 2l 5 A48
statement of financial position to the contractual APRAEATNERBEE-
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the TP BENSEARME
table were the contractual undiscounted cash GHRESREREAEET
flows and the earliest date the Group can be BERERNRNRFHE -
required to pay. Balance within 12 months equal HRITEZEL FEXR
their carrying balances as impact at discounting WA BB AR AR E R
is not significant. HERMEA R

Between Between Total
Within 1 1and2 2and5 Over  contractual Carrying
On demand year years years Syears  cash flows amount

aHRERE

Bnf a8
- )

As at 31 December 2021 RNENANE

Trade payables 2REAE - 39,366 - - - 39,366 39,866
Accualsand otherpayebles  [E3FBE REMEFE - 41920 1475 - - 49395 49395
Amount due to arelaed party B~ BB 3 - - - - 3 3
Amounts due tonon-controling - A3 ER SR

interests 3,961 - - - - 3961 3,961
Loan from a non-controling 6

interest - - - 8,618 - 8,618 15%
Bortowings B3 181,939 - - - - 181,939 179,406
Lease libiliies BEBE - 97,081 15,840 109,831 38,024 320,776 284,690

185,933 184,867 71315 118,449 38,04 604,588 564,946

Asat31December200  200E12831H

Trade payables 2FENTE - 1903 - - - 1903 19033
Acrualsand other payebles  ExE B R A EMFE - 30,344 1825 8 L 0647 32647

Amount duetoa elted party BRI -2BEA3E 3 - - - - 3 3
Lease [iailtes el - 76,650 61,295 95,281 44805 278031 244,965

3 126,017 63,120 95,759 44805 329,74 29,658
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and bank balances. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt, where applicable.

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio is not
applicable due to net cash position (2020: same).

Fair value estimation

The carrying values of the Group’s current financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, bank deposits with original maturity over
three months and cash and cash equivalents, and the
Group’s current financial liabilities, including trade
payables, accruals and other payables and amount due
to a related party approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities.

3
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3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial asset
at FVOCI carried at fair value as at 31 December 2021
by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2021
Financial assets at FVPL

R2021%12A318
BERVEFABSZNERE
EE

Level 1

F1R

HK$000

FET

3.3

DNFEMF )

TREFEAFEMBEERS
EHABEBNEREAEER
202112 A31 B AFEARE
MZAFEFAEMEZERA
MNEeREEETON ZFH
ANEERFEESZT D BT
“EE:

Level 2
F2
HK$'000
FHET

HREEXBBERERED
LR HRE CREFHE) (F1
) e

BEENABFEAER (AE
%) s (B EREL)
BENBAEEIRAEe
REVRERRIN (240 -

BEFABYIHFERNAE
EMBHENEAE R
TRRIBRBAE) (F3R)

Total

AL
=]

Level 3
E3MR
HK$000
FET

HK$'000
TET

- Listed equity investment - ETkRERE 55,704 - - 55,704
Financial assets at FVOC| BLTEGAEMZA
BARERERE
— Unlisted equity investment — L MRARE - - 52,575 52,575
Total financial assets CREELE 55,704 = 52,575 108,279
As at 31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
Financial assets at FVOC| BATEGAEMZA
haZfemEE
— Unlisted equity investment —FrTIRARE - - 52,575 52,575
Total financial assets CREELAE - - 52,575 52,575

There were no transfers between levels during the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: same).

REZE2021F12A31 B IEF
E  ZFEHzETEERE (2020
F 4R o



3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
financial instruments for the year ended 31 December
2021:

Balance as at 1 January 2020
Additions =Y

3.3

R2020F1 B 1BENES

DNFEMF )

WM—IARIA EEXREAEBEILI
ERABEEmERE LA
BIGt AZE 34 ©

TEREMEE2021F12A31H
IEFEEIREBMTAENE

Unlisted equity
investment

e §:

IRRE
HK$'000
THT

52,575

Balance as at 31 December 2020 and 2021

2020 F % 2021 F 12 31 B & 84 52,575

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income — unlisted equity investment

The unlisted equity investments of the Group including
Avalon Global Holdings Limited, a company engaged
in developing healthcare solutions across the fields
of biopharma, diagnostics and medical devices and
BELKIN Laser Ltd., a startup company engaged in the
development of disruptive technology. Management
considered that the fair value at initial recognition
equals the transaction price for both investments.
Given that the current operations and business plans
of both investments are consistent with the Company’s
expectation at the acquisition date and there is no
material milestone event between the transaction date
and the year end, the Group determines that there
has been no material change in the fair value during
the year.

BAFEFAEMBEZERAN
TREE-FLTMBRARE

REBEMFELETRAREBRE
Avalon Global Holdings Limited
(—FRREEREYHIEE D&
BEESBERERERERAR
77 EH) A7) K BELKIN Laser Ltd.
(—HRE=EREBEMENT
BIR7A]) - BERERLSMERS
) 2 R BT R FE G HE A
SEEZ - ERERMNERE
M BENEBAEBFEAR
AR BB TEER - 0 B R
SEBEFHEBZATEERE
BEEM AEEREFARQ
SR IERIZ N A
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in HK and
Mainland China. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are some transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences would impact the current
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

EEGR AR R
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KRR -
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SRR R T e B e E
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C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Share-based payment

The Group has awarded equity instruments to eligible
directors, senior management, ophthalmologists,
physicians, employees and consultants. The Group
has used binomial and Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the total fair value of the equity
instruments awarded. Significant estimates on key
assumptions are required to be made by the Company
in determining the fair value of the equity instruments.

Estimation of the fair value of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined using
valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement
to select a variety of methods and make assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the table
in Note 3.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment according to their recoverable
amounts determined by the cash-generating units
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates including five-year sales
growth rate, estimated growth rate beyond the five-
year period and discount rate which are subject to
change of economic environment in future. Details are
set out in Note 15.

4
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()

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). These calculations require the
use of judgements and estimates including five-year
sales growth rate, estimated growth rate beyond the
five-year period and discount rate which are subject to
change of economic environment in future.

(a) Revenue

(f)

(a)

ME BERRERERE

BEERME

el (E A7) =5 4 AR L & ) RO PR
EEF e el @ - BIMZE - M
BEh&EkEREEERER
BRIl EREENR
FEREHEXRANRERER
ME RS E - AT EREM
5 OEBEHRAEFIRSR R
TELEEM)E BENSER
AR o 52 5t B A A #H
Kbt BREAFHEERE .
AFEHAEZBEIBRER LR
BER ZERARAREBEREES) -

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2021 2020
202145 20204
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Provision of ophthalmic services IR R R AR 920,049 605,607
Sales of vision aid products HER NEWBIEM 140,342 93,938
Provision of other medical services RHEMERERS 52,186 -
1,112,577 699,545

Timing of revenue recognition Wit 25 B 7 Y B i
Over time R —ER B R A 972,235 605,607
At a point in time A T 18] B R 24 140,342 93,938
1,112,577 699,545




(b) Liabilities related to contract with customers

(c)

The Group has recognised the following liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

Contract liabilities — advanced

payments received from clients BRI

BHEBE-CREPH

(b) BEFENERANERE

AEEEERUTHESEL
BRAMEAIE:

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2021 2020
20204
HK$ 000
FET

20214
HK$’000
F T

10,728 8,603

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31
December 2021 that was included in the contact
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year
amounted to approximately HK$8,603,000 (2020:
HK$7,897,000).

Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used to making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker is
identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The executive directors consider the business from
a client perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements.

Management considers the business is mainly located
in HK and Mainland China, which the revenue and
segment results are determined by the geographical
location in which the client is operated. Management
has therefore identified the reportable segment based
on the Group's geographic perspective, namely HK
and Mainland China.

(o)

HE2021412831HIEFE -
AAFVIEHNABESRHNERE
U 25 48,603,000 7T (2020
£ : 7,897,000/ 7T) °

ERERBEHIERLERRE
EHMARARNREETL
BB TBRERAREWRA
ERARBOMITES - H1T
EENEPNARKREERT -
AR 5 7GR Uk a1 Ko o B S A T
BEEDHNRR  UDEE
REFERE - RERE R
BURE M ISR AR EERE -

BEEERA ARARATE
W& LB AR RS
B sk D BEREBELKESE
FIERMIZMAEIRE - At &
BEREBEASENMIEMCE (A
ERRBEAM) EERE®RD

=



() Segment information (Continued) () 7ZEER ()
)

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, EARTBEAEYDE BW5E
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and R CRREERETLEE

intangible assets.

Other income, other gains/losses, net, finance income/ Haplg A~ ek B EF
costs, net, share of profit/loss of associates and income 2 MR RAFE - b
tax expense are not included in segment results. e A RIFDE BB RER

P RET A DB ©

The segment results for the year ended 31 December HE2021F12A31BLEFERN
2021 are as follows: DEEEETIAT

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZ2021F12831BILEE
Mainland
HK China Total

FR A it &t
HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$'000
TET TET FTET

Segment revenue 7 #B UL ER 543,909 568,668 1,112,577

Gross profit EF| 154,383 203,845 358,228

Selling expenses SHE R (9,330) (117,112)  (126,442)
Administrative expenses THF (72,421)  (161,694)  (234,115)
Segment results DHEBEE 72,632 (74,961) (2,329)
Other income E A A 10,580

Other gains, net H iU o5 58 16,492

Finance income B AU A 4,475

Finance costs B 755 A 7R (12,995)
Share of profit of associates paN iy NI I 10,652

Profit before income tax B P15 4 B A1) 26,875

Income tax expense FrigRiF X2 (10,645)
Profit for the year FNFE 16,230

Other segment information Hth 2 2B & ¥

Additions to non-current assets KB IERENE E 67,743 149,148 216,891

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & K §§ (49,042) (99,539) (148,581)

Losses on disposal of property, HEWE « BE Mi&iE
plant and equipment, net K E 1R F 58 (607) 9) (616)




() Segment information (Continued) () 7ZEER ()

The segment results for the year ended 31 December HZE2020F12 A31HIEFED
2020 are as follows: DEEERIIAT -

Year ended 31 December 2020
HZE2020F 12 A31 HILEE

Mainland
HK China Total
BB P =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TFET TFET TFET
Segment revenue 7 EB UL AR 339,928 359,617 699,545
Gross profit E7 87,587 106,490 194,077
Selling expenses HERX (7,513) (62,372) (69,885)
Administrative expenses T (36,199) (103,077) (139,276)
Segment results DEBHELE 43,875 (58,959) (15,084)
Other income E A 12,913
Other gains, net H bWz 5 58 10,247
Finance income IR ON 5,056
Finance costs B 78 B 7R (10,352)
Share of loss of an associate %31 — R B & A R & 18 (276)
Profit before income tax B P45 15 A1 A1) R 2,504
Income tax expense FrigBiF X (10,916)
Loss for the year FANEE (8,412)
Other segment information  H fth % 5 & ¥}
Additions to non-current assets & JER E) & E 182,982 344,893 527,875
Depreciation and amortisation — #7T & & 1 4 (33,800) (79,762) (113,562)
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE - HENEBHD
plant and equipment, net 18558 (3) (33) (36)
No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is BRI E R ENITEEREM®
presented as they are not regularly provided to the NEEERBES N W&
executive directors. ZIZEFEDN -
There is no single external client contributed more HE2021F12A3MHIEFE -
than 10% to the Group's revenue for the year ended MEE —IHEPERON =
31 December 2021 (2020: same). IEAREE W EH) 10% A L (2020

F R ©



Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLEE

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Management fee income (Note 33) BB (F13E33) 5,776 114
Rent concessions HEER - 3,524
Government grants (Note) B 48 Bh (Bt #E) 4,468 8,723
Others EAh 336 552
10,580 12,913
Note: There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies st W EBHEZEHRBEITIHRESL
attaching to these grants. The Group did not benefit directly Bk RER AEBUEEER
from any other forms of government assistance. HRNMERIE AR E BT E B -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2021 2020

20215 2020 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Losses on disposal of property, plantand H&E¥% « HE &R &

equipment, net BiEFR (616) (36)
Gain on early termination of lease AT E 8 e 452 -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBARMEIE (4,499) -
Gains on financial assets at fair value BEAFEFABGN SR

through profit or loss BENW S 16,711 37
Exchange gains, net P& 5 Uk 25 5 28 4,444 10,246

16,492 10,247




Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2021 2020
20204F
HK$ 000
FHET

20214
HK$’000
F T

Amortisation of intangible assets mREERE (WiE15)

(Note 15) 1,187 886
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B R 5 B

— Audit services — TR 2,100 1,800

— Non-audit services —JEEF RS 66 96
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BERZHITE

equipment (Note 13) (FF7E13) 50,593 41,896
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (MW:E14)

(Note 14) 96,801 70,780
Write-off on property, plant and MsE Y2~ BB R R

equipment (Note 13) (FtsE13) = 1,363
Doctors’ consultation fees Bive 204,623 139,456
Cost of inventories and consumables Fa RFEMRA (K13 16)

(Note 16) 272,259 163,761
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) BB (i) 277,065 170,413
Short-term lease expenses EHAERY 2,353 1,262
Legal and professional fees FREREEEA 10,132 5,985
Share option expenses to doctors and BT E4 REMERE

consultants EEMFEY 25 2,813
Promotion expenses EERY 125,660 69,411
Bank service charges RITREE A 8,877 5,660
Repair and maintenance fees HIERREER 8,856 4,970
Subcontracting fees INELE 4,997 -
Others Hih 49,312 34,077
Total cost of revenue, selling and SHEMAE - HE RITHAX

administrative expenses k) 1,114,906 714,629




Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#T
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances T& -~ #r& ~ fE41 MEAL 252,296 158,830

Retirement benefit costs — defined RIRBFIAK A — T BB 3RGT
contribution schemes (Note (a)) 2 (MI5E @) 17,986 7,254
Staff welfare and benefits BETHEMNEF = 2,553 2,126

Share option expenses to employees and
directors BENEEMNERERS 4,230 2,203
277,065 170,413
Note: B

Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution schemes

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are members of
the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
Mainland China government. The Group contributes a certain
percentage of the salaries of the subsidiaries’ employees, and
has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions
or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
The state-managed retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s
and the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 per month effective since 1 June 2014, and
thereafter contributions are voluntary.

RRRERBA — E B RET S

AR EE B A S A R R
NBERFTEFNBERETEEN
BRRBMEBIMKE - AREIZH
BrrlEETEN —FEADLIED
HH BRERERIN BAE—F
EEEFRARES N RIRKRREN
MEME - BREF ERARIKEE
AERRKEE XN RAS 2
Bff e

REECZHEBTBREEZ MR
MAEESFE (EEEETE]) -4
BB ABUITAAEEN—18
EREEHEE - RIERBES TS
rEELREREEGRAZRREEAR
(EERAmEMEAESED) K5%
Mzt EEE R - A EBE RES
WE AR ERB2014F6 A1H
A1,5008 T RN EAEERE
Mg .



(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s () EERTHEARMNE

emoluments

The remunerations of each director and the Chief AEEBSEERTHRARNE
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31 22021 F 12 B3 HILFEMNH
December 2021 are set out below: N

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
PHEES (FRRAEE ARAZENEAANES) WAL
RUNBEMXADENZALHNE
Employer's
contribution

toa

Allowances  retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit  Share-based
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme  payment
CELE
RER  RAHE BRHA
fi¢ e BEEA  RDBEY  RHOUR  ERBAR aif
HKS000  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOO  HKSUOD
FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEr

Yearended 31 December 201 EZ201ENANMAL

Frecutive directors
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
("Dr. Dennis LAM")

(Chief Executive Officer) (Note (i) 20 5,760 - - 8 - 6,018
. LI Xiaoting (“Ms. LI") (Note (i)
- 3,000 - 18 18 1804 5,605
Mr. L Chun Shan (Note (i) - 505 - - - - 505
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Note (ii) 20 - = = - M 452
Incleoendent non-executive directors 75
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald 20 - - - - - A0
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung 20 - - - - - 20
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong 240 - - - - - 240
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang 20 = - = - = 240
Mr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen (Note () ErFR {8554 (Rizt() 299 - - - - - 29
M. P Shu Kwan Stephen (Note (i) iv)) 20 = = = = = 20

1979 9,265 - 183 36 2016 14,079




(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s (a) EERTHARZMES &
emoluments (Continued)

The remunerations of each director and the Chief AEEBSEERTHRATNE
Executive Officer of the Group for the year ended 31 £2020F 12 31 HILFEMH
December 2020 are set out below: B an T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Group, the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
ke &R ALARTENBAINES)NAL

Employer's
contribution
foa
Allowances ~ retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit  Share-based
Fegs Salaries bonuses in kind scheme payment

i

B& R BEEL  EMEM ReRR EMeNR 4%
HS000 HKS000 AKS U0 HKS 000 { HKS 000

Yearended 31 December 2020 EZ2020£125318
LEE

Frecutive directors
Dr. LAM Shun Chiu Dennis
("Dr. Dennis LAM")

(Chief Executive Officer) (Note (i) - 3,600 - - 18 - 3618
s, LI Xiaoting ("Ms. L") (Note (i)
- 1,800 - 794 18 601 3213
Mr. LI Chun Shan (Note (i) - 47 61 - - 9 541
Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent (Note i) 240 - - - - 472 712
Incleoendent non-executive directors %0
Dr. LI Kwok Tung Donald 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. MA Andrew Chiu Cheung 240 - - - - - 240
Mr. CHAN Chi Leong 10 - - - - - 240
Ms. BENTLEY Annie Liang 240 - - - - - 20
Mr Rext AUYEUNG Pak-Kuen (Note (v) BT 8 £ (B3 () 37 - - - - - 37
M. 1P Shu Kwan Stephen (Note (i)~ EHZ % (B () 3 - - - - - 3

1214 5871 b1 19 3 1,082 9,118
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

vﬁéﬁ!ﬁ%iﬁ% By &
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EERIFZ(BREEMD)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) ()

() EERITRARME (&)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's
emoluments (Continued)

GEE

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The remuneration of Dr. Dennis LAM shown in the
tables represent remuneration received and receivable
from the Group by him in his capacities as a director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
an ophthalmologist to the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: same).

The remunerations of Ms. LI and Mr. LI Chun Shan
shown in the tables represent remuneration received
and receivable from the Group by them in their
capacities as directors of the Company and employees
to the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: same).

The remunerations of Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent
represent remunerations received and receivable
from the Group by him in his capacity as a director of
the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2021, Dr. LEE Yau Wing Vincent received doctors’
consultation fees of approximately HK$26,431,000
(2020: HK$21,986,000).

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen was appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company
on 6 November 2020.

Mr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-kuen was appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company
on 6 November 2020 and as the vice chairman of the
board of directors on 2 November 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
aggregate amounts of remuneration including fees,
salaries, discretionary bonuses, allowances and benefits
in kind, employer’s contribution to a retirement
benefit scheme, share-based payment and doctors’
consultation fees which were paid by the Group to the
directors were approximately HK$40,510,000 (2020:
HK$31,104,000).

No remunerations are paid or receivables in respect of
accepting office as director during the year ended 31

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

PP ) K IE 5 B AE O i B
EHREZE2021F12 A 31
AEFEERARARIESTR
THRAHEARANEB R 5
A B K FE W & LAY A
(20204 : fMA) °

KFZEa+REFLL
& B e R SR E 2021
FNRANALEFEERETRA
RIEERAEEEESE WK
JE W 7R &= B 09 % B (2020 4F -
R o

FEEBENFIERIEAR
NRAIEFERRERAEER
HIH Bl - R ELZ 2021512 A
BNALEFE FHEBEW
B £ E B#426,431,000
7 78 (20204F : 21,986,000 7%
JT) e

B AR 20209 11 A6
AEZXTAEARARIBILIEH
TEE -

B RZ 1A 4E 5T £ 7 2020F 11 A
6 AEZ T ABARNREILIERN
TEE R2021F11 A28
BZEAREZGRIER -

REE2021F12A318 1L F
B AEEMRE SN 5
wRE(BEEE Fe BB
4 RBREWRERA - BERR
K18 F &H &I E A 50 - BARR
DAEBEONZIALELEZ D)
B #740,510,0007 7T (20204 :
31,104,000/ 7T) °

REE2021F12A8318 1L F
EoMEsEENESHEMm

December 2021 (2020: Nil). TSR A BN S (20204F < £E) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ARMEE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 9 EERIFAZ(BEESEMS)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)

() EERITRARME (&)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's

emoluments (Continued)

No emoluments are paid or receivable in respect
of directors’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

No directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no
retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2020: Nil). No consideration was provided
to or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2020: Nil).

There is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled
body corporates and connected entities of such
directors during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
Nil).

REE2021F12A3181LF
B BERESEATEAAAK
HEWB AR EBHAIEHEMEAM
PR 75 M 2 A< sk FE IR B B 2 (2020
Fo4E) o

REE2021F 128318 1L F
EoBMEERERESRERE
B4 (20204 : )

REE2021F12A8318 1L F
B BERKIEEREHE
FEEIEEINSIEEHR
REF - R EEF - TR
3\ ¥R B8 A I < ZROA (2020 4F -
&) MERESESERS MM
FoHRERMRESE=S
BIEREN (2020 4F : 4&) o

REE2021F12A3181LF
B MENEERITHE S
MEERBEEREATEAD
BER - EERREMRZLH
(20204 : f#) o

ARG EFT L BAREBMER
W MARBEERNHEFEH
EoEEHREEAREZ AR
HE2021F12A31BILEESE
KA EMEMIDATENERKR
R RHRAH (20205 &) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z&E = —FF3}
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(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest amongst the directors and employees in the
Group include three (2020: three) directors, Dr. LEE
Yau Wing Vincent, Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI (2020:
same), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above for the year ended 31 December
2021. The emoluments payable to the remaining
two (2020: two) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2021 are as follows:

(b) EEEEHFMAL

REZE2021F12 831 HLIEHF
E-AEBEERESEFHER
HEREHMATBEIE=% (2020
FZR)ES(FHEEE
MIEEEE A K 22240 ) (2020 4F -
R - BENFHNREE X
ZFE DT o REIE 202112
A3MBIEFE ENHBTMWA
(20204 : W 4) A T 89 3 B &
B

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020
20215 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAET
Wages, salaries, and allowances TE - FHekER 3,150 2,241
Bonuses TEAT 480 272
Pension costs RIS AR 36 36
Share-based payments VARR (7 2 EHE 89 5 50 - 14
3,666 2,563
The emoluments fell within the following bands: FMEA TEER

Emolument bands s E

Number of individuals
AE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31B8LFEE
2021 2020
20215 20204

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 ;% 7T % 1,500,000

BT 1 _

HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000
BT 1 1
2 2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of these highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

FAAEEBERREEM
ZERDHFMALTMBEREH
MBEAEEE  ER/EKE
BRI E T R ESHE B E -



(c) Senior management () SHREEE

The remuneration of the members of the senior REZE2021F12A31BIEEE
management by band for the year ended 31 LZHEEE NS REREKE
December 2021 is set forth below: R F ST T

Number of individuals
AE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31B8LEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
Emolument bands N E E
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 22 1,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T % 1,500,000
BT 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000
BT 1 _

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
Finance income BTN
Bank interest income RITH B A 4,475 5,056
4,475 ”””””579576”
Finance costs B 75 A A
Interest expense on leases HEFBMRAE (12,533) (10,352)
Interest expense on loan from a non- IR EREROF BT
controlling interest (270) -
Interest expense on bank loan SRITERF B X (192) -
(12,995) (10,352)

Finance costs, net B RS AR AN TR EE (8,520) (5,296)




Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BIZE2021F12A31BIEEE - &

16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits B 1S B BE Al AT R SR R R B R
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 16.5% (20204F : 16.5%) 5T IR 5B -
The applicable tax rate for the subsidiaries in Mainland HE2021F12831HIEFE A&
China of the Group was 25% (2020: 25%) for the year AR A BARMNERREA
ended 31 December 2021. 25% (20204 : 25%) °

Under the new Corporate Income Tax Law, corporate BBEFREMETE - REBTMAK
withholding income tax is levied on the foreign investor SN B B A SR INE 1R 3P 2008
incorporated in Hong Kong for dividend which arises from FIRAVBERIOFBERESOR
profit of foreign investment enterprises earned after 1 BRI ZE 5% BN EIEHEH -

January 2008 at a tax rate of 5%.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated N BEGEE2ERERNTIESEA
statement of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current income tax BN EAFT1S %X

— Hong Kong profits tax —BENEN 14,495 8,714

— China enterprise income tax —H B ERTER 3,051 2,445
Over-provision in prior years BAFEBREEE (852) (1,154)
Deferred income tax (Note 27) BEIEFTS R (H5E27) (6,049) 911

Income tax expense FriSfiF = 10,645 10,916




The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs REERAASTATNER B E A

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the L?ﬁﬁﬁ%l AIAE ) InkE B R
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the Group HEEHMERBENZENT :

companies as follows:

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLEE

2021 pAOA)
20214 20204
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Profit before income tax M P15 &L R0 A E 26,875 2,504
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate RERANS e AR ER
applicable to loss in respective WE M EFENTIE
jurisdictions (3,094) (5,364)
Tax effects of: THBENRBLE
Income not subject to tax REMA (6,380) (3,373)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AR A
purpose 21 4,095
Tax losses for which no deferred income WERBERELEMSHEE
tax assets was recognised B 18 B 18 21,783 17,098
Withholding tax on royalty income FHEWANTEN 847 345
Over-provision in prior years BT FEHEERE (852) (1,154)
Recognition of previously unrecognised R R AR ERMNFIA
tax losses &8 (726) (83)
Tax concession HIBEE (1,144) (648)

Income tax expense Frisfif = 10,645 10,916




(a) Basic (a)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue.

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity

holders of the Company during the K8, (E518) (T 7T)

FARRAEDT B ARE

X

FREARF, (BER) BEAR
SR A ARIERE, (&)
B AE 1T B m AN 19 2

N
ArS °

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2020
2020 4F

2021
20215

year (HK$'000) 21,861 (6,246)
Weighted average number of BT E BRI T8
ordinary shares in issue 1,148,202,532 1,104,171,570
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREARZF, (EE)
(HK cents) (&AL 1.90 (0.57)
Note: B 5t

(i) The earnings/(loss) per share as presented above is
calculated using the weighted average number of
1,148,202,532 (2020: 1,104,171,570) ordinary shares
deemed to be in issue for the year ended 31 December
2021.

i) LEEXAAWBRAFN(E
B) DI EE2021%F12A
BSTHIEFERESEHTH
1,148,202,532 f% (20204 :
1,104,171,570 %) & 3@ A% hn
FHEEE -



(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group has one (2020: Nil)
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2021, 200,000 post-IPO share
options (2020: 1,600,000 pre-IPO share options and
6,514,000 post-IPO share options) outstanding are not
included in the calculation of diluted earnings (2020:
loss) per share because they are antidilutive for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

(b) #§

BRESRR (BB HRH&
EEBMAAREE INT R
B WBBHABRZETEIINE
B ME TS SETTE -
HE2021F12A31HIEFE
KNEGE —E (20204 : &) A
BEBENNLER -

2021412 A31 8 » 200,000
MEATENBTRAFREE
%A% HE (20204 : 1,600,000
MBEBRAREEIBERER
6,514,000 B X AFHAEE%ZE
f&i) MErE B IREEE AT (2020
F BB RBTES A LTIH
Rz EEREREZ2021F12
A3MBIFEEREEER -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEEE

2021 2020
20215 20204

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity FARRAEZTFB ARG
holders of the Company during the  F3E, (§518) (T8 7T)

year (HK$'000)

21,861 (6,246)

Weighted average number of ordinary 2 217 % 38 B AN 4E F 15

shares in issue

Adjustments for: AT EIBEELFHE
—ERET SR

— impact of the share option
schemes

1,148,202,532 1,104,171,570

2,529,558 -

Weighted average number of ordinary AR T E SR ESER T,/
shares for diluted earnings/(loss) per  (JE518) #) & i A% hnE F 5

share 2

1,150,732,090 1,104,171,570

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREERTF(BEE)

(HK cents) GBI

1.90 (0.57)




Office

Medical Leasehold  furniture and Computer Motor  Construction
Building equipment  improvements fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
HOBER
BERE REUERE BEkE BERE hE kRIR a3t
k000 HK$000 Hk$000 HK$000 HK$000 Hk$000 Hk$000
At 1 January 2020 20051518
Cost s - 178,310 79353 791 1791 3176 2516 29121
Accumulated depreciation  Z&TE - (54,762) 47863) (5,251) (4802) (2,076) - (114,754
Net book amount REFE - 123,608 31490 2670 2,989 1,100 2516 164,373
Year ended 31 December EZ200%12A31A
00 18:3:
Opening net book amount  EANEEFE - 123,608 31,490 2670 2,99 1,100 2516 164373
Additions hE 19,168 31,74 17733 1362 2,049 - 8,678 80,731
Additions through j
acquisition of subsidiaries - 5144 556 - - 3 - 5703
Disposals - (28) - (1) (5 @) - (37
Wiite-off i - (1,363) - - - - - (1363
Depreciation e - (20,299 (18,658) (939) (1,646) (354) - (41,89%)
Currency tranglation NEpREZRE
differences - 8,103 1,564 9% 181 IE] 653 10,639
Closing net book amount~ EREFFE 19,168 146,906 32,685 3,187 3,568 789 11,847 218,150
At31December2020 2020512331
Cost Ak 19,168 223,100 102,395 9,618 10349 3324 11847 380,401
Accumulated depreciation  2347E - (76,7%4) (69,710) (6431) (6,781) (25%) - (162,251)
Net book amount BETE 19,168 146,906 32,685 3,187 3,568 789 11,847 218,150
Year ended 31 December £Z2021512831A
2021 LEE
Opening net book amount  EAIHEFE 19,168 146,906 32,685 3,187 3,568 789 11847 218,150
Addtions HE = 65,121 42,944 2,735 4m 2,906 8,819 121,302
Additons through bl
acquistion of subsidiaries € - 1310 4,855 1,109 87 - - 13421
Transfer L2 = - 13,059 = - = (13,059) =
Disposals i - 6) (607) - (1) = = (625)
Disposal of asubsidiary ~ HE-FMEAR - (1172) (4.880) (56) (198) (104) - (12410)
Depreciation Vi = (26,345) (19.951) (1,350) (232) (623) - (50,593)
Currency tranglation NEREEE
differences 583 4,546 1,099 Y] 113 n 21 6,716
Closing net book amount~ EXREEFE 19,751 190420 69,204 5,667 6,011 3010 789 301,961
At31December 2021 20215126318
Cost A 19,751 300,631 169,002 15,691 1517 6,224 7,89 534,374
Accumulated depreciation  Z5F17E - (110211) (99,798) (10,024) (9,166) (3.214) - (232413)
Net book amount FE 19,751 190,420 69,204 5,667 6,011 3,010 7,89 301,961




Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated statement RiFE2E WA R NBRNTEE RS
of comprehensive income is as follows: T

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Cost of revenue & KA 38,226 33,527
Administrative expenses THAX 12,367 8,369
50,593 41,896
This note provides information for leases where the Group is UEF s Ek 5 B AR S B E RAFE AR
a lessee. FIVHERER -
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHBRRAEREIANSE
statement of financial position L
The consolidated statement of financial position shows FEMBRAXRBRATEH
the following balances relating to the leases: HEMAER

As at
P

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
2021 20204F
12H31H 12 A31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties LIES 256,361 228,389
Land use right + b A A 338,514 336,511
Medical equipment BEERE 4,450 1,133
599,325 566,033

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current T EN 86,074 67,592
Non-current IER B 198,616 177,373

284,690 244,965




(a)

(b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
HK$86,041,000 (2020: HK$445,258,000) and the
additions of right-of-use assets through acquisition
of subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$39,478,000 (2020: Nil), representing the lease of
clinics, hospitals, office premises, staff quarters and
medical equipment.

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
shows the following amounts relating to the leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use ~ FFREEEREER
assets (Note 8) (ft5E8)

Expenses relating to short-term leases %52 HAFA EH B A

(Note 8) (ft5ES)

Interest expense (Note 10)

A B sz (M 5E10)

(a)

(b)

REEMBRAREZNE
(4

HE2021F12A31HIEFE
{5 FA 4 & BN E 486,041,000
7 7T (20204 : 445,258,000 75
L) ERAWERBRARAE
{5 F#E & B 4739,478,0007%8 7T
(20204 - %) - FEHEZ AT -
Bt - WAEME BIBER
BN -

REE2HEBEREZNE
H

FArEHWRERBTATER
HERFR :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2021 2020
20215 2020 €
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
96,801 70,780
2,353 1,262
12,533 10,352




(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(c)

statement of comprehensive income
(Continued)

Depreciation expense charged in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income is as follows:

(b)

RESZEKRERERNE
(4

REaeEBaRMFONITE
ERFIMT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020

2021 % 20204

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET F#T

Cost of revenue FHE KA 60,820 49,317
Administrative expenses TEAX 35,981 21,463
96,801 70,780

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended
31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
HK$92,456,000 (2020: HK$67,093,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various properties including clinics,
hospitals, office premises, staff quarters and medical
equipment. The lease terms are between one to ten
years, but may have extension options as described
below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets
must not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations.
The majority of extension and termination options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

(9]

HE2021F12A831H 15
FE-HENRSTHEAEY
#92,456,0007% JT (2020 4 :
67,093,000 7T) °

AEENHEEEFHRZEE
B 07 5 B

AEEHEZBEYE (BREDAH
B BAEMEREIEBS)
rEERB BN —F=
TH AN TXAER -

MEGRTIRE R 2 EER
BEEEAR GRS - B
HEARENHEHEEETNE
RAE SN - T E W% I e 0
TRRE - HEEETFRE
tEER MRS -

AEENZEMEHREDER
EHREIDEERE - ZFRE
RTBUARRKREBRSE R
AEBXBAREENKEE
A IR AR KB D EH R
RIEEERETRAREEMmIE
MHEEEEATTRE



The net book value of the Group’s intangible assets is

analysed as follow:

At 1 January 2020

R2020F1H1H

AEBELEENRIFEINNOT

Goodwiill

Gk
HK$°000
TET

Others
(Note)
Hth
(Bt7z)
HK$'000
FET

Total

et
HK$°000
FET

Cost P 7R 99,502 7,938 107,440
Accumulated amortisation Rt - (2,874) (2,874)
99,502 5,064 104,566
Year ended 31 December EZ2020F12H4
2020 31BIEEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 99,502 5,064 104,566
Additions NE - 1,886 1,886
Additions through acquisition 75 B U I B A A
of subsidiaries NE 31,696 - 31,696
Amortisation 5y - (886) (886)
Currency translation INEME EEE
differences 7,322 350 7,672
Closing net book amount FAREMFE 138,520 6,414 144,934
At 31 December 2020 7202012 H31H
Cost B AR 138,520 10,403 148,923
Accumulated amortisation ESg £ - (3,989) (3,989)
138,520 6,414 144,934
Year ended 31 December HZE2021F12 831
2021 BIEFEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 138,520 6,414 144,934
Additions NE - 3,548 3,548
Additions through acquisition 75 B U I B A A
of subsidiaries NE 59,243 - 59,243
Disposal of subsidiary B S B AR (6,410) - (6,410)
Amortisation 5y - (1,187) (1,187)
Currency translation
differences INEME EEE 3,617 216 3,833
Closing net book amount FAREREFE 194,970 8,991 203,961
At 31 December 2021 M2021%E12H831H
Cost B AR 194,970 14,300 209,270
Accumulated amortisation ESg £ - (5,309) (5,309)
194,970 8,991 203,961
Note: Other intangible assets mainly represent computer software. Mfizr HthmEEE LT EEEIEEHE -



Amortisation expense charged in the consolidated statement RiFE2E WA R NBROEIEE RS
of comprehensive income is as follows: T

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Cost of revenue $HE A AR 747 288
Administrative expenses THAX 440 598
1,187 886
(a) Impairment tests for goodwill (a) EERERF
Goodwill arising from business combinations is X¥BEHEEANEESEEN
allocated to the following CGUs for impairment THReEASMETREANR
testing:
As at
i
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20214 20204F
12A31H 12 A31H
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET F&T
Kunming Eye Hospital EERIR LB
("Kunming Hospital”) (TERRER]) 35,791 34,735
Shanghai Eye Hospital and clinics LBREER K2
("Shanghai Group”) ([ EEHEE]) 73,473 71,305
Zhuhai Eye Hospital KEREIER
(“Zhuhai Hospital ) ([Z/88]) 13,338 12,945
C-MER Eye Centre (Melbourne Plaza) #35RREIF O (B F1T)
("Clinic in Central”) ([FRIRzZAT]) 19,535 19,535

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre CAD/CAM Restorative
Limited (“Clinic in Causeway Bay”) Dental Centre Limited

(IR E2rr]) 12,164 -
Other clinics E b2 40,669 -

194,970 138,520




(a)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based
on higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and
value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates
stated below.

The following table sets out the key assumptions for
value-in-use calculations:

(a)

AERERNR (@)

ReEL BN KRESET
R D ER T & AN B
BEMETEINKSEEE - &
REEFENENDREEERE
HEBELFHENTBKESR -
ERATARTREFRBIEDL -
hFEHEZENREREREN
XA RO fh ET I8 R R o

TREIEREEFENTR

B

2021
2021F
Clinicin
Zhuhai Clinicin Kunming Shanghai  Causeway Other
Hospital Central Hospital Group Bay Clinics
REBRE HEZF  BEHER  LERE BREYF  HeRA
Compound revenue SEMEER
growth for 5 years BRE 35% 4% 3% 2% 4%  4%-21%
Terminal revenue growth  REMEE R E
rate 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate TipnBe R & 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15%

2020
20204
Clinic in
Central

P RDH

Zhuhai
Hospital

gk

Kunming
Hospital

EHER

Shanghai
Group
HB%E

Compound revenue growth ~ SFEUFEA LR R

for 5 years 97% 3% 36% 24%
Terminal revenue growth rate R Ef IS R = 3% 3% 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate BAIRL IR & 15% 15% 15% 15%

Management determines growth rate of revenue
based on past performance and its expectations for
the market development. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the CGUs.
The terminal growth rate applied beyond the budget
period is estimated based on current capacity of the
CGUs.

EEEREBEAEERALRESED
BERRNANETRSEERE -
FrRERMIRE B ATR R R
RMEREEL BN ARG
ERR REERHREBOR
B EXIREREELEM
B RIEVRE NN fkET -



(a) Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued) (a) BERENRE)

As at 31 December 2021, the recoverable amounts 2021F 128318 @ REfE
calculated based on value-in-use exceeded the carrying AEETENTKE S ERLY
values of the CGUs. No impairment of goodwill is REEXAEMNNEEE 82
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 2021F 12 A31 BILFEWERE
(2020:Nil). REERE (2020F : &) o

(b) Impact of possible changes in key (b) TEBRRTHEESHHNILE
assumptions
The recoverable amount of each of the CGUs are FRH2021F 12 A31HWMBE G E
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGUs AEMEAENSRCELES
at 31 December 2021 as follows: LR AT YL Bl S BE(EET AT

2021
20215

Clinicin
Kunming Shanghai Zhuhai Clinicin ~ Causeway Other

Hospital Group Hospital Central Bay clinics
EREERE  LBERE  WKEER RPN WEERF  BHIF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET T TET

Recoverable amount EEEEa: 176,984 129,372 11,192 23,729 48,098 3,915-65,464
Carrying amount REME 44,739 13,473 13,339 19,536 12,164  3,000-20,261

2020
20204

Kunming Shanghai Zhuhai Clinicin
Hospital Group Hospital
B AR LB&E KERER

Recoverable amount e 215,005 249,563 166,787 62,060
Carrying amount RHEE 37,460 72,421 12,883 20,291




(b)

Impact of possible changes in key
assumptions (Continued)

The recoverable amount of Kunming hospital CGU and
Shanghai Group CGU would remove the headroom if
the key assumptions were to change as follows:

For Kunming Hospital CGU, a decrease in growth
rate of revenue by 2%, all changes taken in isolation,
would remove the headroom.

For the Shanghai Group CGU, a decrease in growth
rate of revenue by 2%, all changes taken in isolation,
would remove the headroom.

For Zhuhai Hospital, Clinic in Central and Other clinics,
the recoverable amount would still higher than the
carrying amount for any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions.

(b)

FEBRRAESBNZE (@)

HEBRJZERTINES B
RERREELABELR EEE
EReELABEMNITKRE SR
ROERER

REBBERLELELME -
W3k B R TR 2% - P
BEHE  BEBER.

BOSEERSEEEMME -
U 2 8 R RS 2% - FT
EBHE  WHBRER

WIRBEE PRD M MEM
ZHME  WEEMRKRELME
MAEAEMmE (L ATREE
BB ERREE -

As at 31 December

®12H831H
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FET

Pharmaceuticals and medical gz N R

consumables 28,911 17,987
Vision aid products R 8B E M 4,533 2,456
33,444 20,443

HE2021F12A31BILFE @ #R
BBRIWFT AHEEXNANTE RFEM
A AR 49 5 272,259,000 7% 7T (2020 £
163,761,00078 7T) °

The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as
expense and included in cost of revenue amounted to
approximately HK$272,259,000 (2020: HK$163,761,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2021.



As at 31 December

MW12H31H8
2021 2020
2021 % 20204F
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost LR AT R S R
— Trade receivables — B 5 EIA 17,980 14,749
— Deposits and other receivables —&e M EMEWFIE 38,205 23,770
— Amounts due from associates 4 NS B 12,113 -
— Cash and cash equivalents -ReNBELEEY 386,659 553,934
454,957 592,453
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEMEER
other comprehensive income WA REE 52,575 52,575
Financial asset at fair value through BATEGABRZNSR
profit or loss BE 55,704 -
563,236 645,028
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LR AT BRA S R
afE
— Trade payables — g SN A 39,866 19,023
— Accruals and other payables —[EET B R I A E A
IR 49,395 32,647
— Amount due to a related party — JE — R BE S 7 ROA 33 23
— Amounts due to non-controlling — A IEIE AR A 2 SRR
interests 3,961 -
— Loan from a non-controlling interest —JEERERER 7,595 -
— Borrowings — & 179,406 -
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 284,690 244,965
564,946 296,658

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 W FIE 17,980 14,749
The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their g o R HIENREERE A FEMNE

fair values. =



The trade receivables are due when services are rendered
and goods are sold. As at 31 December 2021, the ageing
analysis of the trade receivables based on due date and
invoice date was as follows:

o5 RWFIEREHRELLEEY
B B) & B HAFE S - 7220214 12 A 31
B BSRKFEERINPEERER
AEIMRERSITOT ¢

As at 31 December

M®12H31H
2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
0-90 days 0&90H 16,590 13,663
91-180 days 91 £ 180 H 594 584
Over 180 days FE38 180 H 796 502
17,980 14,749

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Details in
determining the loss allowance are set out in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 December 2021, all the trade receivables balances
were not impaired (2020: same). These relate to a number
of independent clients, commercial companies and local
government to which no credit terms were granted.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated
in the following currencies:

AEERAEEVBREERFEIR
BEEFEEHEERE  RAA
B oW TIRE A2 BEEEREE -
EEERBRENFBRNME3 D) -

R2021F12A831H FTEE SEIK
SRR ARFE (20204F - MHR)
ZERBEYEERE T EEHNZ A
BUYEF BEARNMMITBNERE -

5 8 R R O BR AT A T S
SHE -

As at 31 December

HK$ BIT
RMB AR

M®12831H
2021 2020
20214 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
13,941 8,215
4,039 6,534

17,980 14,749




As at 31 December

R12A831H
2021 PAOAC)
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Non-current Ik BN 57
Prepayments for property, plant and W - BB REREEN

equipment A 2,078 10,297
Prepayment for employee B EmETERFEA

compensation 7,378 5,224
Rental deposits Heke 6,425 15,715

15,881 31,236
Current BDHA
Prepayments for inventories TR FERIE 1,012 4,640
Prepayments for rental expenses BNHEHEER 6,956 470
Prepayments for operating expenses BNEEER 7,808 7,037
Prepayment for employee B B @ETEN KB

compensation 2,125 1,900
Prepayment for acquisition of g alinl by ==INGI o)

a subsidiary TEfT5RIE 190,808 -
Rental and other deposits HekEMEe 27,207 6,082
Interest receivable FE W FI B - 263
Others H At 4,573 1,710

N P, 240,489 . 22,102
Total deposits, prepayments and other e - AN EIE R EA
receivables JEUWFRTE & 5T 256,370 53,338
The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables RehEMERFENEREETEEER
approximate their fair values. FEMESE -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is RBEHER  EREERRALIE
the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. MBEWCRIER) A TE  ANEE I BT

The Group does not hold collateral as security. BEMERmERER -



The carrying amounts of the deposits, prepayments e - TR FRIA R E At fE W SRIB B9 BR
and other receivables are denominated in the following HEDEUTEEE -
currencies:

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
HK$ BT 32,793 21,088
RMB AR 223,577 32,250
256,370 53,338
Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term ReERSFEWERIBAR=
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or ASA TR RERRITER -
less.

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Cash at banks (Note (i) RITEHE 2 (L) 309,726 108,844
Cash on hand FERE 1,279 1,099
Short-term bank deposits (Note (ii)) 53 BRSR 1717 3% (B R (i) 75,654 443,991

386,659 553,934




Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following
currencies:

R MRSEEYHIRATERHE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 2020 £
HK$’000 HK$000
F T FHET
US$ (Note (iii)) 7T (M 3E Gii)) 122 105
HK$ BT 123,610 399,489
RMB (Note (iii)) AR EE (B 3E (i) 262,927 154,340
386,659 553,934

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Cash at banks generates interest at prevailing market interest
rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.03% (2020: 0.01% to 0.03%)
per annum during the year ended 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the effective interest rate per
annum on short-term bank deposits was 2.21% (2020:
0.97%); short-term bank deposits have original maturities of
less than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$150,629,000
(2020: HK$35,426,000) were held in Mainland China as
at 31 December 2021 and were subject to local exchange
control regulations. Those local exchange control regulations
provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the country,
other than through normal dividends.

(ii)

(iii)

BITHESNEE2021F12 A 31
HEFEEENMEDENF
0.01% % 0.03% (20204 : 0.01% =
0.03%) HYBITM S F A EGFE -

MR2021F 128318 EHERTEF
FTHBERFHRERE2.21% (2020 F :
0.97%) : AL HEASRITIF A IR B HR A
B3MEALAT o

R20215F12 A31 BEREAMEA
Bk & KR &FE Y49 150,629,000
77T (20204 : 35,426,000/ 7T) °
ZEFRBE EHINEE SERARR o
ZEEINEBEH AR EBREHE
LB S IMABRS « M EFE D EIBRIN ©



Financial assets at fair value though other comprehensive BAFEFAEMEERANSHE

income represent unlisted equity investments which EE LB T RETFHERNIE LMK
are denominated in HK$ and US$. These are strategic WE ZERERFEBMRE  WIF
investments which are not held for trading and the Group BEEE  MASERABLSERE
considers this classification to be more relevant. Its fair value R - ERAFEINHT ¢

is analysed as follow:

HK$000
FET

At 1 January 2020 M2020F1H1H -
Additions NE 52,575
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and 72020512 A31H - 20214
31 December 2021 181HX2021%12H831H 52,575
Nature of financial instruments: SRTAME:

Effective interest

Place of incorporation/ held by
establishment and Particulars of ~ the Company Principal activities/
kind of legal entity issued share capital/ Directly place of operation
Company name AL/ RIEHR registered capital KRR EEER/
NAER HREERED BRARE/ERRA BERE: ZEMY
Avalon Global Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 11,802 ordinary shares of 4%  Development of next generation
("Avalon”) no par value healthcare solutions across

biopharma, diagnostics,
medical devices and other
area of healthcare, HK

Avalon Global Holdings Limited RBREIHES 11,802 REEENLER RASENRE D BES
([Avalon]) MEHMBRRERIRET
—REEREBANE BE
BELKIN Laser Ltd. ("Belkin") Israeli 3,164,685 preference shares 8%  Development of automated
NIS 316,469 one-second glaucoma laser
treatment, HK
BELKIN Laser Ltd. ([ Belkin]) bAE5) 3,164,685 & 52 ik REBBRY SRRAL RS

316,469%7%5 72 BA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ARMEE

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(a)

On 31 January 2020, the Group subscribed 513
ordinary shares in Avalon Global Holdings Limited
from an independent third party for a consideration
of HK$37,097,000, of which HK$19,437,000 settled
in cash and allotment of 3,864,314 shares of the
Company (equivalent to HK$17,660,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the board members
in Avalon included Dr. Dennis LAM, the management
assessed the Group has no significant influence in
Avalon. As such, Avalon is accounted for as a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

On 18 May 2020, the Group subscribed 345,423
preferred B shares in BELKIN Laser Ltd. for a cash
consideration of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$15,478,000).

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used in the fair
value measurements are disclosed in the table in Note 3.3.

EWMEE ®)

(a)

(b)

MR2020F1A31H A&EHE
B — %% %5 = R Avalon
Global Holdings Limited #9513 %
B KB A37,097,0007%
7T » 19,437,000 TTIAR £
I R % 3,864,314 (% A A B i 19
($8% 7 17,660,00078 7T ) &1+ ©
HE2021F12A31HIEFE
AvalonEE €K E P B IEMKIE
WEE A NEBEEENE K
EBETEH AvalonEREE S
ALt - AvalonfE B A FEFTA
HEM2mBEANSREETE -

MR2020F5H18H » KEEA
4 K E2,000,000% 7T (HHE
715,478,000 7% JT) 78 B8 BELKIN
Laser Ltd. £ 345,423 J 85 B & o

NP EFEMEANEIZRREBA
BEFBRMEE3.30RARKEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z&E = —FF3}
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Financial assets mandatorily measured at financial assets at BEIZ AT EFAEBENEMEESR
fair value through profit or loss include the following: ETYEE

As at 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Current assets REBEE
Hong Kong listed equity securities BELMRAZS 55,704
During the year, the following gains were recognised in the THFARENEGE R EW R RER

consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2021 2020

20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Fair value gains on equity investments at %A FEF ABZRH S &

financial assets at fair value through BE (REMINEFE

profit or loss recognised in other gains,  ##) Z R A& E B

net NP EWER 16,711 -
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used in the fair FrEATEFERANEZERERBAE

value measurements are disclosed in the table in Note 3.3. FIBERERAMFEIIHEE -



VERE

®202061818 -
20205128318 -
2021F181BR

Authorised:

At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,
1 January 2021 and

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
LZEREE
HK$°000
FHET

EERBE
‘000
T

31 December 2021 2021%12831H 8,000,000 800,000
Issued and paid: EREITREE
At 1 January 2020 72020518 1H 1,051,300 105,130
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 771 & X A& B
pre-IPO share options AR BITRG 25 22,138 2,214
Issuance of shares upon exercise of  {T{EEH X AFEEE
post-IPO share options BREERETRG 25 100 10
Issuance of shares (Notes) BTG (FFE) 73,717 7,371
At 31 December 2020 and M2020512A318 K
1 January 2021 20211818 1,147,255 114,725
Issuance of shares upon exercise of 771 & X A E Bl
pre-IPO share options AR ERBITRG 25 167 17
Issuance of shares upon exercise of ~ {T{E B X AFEEE
post-IPO share options ERERETRG 25 1,782 178
Issuance of shares (Notes) TR (BT E) 1,137 114
At 31 December 2021 M2021%E12831H 1,150,341 115,034

Notes:On 13 April 2021, 1,137,235 shares were allotted and
issued at HK$5.35 per share (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,084,000) to an independent third party to acquire the
practice and assets of a clinic in Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The balance represents statutory surplus reserve. In
accordance with articles of association of certain subsidiaries
incorporated in Mainland China, the subsidiary is required
to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation prepared
in accordance with China accounting standards to the
statutory reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the
registered share capital. Such reserve can be used to reduce
any losses incurred and to increase share capital.

BiaE 720214 A13H ° 1,137,235
BHANERS3SHET (HERY
6,084,000/ 70) Bl 8 RE#EITF — &
BYEZ 0 LWKEESIRGE—
RN EEFREE -

ERGERIEAEAGHEE - RIEET
P o B A o T AR SZ RO B B R AT EY
MBEIRAR - BRENE AR ERR
R BE e ERRENBRREN BN
10%HREERES  BEEHARE
MR AE) 50% B 1E - ZRFEEE A
TR EE A Y 5 18 BB AN AR AN o



The Company approved and adopted the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
pursuant to shareholder’s resolutions passed on 28
June 2017 and 13 December 2017, respectively. Share
options were granted under the both schemes to incentify
the Company’s certain directors, senior management,
ophthalmologists, physicians, employees and consultants.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme held by eligible participants
and movements in such holdings in relation thereto during
the year ended 31 December 2021:

RIED R 201796 A28 8 K& 2017
FI2ABHBEBNBRERZR K
NREHETRANE N AFAEEAE
TR R B R AAEEEERERT
&l o NABIRIBEZMIAR 8% LB
BUASBEETES afREEE .-
REIELE BE- - EEREM-

TEREZEREGBERSEEFENEX
AHRBEENERETE R EAARE
ERERETEBETREENEARRE
fEREFBEAREZE2021412A31H
LEFER A BRI E

Number of share options ‘000

BREHATH
Granted Exercised
Exercise At during during Forfeited At
price per 1 January the year the year during 31 December
Grant date Expiry date share 2021 (Note (vi))  (Note (vii) the year 2021
RONE  FRERE  EREFE R0 &
REAH ERAH SRTEE 1A1R (W) (W)  ERERE 12A31A
HKS
V-3
Pre-IPO Share Option BERDHEENR
Scheme I B
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 0.1 () 519 - - - 519
01754718 03%3A31R
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 1.0 () VE] - - - 173
01754718 03%3A31R
1 April 2017 31 March 2027 1.0 () 742 - - - 742
01754718 2007%3A318
1 September 2017 31 May 2024 0.1 (i 166 - (166) - -
01759718 2004%5A318
1,600 - (166) - 1434



Number of share options ‘000
EREZETH
Granted Exercised
Exercise At during during Forfeited At
price per 1 January the year the year during 31 December

Grant date Expiry date share 2021 (Note (vi))  (Note (vii)) the year 2021
RWNE  ERERH  EREFE R2021E
RAAH ERAH SRITEE 1818 (W) (i) ERERK 12A318
HKS
AT

Post-IPO Share Option ~ ERAREEAR

Scheme B¢ HE
18 July 2019 16 November 2023 518 () 5,400 - (1,782 (166) 3,452
2019%7 7188 W3E117168
14 September 2020 13 September 2023 634 () 1,140 - - - 1,140
2020F9E 148 03F9E 138
2 November 2021 1 November 2027 173 W) - 200 - - 200
1511728 2751A18

8,140 200 (1,948) (166) 6,226

Number of options exercisable A& K 17(F8)ER

at year end RiEHE 2628

Weighted average exercise MBS R
price (HKS) (&7 445 258 475 5.18 42

Weighted average remaining  JNE TSI T A HEH
contractual lie (years) (%) 5.19




Number of share options ‘000
BREHA Th
Granted Exercised
Exercise At during during Forfeited At
price per 1 January the year the year during 31 December

Grant date Expiry date share  Aotes 2020 (Note (vi) (Note (i) the year 2020
120205 AEB FRBhE #0205
Riti A EmAH ShiTkE 1A18 ) (W)  FAERK AR

Pre-IPO Share Option BRLRBEANR

Scheme G HE
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 0.1 (i 10916 - (10,397) - 519
017E4R1H 023E3F318
1 April 2017 31 March 2023 1.0 (i 10,049 - (9,876) - 173
017E4R1H 03E3F31H
1 April 2017 31 March 2027 1.0 (i 742 - - - 742
017E4R1H 2027E3F31H
1 September 2017 31 October 2022 0.1 (i 500 - (500) - -
0179R1H 02E10A31H
1 September 2017 31 October 2023 0.1 (i 500 - (500) - -
0179R1H W3E10A31H
1 September 2017 31 December 2022 0.1 (i 167 - (167) - -
0179R1H W0E12A31H
1 September 2017 31 December 2023 0.1 (i 166 - (166) - -
0179R1H WBE12A31H
1 September 2017 31 May 2023 0.1 (i) 167 - (167) - -
0179R1H 2023E5R31H
1 September 2017 31 May 2024 0.1 (i) 166 - - - 166
0179R1H 2024E5E31H
1 September 2017 31 August 2023 10 ) 121 - (121) - -
0179R1H 023E8F31H
16 October 2017 30 November 2022 0.1 (i) 122 - (122) - -
017£10A 168 002E11A308
16 October 2017 30 November 2023 0.1 (i) 122 - (122) - -
017£10A 168 W3E11A30H

23738 - (22,138) - 1,600



Grant date Expiry date

Riting EwAH

Post-IPO Share Option ~ ERARBELE

Exercise
price per
share

BRiTEE

At

1 January

Notes 2020
#2020

1A1A

Number of share options ‘000
EREZE T
Granted Exercised
during during Forfeited
the year the year during
(Note (vii) the year

ERE Y

At

31 December
2020
R2020E
12A318

Scheme LR
18 July 2019 16 November 2023 518 () 6,300 - (100) (800) 5,400
0197EF 188 03F11A16H
14 September 2020 13 September 2023 634 () - 1,140 - - 1,140
200F9F14H 03%F9F13H

30,038 1,140 (22,238) (800) 8,140

Number of options exercisable FME X 7785

at year end RiEHE 2783
Weighted average exercse ~ JIETH77(FE

price (HKY) (&) 149 6.34 053 518 445
Weighted average remaining I TI9B T2 405 5

contractual lfe (years) () 6.82
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 1 April 2017, 43,578,000 options were granted to a total
of 131 grantees, which include certain ophthalmologists,
physicians, employees and executive directors.

The options are vested over periods of one to five years.
The vesting of the pre-IPO share options granted to the
ophthalmologists and certain employees is subject to
performance targets in terms of revenue generated during
the vesting periods. No performance condition exists for the
consultants, remaining employees and executive directors
who shall remain in their engagement, employment or office
over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option ranges from HK$0.1 to
HK$1.0. Once vested, the options remain exercisable for
periods of three to five years. All unexercised pre-IPO share
options will lapse by the end of the exercise periods or upon
the cessation of employment of the grantees under the
service condition.

On 1 September 2017, 2,821,000 options were granted to
a total of eight grantees, which include certain consultants,
employees and an ophthalmologist of the Group.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years.
The vesting of the options granted to the ophthalmologist is
subject to performance target in terms of revenue generated
by the grantee during the vesting periods. No performance
condition exists for the consultants and employees who shall
remain in their engagement or employment over the vesting
periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option ranges from HK$0.1 to
HK$1.0. Once vested, the options remain exercisable for a
period of three years. All unexercised pre-IPO share options
will lapse by the end of the exercise periods or upon the
cessation of employment of the grantees under the service
condition.

25 URHBAEBNSR®E

GEE

0]

(ii)

FHBENBRZERERLQF

R2017F4F818 A& H£131 8%
BA(BREETRARREA - B4 -
BE R#MITES) K H 43,578,00019
B AR o

BRESBMA ELF -BEX
FTREMBERETEENERAR
BENBREAXBENEMES
WA EERBERR - HOEM -
HMTEERATERUBREXEE
Gl MRENEEHAEDRR
RIS MR8 - REHEBIE -

SHBRENTEENF0IELE
1087 —BRE  BREATR=
ERFHRBAITE B RTED
BIR B S AR RO S R T R
R IR PR IR T 16 A = LB A AR
INEENE

R2017F9/81 8 WA HENLZ K
BA(BREALEETHER - ES
N AR RIEE A) % 2,821,000 17 & B
3

BRERBHA ZEZE=F -BBER
FTREBENBEREATREHH
IR APTEE R AR ZE R BRR -
HRBERREELEREEEGT
i 12 55 74 57 I8 B P ZR A0 9% PR AR 75 16k
HEBARE -

SHBRENTEENF0VELE
1087 —BRE  BREATR=
FHRATE - MBERTENER
NFREERBRESNITERRSK
PZRIRTS G112 LR AR AR
R o
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

On 16 October 2017, 366,000 options were granted to an
employee of the Group.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years.
The grantee shall remain in employment over the vesting
periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$0.1. Once vested,
the options remain exercisable for a period of three years. All
unexercised pre-IPO share options will lapse by the end of the
exercise periods or upon the cessation of employment of the
grantee.

On 18 July 2019, 6,540,000 options were granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to a total of 40 grantees,
which include certain Hong Kong ophthalmologists,
consultants and an executive director.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years. The
vesting of these options to the Hong Kong Ophthalmologists
are subject to performance targets in terms of revenue
generated during the vesting periods. No performance
condition exists for the consultants, and executive director
who shall remain in their engagement, employment or office
over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$5.18. Once vested,
the options remain exercisable until ten years from the date
of grant. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse
by the end of the exercise periods or upon the cessation of
service of the grantee.

On 14 September 2020, 1,140,000 options were granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to the executive
director of the Company, Ms. LI Xiaoting.

The options were vested over one year. No performance
condition exists for the executive director who shall remain in
office over the vesting periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$6.34. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the date of
grant. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse by the
end of the exercise periods or upon the cessation of service
of the grantee.

25 URHBAEBNSR®E

MisE : (&)
(i) H2017F10A168 M — B AL

(iv)

1R B #% It 366,000 17 & A& -

BRERBBHMA —ZE=F - ARKA
AN B BRNIDRRIRS T ZE -

BOBRENITEER0IET - —
ERE BEREATR =FHEART
EoMBRITENERAFEESH
RSN T R RN = HER
ES: NS &

R2019F7 A18H A4 405 %
BAREBEETEZEEERVEE B
MRk —RMITESF) 116,540,000
DR AE o

BRERBHA ZEZE=F -BBZ
ERTEARMBENBREAR
FEAMMELRANEERER
R HWNBERLATEEYERE
EEKSE MRENBBEHNEAED
BRRGEM RIS - ZEHBE -

BHBRENTTEERSISET -
—ERE BRETNEHASR
THERNTE -MBERTENERR
R ERBRESNRITEHARIRN
IR AR AR BRTG (2 R

M2020F9 A148 REERARH
BEBFEREFERARRNITE
FZE Y e H 1,140,000 17 B i
T o

BRESBNAS —F HARHTE
FUBRBREEGE MENEE
HRBERRRB IR B E -

SOBBRENITEER634ETT
—ERE BRETNEHASR
ZHERNTE-MBERTENERR
M ERBRESNRITEHRIRN
IR AR AR BRTG 2R
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25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 2 November 2021, 200,000 options were granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to the independent non-
executive director of the Company, Dr. Rex AUYEUNG Pak-
Kuen.

The options are vested over periods of one to three years.
No performance condition exists for the independent non-
executive director who shall remain in office over the vesting
periods under the service condition.

The exercise price of each option is HK$7.73. One vested, the
options remain exercisable until three years from the vested
dates. All unexercised post-IPO share options will lapse by the
end of the exercise periods.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fair values of
the post-IPO share options granted were calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and subject to a number
of assumptions and with regard to the limitation of the
model. The weighted average fair value of the post-IPO share
options granted and the significant input to the model are
summarised as below:

25 URGBAEBRNSR@

faE - ()

(vi)

(vii)

B2021F 11 A28 REE XA
BEBBREESMARRELIE
ITERES AR E T H 200,000
IR -

BREGBEMA—E=F - HRNE
UFMITESLEREERAGE
i 18 70 57 &8 B 79 7B D 4% B8 AR 7% 1R 1R
BI{E -

BHBRENTEERTIZET -
—EHE BRETNELBMS®
ZFERNTE-MARTENERA
FBEERBRBERITERREY -

HZE2021F12B831HIEFE - F7
BEOBERAREEREREND
FEDEAND R -FRTHEE
BERAETHELARE ZEHEBR
REZEEEBUORS - AREOE
RAREERBRENMETEA
FERERMNEZH A2 M nm
=

2021
20214

Weighted average fair value of post-IPO share options
granted (HK$'000)

Risk-free rate 1 [ g ) 2

Expected volatility T8 BRI 18

Dividend yield R e =

Expected option life (years) TE BRI AR R R R (4F)

The expected volatility, measured as the standard deviation
of expected share price returns, is determined based on
the average daily trading price volatility of the shares of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately
1,949,000 shares (2020: 22,238,000 shares) were issued
upon exercise of share options. The weighted average share
price at the date of exercise was HK$6.96 (2020: HK$4.17).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, share-based
payment expenses of approximately HK$4,255,000
(2020:HK$5,016,000) were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in relation to the share
options.

(viii)

(ix)

FHRNEREZRARAA

P ) B R A B 3 S 12 B O ey
T D FE (TET)

597
0.54%-0.95%
60%

0.36%
2.5-4.5

BEHRENRNREEZTENTE
HR R - Ty iR E AN A R D B T
BRARZEREETE

HZE2021F12A31BIEFE
RRABREREEITERET
#71,949,000 & & 15 (2020 4 :
22,238,000 kA& f7) © P17 B BAEY
DT R(E 5 6.96 7 7T (2020 F -
4.17%7T) ©

HZE2021F12A3MBLEFE A
ERERENURO AEBOMNR
5 % 474,255,000 7T (2020 4 :
5,016,000/8 L) RER A 2 HE K &= &
HERR o



Final dividend of 2020, declared and TR KR 2020 F R HA
paid of HK2.0 cents IR BB E @A 2.0 810
(2019: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share ~ (20194F : 2.0&1l)

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLEE
2021 2020

20215 2020 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

(Note (i) (B EE () 22,968 21,515
Final dividend of 2021, proposed of 2021 FREIR E R
HKnil cents (2020: HK2.0 cents) LimAg T AL (20205 -
per ordinary share (Note (ii)) 2,080 (B =E i)
- 22,945
Notes: BieE -

(ii)

At a board meeting held on 31 March 2021, the Directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend in respect
of 2020 of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share, which was
estimated to be approximately HK$22,945,000 at the time
calculated on the basis of the ordinary shares in issue as at
31 December 2020. The final dividend was declared and
approved at the annual general meeting on 26 May 2021,
totalled HK$22,968,000.

At a board meeting held on 29 March 2022, the Directors
did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

R2021F3 A3 HEBITHESE S
#LE - EFEFZIRMT2020F K AR
BT 2.081 - 1RIER 2020
F1R2ANAMEETEBRTE
7R ER AR B3R I 5T 49 422,945,000
I o ZARHIIR BB R 202145 A
26 AERFEFRE S IRIWER
B 3£22,968,00078 7T ©

R2022F3 209 HETTHNESZE S
FE EETERERET2021F12
A31BIEFEIRMERAIHRE



Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
F T FHET
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTHEE 10,971 3,127
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFEHAE (518) -
10,453 3,127
The net movements on the deferred income tax assets/ EEFTISHEE, (BE) E8)FrEu
(liabilities) are as follows: T

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE

2021 2020

2021 20204F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 January ®W1A1A8 3,127 5,014
Addition through acquisition of BEFSTH B EE B

subsidiaries MEATRE 1,407 (1,254)

Disposal of a subsidiary HEKE QA (267) -

Charged to the consolidated statement of T A4R& 2 HE R K
comprehensive income 6,049 (911)
Exchange differences 5 =5 137 278

At 31 December ®12A31H 10,453 3,127




The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities FRRLEMEREENBENEE) (R

during the year, without taking into consideration the FFRAE-BKEER AR A RE )
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as W
follows:
Deferred income tax assets BEFRESHERE
(Accelerated)/
Decelerated
tax  Share-based
depreciation payment  Tax losses Leases Provision Total
(&) /BE  URGA
HERE ERNAR  HEER BE BB At
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2020 202051818 (282) 1,193 3,856 247 - 5014
Addition through acquisition i UK & — I &
of a subsidliary RERE - - - - (1,254) (1,254)

(Charged)credited to the WA ZAMER
consolidated statement of ~ (¥1%) /3t A

comprehensive income (15) (214) (1,228) 468 78 911)
Exchange differences EREH - - 253 25 - 278
At 31 December 2020 R2020512831A (297) 979 2,881 740 (1,176) 3,127
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1818 (297) 979 2,881 740 (1,176) 3,127
Addition through acquisition 17 i U B — it B

of a subsidiary RARE - - 1,866 - - 1,866
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNBAR - - (1,143) - - (1,143)

Creditedicharged) to the  RMRA2EMER

consolidated statementof £t A/ (1)

comprehensive income 391 (450) 71317 782 1,209 9,249
Exchange differences ERES - - 125 12 - 137

At 31 December 2021 R2021512 4318 9% 529 11,046 1,534 33 13,236




Deferred income tax liabilities EEFEHREE

Accelerated
tax
depreciation  Tax losses Leases Provision Total
MEHEHE HEBR HE BB by
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET
At 31 December 2020 and R2020E12B318 K
1 January 2021 20211818 - - - - -
Addition through acquisition of FRNE-HNBARRE
a subsidiary - - (459) - (459)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBAF - - 876 - 876
Charged to the consolidated REE2ENERIR
statement of comprehensive income (631) (722) (672) (1,175) (3,200)
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31H (631) (722) (255) (1,175) (2,783)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry
forward purposes only to the extent that realisation of the
related tax benefits through future taxable profit is probable.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has not recognised
deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$53,550,000
(2020: HK$32,493,000) in respect of accumulated losses
amounting to approximately HK$243,367,000 (2020:
HK$129,970,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income. As at 31 December 2021, in respect
of the accumulated losses, approximately HK$22,889,000,
HK$32,352,000, HK$68,302,000 and HK$13,487,000 will
be expired in 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities
of approximately HK$4,562,000 (2020: HK$4,409,000)
have not been recognised for the withholding taxation that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
in Mainland China of approximately HK$91,237,000 (2020:
HK$88,177,000), as the directors considered that the timing
of the reversal of the related temporary differences can be
controlled and the related temporary difference will not be
reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable future.

BEEEHEENEREESNTE
EIEFER - WA e iE B K R ER
MABEREENBNEE BR -
R2021F12A31H KREBWE
A S AR R ERT WAL
2 =t E518 49 243,367,000 7T (2020
F 1 129,970,000 T ) FERIELEFT 15
i & EE #953,550,000 78 7T (2020 4F -
32,493,000/ 7t) ° 1A 2021412 A
318 K:tE184722,889,000/% 7T
32,352,0007% 7T * 68,302,000/ 7T &
13,487,000% 7T # 7 Bl 72 2022 4 »
20234F ~ 2024 %F ]2 2025 F @i ©

M2021F12A31H BHREER
BRI TSR EEYREERENR
MEHBEREREBETSRARE
R B e EUR BRI R
AR B A BT B A Bl R S B A
4,562,000 7 7T (20204 : 4,409,000
BT BN HTENRERIELEH
B & #491,237,000/% 7T (20204 :
88,177,000 7T) °



Trade payables, based on invoice date, were aged as

follows:

REEAMLSINE 5N REER
mF :

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$°000 HK$000
FET FET
0-30 days 0%Z30H 32,377 15,031
31-60 days 31260H 4,477 836
61-90 days 61290 H 233 184
Over 90 days #2iB90 B 2,779 2,922
39,866 19,023

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in B RNRIBOREENDZNUNTER
the following currencies: FHE -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 14,263 3,550
RMB AR 25,603 15,473
39,866 19,023

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their

fair values.

\
/

o

of

B o RMNFENREEREE QBN



As at 31 December

R12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
Non-current FRE
Consideration payable for acquisition Wbl — I M B 2 B FE A
of a subsidiary rE 1,475 1,475
Others H 2,182 828
3,657 2,303
Current TRED
Accruals for employee benefits [EETBETRME 23,644 19,331
Accruals for operating expenses JERTEERMY 19,505 8,023
Accruals for listing expenses Bt EmER 3,591 3,591
Payables for doctors’ consultation fees — JEftE4A 24 21,219 16,989
Payables for property, plant and FERYIZE - BRE RF&E
equipment SKIB 3,751 2,812
Consideration payable for acquisition IR BE B A B E B
of subsidiaries 6,367 -
Others H A 1,566 881
P 79,643 . 51,627
Total accruals and other payables FEET B A I B fE < 3R IE

&5t 83,300 53,930




The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are JEEHE R R E M N RIES AREE T
denominated in the following currencies: RATE®BETE -

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$ BT 49,440 29,958
RMB ARE 33,860 23,906
us$ ETT - 66
83,300 53,930
The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their Hfh fE T RIB Y BRE{E B H A A M
fair values. o

As at 31 December

M12A318
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Current B &R
Borrowings B 179,406 -
As at 31 December 2021, all of the Group’s borrowings M2021FE12 8318 REEFEFRARE
are repayable on demand and the effective interest rate of T BIRBESRERWIRFFNE2.44%

borrowings was 2.44% per annum. B e



Cash generated from operations (a) REXEKFBRE

B BT 1S B A BB B AR &R B PR
FHRESFRNLIK

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash
generated from operations:

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31MBLLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Profit before income tax Fr PTAS %0 A A 26,875 2,504
Adjustments for: HATEIBEELFHE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E

(Note 15) (MF5E15) 1,187 886
Depreciation of property, plantand ¥ % - BE MR EITE

equipment (Note 13) (fF7E13) 50,593 41,896
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FAEEENE

(Note 14) (MH5E14) 96,801 70,780
Write-off on property, plant and MM - BRE R

equipment (Note 13) (FF3E13) - 1,363
Losses on disposal of property, HEWE - WEREE

plant and equipment, net (Note 7) FrisE 58 (i 7) 616 36
Gain on early termination of lease RELRIEHEENY S

(Note 7) (MH5E7) (452) -
Gains on financial assets at RATEFABENS

fair value through profit or loss BEEEENKE

(Note 7) (f5E7) (16,711) (37)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERB AR

(Note 34(b)) & 18 (P9 5E 34(b)) 4,499 -
Share-based payment expenses PARS 7 A E R R

(Note 25) Rz (K17t 25) 4,255 5,016
Share of (profit)/loss of associates DR (FE)

(Note 37) &8 (5E37) (10,652) 276
Finance income (Note 10) B AU A (B3 10) (4,475) (5,056)
Finance cost (Note 10) B %55 S (FI3E10) 12,995 10,352

165,531 128,016
Changes in working capital: EEETED)
Inventories rE 9,.212) (5,581)
Trade receivables B 5 WSk IE (18,541) (3,129)
Deposits, prepayments and other Zd ~ TR RIEREAM
receivables L] (3,251) (3,085)
Trade payables B 5 & kI8 19,748 4,257
FEET B R IR H e 1
Accruals and other payables IR 8,997 5,534
Contract liabilities AHBE 1,975 644
Balances with associate ERESE & N A1) A A (7,138) -
Balances with related parties B 2 B 5 Y 4 A 7 (115)
Cash generated from operations KEMSRS 158,116 126,541




(b)

(c)

(d)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposal of property, plant and equipment
comprise:

HEWE  BERRBHRE

;IR

REZaRERERT  HEDY
% WEMREBHSHIARKE:

(b)

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FETT
Net book amounts (Note 13) BETELEE (Mi3E13) 625 37
Losses on disposal of property, plant  H &% ~ & L& E
and equipment (Note 7) Frig B8 (Ha7) (616) (36)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE N&E
plant and equipment FR15 I8 9 1
Significant non-cash transaction () EXFBEEXRS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, REZE2021F 12831 HLEF
share-based payment expenses of approximately JE FER T #4,255,000% T
HK$4,255,000 (2020: HK$5,016,000) were recognised (20204 : 5,016,0007% JT) LA H%
(Note 25). ) RERNHF X (FFFE25) -
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from d) METHEELNEENHE

financing activities

Loan from
Amount anon-
dueto  controlling Lease

Borrowings  adirector interest liabilities Total

Eft—R FER
fEs BEENE  ERER  HERE st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET  FAT  TET  FAT  TER
At 1 January 2020 ®20205181A - - - 171,680 171,680
Cash flows Ben - - - (65,831) (65.831)
Non-cash movement FR2EH - - - 139,116 139,116
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12 A31H - - - 244,965 244,965
Cash flows BenR 174,450 6,000 7485 (88,630) 99,305
Non-cash movement ¥ReEH 4,956 (6,000) 110 128,355 127,421
At 31 December 2021 R2021512431H 179,406 - 7,595 284,690 471,691




(a) Capital commitments () EXREE

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the RERDITNERERRAEE
end of the year but not recognised as liabilities is as HEBEREARMZAT
follows:

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FETT FAET
Property, plant and equipment M- BWERRE 18,228 7,028
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS B A ) 294,174 -
312,402 7,028
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHEHIE
At 31 December 2021, the Group had future R2021F 12 A31H "EBR
aggregate minimum lease payments under non- PR EHEE N KRR
cancellable short-term leases as follows: RIEEENREERAT ¢

As at 31 December
M12H31H
2021 2020

20215 2020 €
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Not later than one year TIBR—F 703 945
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control or
common significant influence.

The Group is controlled by C-MER Group Limited
(incorporated in the BVI), the ultimate holding company,
which owns 60.47% of the Company’s shares as at 31
December 2021. The ultimate controlling party of the Group
is Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI.

Name of related parties

33 BBAXRS

W= AN ERAEEREN S
SB R REERRAEAR
ERFEN UETRGEREHEY -
e ARZEH A AREARZE
AT TR AR A R o

R2021F12A31H  AEBTHK
ERAFRFHEEBER AR (RHEE
BLBEEEMAN) I EEA R
NA)60.47% M (5 o AR EE K FRIE
f& 75 BB B £ R 24 o

Relationship with the Company

BAM S &R

C-MER Group Limited
FIHEBEAER AT
Maida Medical Software Development (Shenzhen) Limited

BEBERUMAMAE XY ARAT

Project Vision Charitable Foundation Limited

SEIREEESARAQF
Asia-Pacific Academy Of Ophthalmology Limited

Asia-Pacific Academy Of Ophthalmology Limited
Health Hope International Medical Laboratory Limited

7 g oRl (BIFR) AR AR

EAR QAW EHF

Ultimate holding company

RRERAR

Common controlling shareholder
(Dr. Dennis LAM)
HE AR AR IR (FRIE R B8 4 )

Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and
Mr. LI Chunshan)

HAZESZE (MEBBERTEHEILLE)

Common controlling shareholder and common
director (Dr. Dennis LAM)
HREZERBR R R ERES (HRIEHEE)

Common directors (Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI),
acquired by the Group on 9 February 2021 and
became an associate company of the Group
since 23 July 2021

HEAEE(MNEREERFTLLT)  ARKEER
20212 A9 BB - 820217 A23HiE
PPN E /N

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z&E = —FF3}




(a) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (a) B BEHEREMIHEH
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the BEN AEEHEBBIET
following transactions with related parties: 5 -

Year ended 31 December
HE12A31HILEEE
2021 2020

2021 % 20204
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

Ophthalmic services provided to a M) — & B Bk ) HR (AR B

related company Pk 75
— Project Vision Charitable —SBEIREEESD
Foundation Limited AR QA 195 240
Management fee income from RE—EEEsA AN ER
a related company (Note 6) B (FizE6)
— Project Vision Charitable - IREEES
Foundation Limited BRATA 114 114
Management fee income from an KE—FHEEEARINER
associate (Note 6) B (FizE6)
— Health Hope International —#FEROA (BER) BIR
Medical Laboratory Limited NE] 5,662 -
5,776 114
Donation to a related company M) — & B8 Bk A A48 3K
— Project Vision Charitable —SBEIREEES
Foundation Limited AR QA - 238
Interest expenses to a non-controlling 21 F— & FEIEARAE 25 A
interest (Note 10) FE (MFE10)
— Huizhou Chang Jiu Investment —BMNTMRAKLERBR
Limited Company A A 270 -
Lease payments to a related company 1~ ¥ — & B8 A &) #Y
HES
— Maida Medical Software —BEBERYMFEZE ORI
Development (Shenzhen) BRAF
Limited 10,189 6,858
The management fee income is received for the EIEEW AT 5 E A #E
administrative services provided by the Group to 77 IR A1 T BUE TR AR 7% i HACER o
the related parties. The ophthalmic service income, BERBUA BERBRAR
management fee income and lease payments were MEEBRDIREA S = R
determined based on the terms mutually agreed 77 HE 5 E R GRFREE o

between the Group and the related parties.



(b) FEEEAESHMH

(b) Key management compensation

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BILLEE

2021 2020

20214 2020

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#T

Fees, wages, salaries, bonus we IE& #He - 4 14,446 9,719
Retirement benefits costs — defined R KAE FI Ak K — F 5B 4 50

contribution scheme =HE 72 72

Allowances and benefits in kind AR EMETN 783 794

Share-based payments VARR AR 3 EHE &9 1< 5k 2,016 1,096
17,317 11,681
(c) Year-end balance with a related party () HE—ZBEBEAINERER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE
2021 2020

20215 2020 F

HK$°000 HK$°000

Amount due to a related party
— Project Vision Charitable

e — & BE R 0 3R

= gE 2 2= AN
—=BEIREREES

TET

FET

Foundation Limited (Note i) BEAR (D 33 23
Amounts due to non-controlling JEAS — % FE I B i 2 R IR
interests (Note ii) D) 3,961 -
Loan from a non-controlling interest ~ FF#2 B #E 55 & 3%
-BENTRAZEBR AT —BMNTRAKRERR
(Note iii) A A (M i) 7,595 -
Amounts due from associates JFE LS BS: 25 2 B 5RIB
— Health Hope International —FERA (B AR
Medical Laboratory Limited ~al (M)
(Note ii) 11,105 -
— C-MER RainsOptics Limited —“MHAERRAF
(Note ii) (R EE i) 1,008 -

12,113
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 33 BBARS (@)
() Year-end balance with a related party () E—ZBBANFERESR )
(Continued)
Notes: B oE
()  The balances were unsecured, interest-free and () FRERAEER RERA
repayable on demand and were denominated in RMB. BREFMEE  WAARBEE °
(i) The balances were unsecured, interest-free and (iy FRAERAEER RERA
repayable on demand and were denominated in HK$. RERKEE - WABITEHE ©
(i) The loan from a non-controlling interest bears interest (i) FEIE AR = B R E E F A
at a fixed rate of 6% (2020: Nil) per annum. It is E6% (2020F - )5t B B
unsecured, repayable in 3 years and denominated in EEE EN3FNEE I
RMB. IAANRBEHE -
34 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF 3 WERLHENE QA
SUBSIDIARIES
To expand the Group’s healthcare services network in Hong RABRTEEREENERRERE
Kong, the Group entered into the following transactions Wag - NEBRE ZE2021F12 A 31
during the year ended 31 December 2021: HIEFEETUTRS :
(a) Business combinations (a) EHEHf
(i)  On 9 February 2021, the Group completed the ()  HM2021F2A9H K&
acquisition of 90% equity interests in Health B RN ARBESEHIE
Hope International Medical Laboratory Limited HEBERT YL TIWE
(“Health Hope”), a company that provides AERA (B BERAQ A
medical laboratory services in Hong Kong, ([FZE]) 0% B -
from Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. LI Xiaoting, RARBHRHEEBERR
directors of the Company, at a consideration of AR - 1X{& /9,000,000 %
HK$9,000,000. On 23 July 2021, the Group’s JC o 7R2021F7H23H -
interest in Health Hope decreased to 45.9% due HRMEREENRESR
to dilution from investment from two investors SEUWE AEERFERN
and Health Hope has become an associate BB E45.9% M
company of the Group. EEORRAEENEER
Ej o
(i) On 27 April 2021, the Group completed the iy PM2021F4H278 K
acquisition of 60% equity interests in a company SETRR - BB IE=
that operates a dental clinic in Causeway Bay, 7 EE — R BB R E
Hong Kong (“Clinic in Causeway Bay"), from an RETRZ P ([H8E 2
independent third party and the consideration Frl) 892 Rl &9 60% I HE -
was paid by allotment and issue of 1,137,235 RESEBREEREN
shares of the Company (their value being 1,137,235 & A" 2 B i 15
approximately equivalent to HK$6,084,000 (BREHEHE 202164 A
based on the published share price on the IBENAMKE  HEEA
agreed date, 13 April 2021) and HK$6,216,000 & 7 #6,084,000% JT)
in cash. K354 6,216,000 8T ©

AL C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED ZERMEEZERERA A




(a) Business combinations (Continued)

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Group completed the acquisition of several
clinics that provide dental, oncology and other
medical services in Hong Kong (”Other clinics”),
from different independent third parties, at
a total cash consideration of HK$39,425,000
with individual considerations not more than
HK$18,000,000.

The following table summarises the consideration
paid and the amounts of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed recognised at the acquisition
dates during the year ended 31 December 2021.

(a) XEBE B

(iii)

HE2021%F12H318 1t
FE AEBTHRETH
BYE - FWELZHES
BIRHTE - EERRE
thEEREMNZ M ([E
Mz k)  BReRER
39,425,000 7t ¢ @& B 1K
B 838 18,000,000 /87T °

HE2021%F12A31H 1
FE - -RUEEBBERDN
ENREEMKBEER
FIEEaESENTERE

it o

Clinic in
Causeway
Health Hope Bay Other clinics
As at At as acquired
9 February 27 April during
2021 2021 the year
HER WREDMAN
20214 2021F  FrLEH
2A9H 4A27H HAtg ) Fir #ast
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Consideration RE
- Cash -H& 9,000 6,216 39,425 54,641
- Allotment of shares ~ — B¢ 3% 15 - 6,084 - 6,084
9,000 12,300 39,425 60,725

The fair value of the 1,137,235 shares allotted as part
of the consideration paid for acquisition of Clinic in
Causeway Bay (HK$6,084,000) was based on the
published share price on the agreed date, 13 April
2021, of the Company of HK$5.35 per share.

B 351,137,235 X 0 1E & =2
HERBEZ NI D RE
(6,084,00078 7T) B A F1E Th &
R E 38 (B120215F 4 A13
H) AfEARARRESRS.35
BT o



(a) Business combinations (Continued) (a) EFKE6t®)

Clinicin

Causeway
Health Hope Bay Other clinics
As at As at acquired
9 February 27 April during
2021 2021 the year

HFER EBEDR
2021 2021  FRAKEN
2A9H 4R27R Hifr gt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FET FET FET

Recognised amounts AL AP RE B E 2

of identifiable assets PrRERENDER
acquired and liabilities &%
assumed
— Property, plant and W% FERSRE
equipment 5,221 375 7,825 13,421
— Right-of-use assets —FREEE 15,034 1,799 22,645 39,478
— Cash and cash -HehREEEY
equivalents 140 595 1,675 2,410
— Trade receivables - B EWHIE 470 64 572 1,106
- Deposits, prepayments — — &% ~ BRI FHIER
and other receivables HAb YRR 2,691 181 10,713 13,585
~ Inventories -7E 2,498 56 3,038 5,592
— Deferred income tax —EERIEBEE
assets 1,407 - - 1,407
— Trade payables -BHRENFE - (81) (481) (562)
— Accruals and other —EFtERREME
payables 308 (8,430) (852) (14,648) (23,930
- Amount due to ~EN—EEFHE
a director (916) - - (916)
- Amounts due to — e AR 77 ] 3%
related parties M= 3R
and non-controlling
interests - - (3,302) (3,302)
- Lease liabilities -MHEARE (15,237) (1,800) (23,142) (40,179)
- Borrowings —f&% - - (4,956) (4,956)
— Current income tax —-BEMEHAaR
liabilities - (110) - (110)
Total identifiable net AHAFEE/ ()
assets/(liabilities) N 2,878 227 (61) 3,044
Non-controlling interests  JE#% A 25 (Pl 7% (i)
(Note (i) (288) 91) (1,183) (1,562)
Gooduwill (Note (ii)) B2 (K Gi) 6,410 12,164 40,669 59,243

Total consideration BRE 9,000 12,300 39,425 60,725




(a) Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs

Health Hope

As at

9 February

2021

FER
2021 %
2A9H

HK$000

FHET

W B AR R AN (P 5E (i)

(a)

Clinicin
Causeway
Bay

As at

27 April
2021

o 8 0 AT A
20214
4827H
HK$'000
FET

Bt

Other clinics
acquired
during

the year

FRlER
22
HK$000
FET

at
HK$'000
FAT

(Note (iii) 59 54 150 263
Net cash outflow on WEERMR 2R T8
acquisition
Cash consideration ReERE 9,000 6,216 39,425 54,641
Less: Consideration payable J : 2021412 A
as at 31 December JTHENRE
2021 - - (6,367) (6,367)
Less: Cash and cash W EReREeF
equivalents acquired By (140) (595) (1,675) (2,410)
8,860 5,621 31,383 45,864
Notes: MI5E -
()  Non-controlling interests (i) FERER
The non-controlling interests were recognised at their IEIE R AR TR B 9 15 A
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of HAFEEMNCERCERER
identifiable net assets.
(i) Goodwill (i) =8

The goodwill arises from a number of factors including
expected synergies through leveraging the expertise
and reputation of the Group, the local knowledge
and experience of the acquirees and the established
workforce including ophthalmologists, local doctors,
dentists and supporting staff. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

BEDHZEARREL 24
MAREENEXMELE
B BB T B E A AR
BARBAES SN (BERM
BE - BmBLE FTBELEE
8 T)FAHIE A 8 3[R e -
CHERBEEHAAMGHM
TR E AR, o
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34 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Business combinations (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

C-MER EYE CARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs represent legal and
professional fees incurred to effect the business
combinations. Total acquisition-related costs amounted
to approximately HK$263,000 which is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue and profit contribution

Health Hope contributed revenue of approximately
HK$25,833,000 and net profit of approximately
HK$5,001,000 to the Group since acquisition date
up to the date if ceased to be a subsidiary. Clinic in
Causeway Bay contributed revenue of approximately
HK$8,568,000 and net profit of approximately
HK$3,400,000 to the Group since each of the
acquisition date. Other clinics contributed revenue
of approximately HK$17,623,000 and net profit of
approximately HK$6,002,000 to the Group since
acquisition date. Had the business combinations taken
place at 1 January 2021, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income would show proforma revenue
and net loss of approximately HK$1,154,653,000 and
HK$8,836,000, respectively.

34

FHBENBRZERERLQF

WERHEHMB QT (&)

() EBAEG(D

By eE - (48)
(iii)  WEBAEB R A
WEERMMK A E R EBA

(iv)

PETSIBBERRBEER -
Lz B B8 B 7 42 58 49 263,000
BT R BEREE2021F
NRANBIEFENGEEE
WA -

W a8 K R E R

FEAKRBANEREETHA
MEARE R AANEESEE
Uk 2549 25,833,000 7T & 18
% %8 495,001,000 7T © i i
EYRENERBRAENE
B & [t U 25 498,568,000 7 JT
K FF 584 3,400,000 7T ©
HtZ e S WERBRER
AEBE BRI 17,623,000
7 7T I # B % % 496,002,000
BIL e WER2021F1 A1 H
EITEBE - BGRE2EK
wmER D RIFIREE W &
&5 18 F 58 491,154,653,000 7%
7T . 8,836,000 8 7T ©



(b) Disposal of a subsidiary (b) HE—REHEBAF

On 23 July 2021, the Group’s interest in Health Hope, M2021F7H238 AR A
a subsidiary of the Group, which principally provides KREENBERE AEER
medical laboratory services in Hong Kong, decreased HEKREEWMBLRR 2R
to 45.9% due to dilution from two investors. Health AEFREHEZRERE) MEE
Hope has become an associate company of the B EA5.9% o FNFERL ST
Group since then. The loss on disposal of subsidiary BRARWRNEENAT

recognised during the year were as follows:

HK$ 000
FEr
Consideration KE 17,790
Carrying amount of net assets sold BEEHFEEMNREE (15,879)
Goodwill BES (6,410)
Loss on disposal & E S (4,499)
The consideration received represented by: ERRERE

HK$ 000
FETT

Consideration RE
— Settlement of other payable — AEARHE A A R I 8,895
— Contribution of a subsidiary of Health Hope - ##E—EEAREE 8,895

17,790




(b) Disposal of a subsidiary (Continued) (b) HE—EMEAR )

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of Health FERNEEBHNEERAR
Hope as at the date of disposal were: REES :
23 July 2021
202145
7H23H
HK$'000
T
Net assets disposed of EEHFEE
— Property, plant and equipment —% - BB REE 12,410
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE 2,700
— Trade receivables — B ZEKGIE 16,622
— Deposits, prepayments and other receivables —3% < ~ 8} 5018 K H b & W3 IE 1,143
— Inventories —FE 1,869
— Deferred income tax assets —IREREHEE 267
— Cash and cash equivalents - REeKBEEFEY 2,431
— Lease liabilities —HEAaE (2,765)
— Amount due to a director —EN—REEHE (6,916)
— Trade payables —BHENFIE (78)
— Other payables and accruals —HE M ENRIERETER (11,804)
Net assets disposed of BEELHFEE 15,879
Net cash outflow on the disposal: HERFRESME
HK$ 000
TFET
Cash consideration RERE -
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances B EEHEeRBREEEY
disposed of KEER (2,431)

Net cash outflow SFIR SR (2,431)




The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2021:

Company name

NAER

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

kind of legal entity
MR/ R b5
REEERER

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRAREK/
EMEREE

Effective interest
held by the Company
LT
ERER
Directly Indirectly
E& A

T AR2021F12 A3 BT E M
BARAE

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEEE/
EEBE

C-MER Eye Care Medical Group The BVI, 2,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding, HK
Limited limited liability company US$ 2,000
AERNEEEEARAA EBRNES 2,000 R & @k RERR &E
BREERT 2,000%7
C-MER Eye Care Group Limited The BVI, 2,000 ordinary shares 100% - Investment holding, HK
limited liability company US$ 2,000
FERHEBERAT ARRIRE 2,000 & @ik RERK BA
BREERT 2,000%7
Hong Kong (International) Eye Care  Hong Kong, 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Group Limited limited liability company HK$10,000 service, HK
FE(ER)BHERREERAR B 10,000 % @ RERRRS - £E
BREEAT 10,0007
C-MER Vision Limited Hong Kong, 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding, HK
limited liability company HK$10,000
RERABRAH R 10,000 R &R REZKR &R
BREERT 10,0007
Hong Kong C-MER International Eye  Hong Kong, 500,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Care Group (China) Limited limited liability company HK$500,000 service, HK
BRABERRNBEEE R 500,000 % RERMERS £A
(hE)ERAT BREAAT 500,000/
C-MER Investment Limited Hong Kong, HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding, HK
limited liability company
FBREARAH &% BRALAT 10,0007 7 RERK  BA
Shenzhen C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Mainland China, RMB70,000,000 - 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Hospital* wholly foreign owned service, Mainland
enterprise China
RFERIEHRN B PEM NEBELE AR70,000,0007C RERMERS TE
A
Beijing C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Mainland China, wholly foreign RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Provision of ophthalmic
Hospital Co., Ltd.* owned enterprise service, Mainland
China
ERABHIEBRHUBERER TERL HEBELR AR 60,000,000 RARMERS  FE

RA* ki



Company name

NEER

Shenzhen Xinan C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital*

RYEZ A IR R B e+

Shenzhen C-MER Optical Trading
Co., Ltd.*

AEEEXEHERLA*

Shenzhen Xinan C-MER Optical
Trading CO., Ltd*

AFLEBRELESBRAA*

Kunming Eye Hospital*

ERRNER (BRAR)*

Huizhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd*

BNABHERRNER AR

A7

Shanghai Lucida Medical Scientific
Ltd. *

ERGRERSERMRER

A7

Shanghai Vision Lijing Eye Clinic
Co., Ltd.*

LEREBRRHMAYBER

A7

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
EMERL/ RS
REEERER

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

PEAY IEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

PEAY IEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

PEAY IEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

PEAY IEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TEM NEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

FEM NEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

FEM NEBELE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRARE/
EMERFE

RMB20,000,000

AEH20,000,00070

RMB1,000,000

AEH1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

AEH1,000,0007C

RMB61,000,000

AEH61,000,00070

RMB20,000,000

AEH#20,000,00070

RMB58,002,500

AEH#58,002,50070

RMB5,000,000

AE#5,000,0007C

Effective interest

held by the Company
ARFE
BRER

Directly Indirectly

E& S

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 80%

- 70%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TERE,/
EENE

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
Ak

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERERRHER
Em PERL

Sales of eyewear and
eye care products,
Mainland China

HERERRHER
Em PERL

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
b

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
Ak

Sales of medical
products, Mainland
China

WEBEEM TH
it

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRS - PHE
Ak



Company name

NEER

Shanghai C-MER Vision Eye Hospital
Co,, Ltd.*

LEFERERNBRARAR

Shanghai Vision Yijing Eye Clinic
Co., Ltd.*

i{ﬁﬂm&? REFDEER
T*

Shanghai Vision Jiajing Eye Clinic
Co., Ltd.*

/iiﬁ% 7;5% EHF u/u ﬁ
T*

Shenzhen Li Wei Shi Medical Scientific

Co., Ltd.*

mWﬂ%ﬁ S REmERER
T*

Zhuhai C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Hospital Co., Ltd.*

KERBHIERRNBERER
NI

Guangzhou Yue Xiu Economic
Development Ltd.*

BMEAEERRARAR

D-MER Dental Limited (formerly
known as C-MER Dental Group
Limited)

ERTRERLR (ABAEIH
EEERAA)

C-MER Family Medicine Center
(Shatin) Limited
FBREBETL(PB)BRAT

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
EMERL/ RS
REEERER

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

REAM IEEELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

EM SNEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

REAM IEEELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

RN HNEBELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

FEAN IEEELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TEEBELR

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

2 BRAA
Hong Kong,

limited liability company

BA BRAAE

Particulars of issued

share capital/

registered capital

BRTRE/

EMERFHE

RMB30,000,000

AE30,000,0007T

RMB2,500,000

AEH2,500,0007C

RMB3,000,000

AEH3,000,000 7T

RMB10,000,000

AKH10,000,00070

RMB50,000,000

AE50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

K 50,000,007

HK$10,000,000

10,000,000 70

HK$10

1087

Effective interest

held by the Company
ARFE
BRER

Directly Indirectly

E& S

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 80%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TERE,/
EENE

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RAREIRS - PHE
it

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRS - P&
ki

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRS - pE
it

Sales of medical
products, Mainland
China

WEBEEM TH
it

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

REBRRS - pH
it

Property holding,
Mainland China

RENE TERY

Provision of dental
service, HK

RUTHERS £E

Provision of family
medicine service, HK

REFERERT -
&



Company name

NEER

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre

Ltd.

CAD/CAM Restorative Dental Centre

Ltd.

Pro-Dental Limited
BETRERERLA
EON Healthcare Holdings Lim

BRERERARAH

ited

Guangzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BENABHIERRNERS

A7

&

Fuzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BMAEHIERREMD

A7

&

Jieyang C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd. (formerly known

as Guangdong Yuedong Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd.*)
BHAEMIERRNER

(MERERERBRER

NG

Foshan C-MER Dennis Lam Eye

Hospital Co., Ltd.*

BLAEHIERRNERE

A7

&

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
EMERL/ RS
REEERER

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

2 ARAA

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

2 ARAA

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&2 ARAA

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TECAEEELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TEAEBEELE

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TR AEBELR

Mainland China,
wholly foreign owned
enterprise

TECSNEBEELE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRARE/
EMERFE

HK$100

100787

HK$10,000
10,000% T
HK$100

100787

RMB40,000,000

AEH40,000,00070

RMB20,000,000

AE#20,000,00070

RMB10,000,000

AKH10,000,00070

RMB10,000,000

AEH#10,000,00070

English translation is for identification purpose only. The

English names of the group companies incorporated in

Mainland China represent the best efforts by management of

the Group in translating their Chinese names as they do not

have official English names.

Effective interest

held by the Company
ARFE
BRER

Directly Indirectly

E& S

- 60%

- 100%

- 70%

- 100%

- 70%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities/
place of operation
TERE,/
EENE

Provision of dental
service, HK

REUTHERS BE

Provision of dental
service, HK

REUTHERS BE

Provision of medical
aesthetic service, HK

REEZEERE -
BE

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
Ak

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
Ak

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RARMERS  HE
nit

Provision of ophthalmic
service, Mainland
China

RERRRSE - PHE
Ak

RXEEEHRFBD BARETEA
WEMKZNEBARLEEXE
FaE AEXERAAKEER
BESABIREEP AR E

e



Summarised financial information of
non-controlling interests

Set out below are summarised financial information for

FERESNBRMEER

AT EFIREED P - BRER

Clinic in Causeway Bay, Kunming Hospital, Huizhou C-MER M7 IEMEF R R 2R AR AT &
Dennis Lam Eye Hospital Co., Ltd and Fuzhou C-MER Dennis M7 IBMIEFREI P 2 AR A T8
Lam Eye Clinic Co., Ltd which have non-controlling interests BB EER  REEEYHAERmMS

that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed are
before inter-company eliminations.

Clinic in Causeway Bay

BEAWIFZERER TREENS
BAETTRBIR Y HATH T -

o 88 2D P

2021

20214

HK$’000

FET

Current assets MEEE 4,378
Current liabilities mEEE (1,507)
Net current assets RBEEFE 2,871
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,749
Non-current liabilities ERBBE (993)
Net non-current assets FREBEEFE 756
Net assets EEFRE 3,627
Accumulated NCI (40%) RETIEIERR 2R (40%) 1,451

Revenue Wz
Total comprehensive income iﬁ”ﬁl AR ER
Profit allocated to NCI

7 B 22 FE PR BRHE 2 ) A1 8

2021
20214

HK$000
FET

4,281
3,400
1,360

2021
20214

HK$000
FET

RERBABRENRE
Tx,\/ﬁébﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%
pilibEs

Re kR eEHEYIE

Cash flows generated from operating activities
Cash flows used in financing activities

3,763
(338)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,425




EHBKR

Kunming Hospital

2021 2020

20215 2020 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MEEE 6,818 6,505
Current liabilities mEEE (32,178) (30,456)
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (25,360) (23,951)
Non-current assets IEREEE 19,487 4,656
Net non-current assets EREBEEFE 19,487 4,656
Net liabilities BEFEE (5,873) (19,295)
Accumulated NCI (20%) ZET IR E R (20%) (1,175) (3,859)
2021 2020

20215 2020 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Revenue I %5 61,811 35,001
Total comprehensive loss PHEEERE (8,555) (9,310)
Loss allocated to NCI DU E IR E R A EE (1,711) (1,862)

2021
20214

HK$°000
TET

Cash flows generated from operating

RETBABRERE

2020
20204
HK$°000
FET

activities 7,620 762
Cash flows used in investing activities KREFBFARERE (1,843) (1,806)
Cash flows used in financing activities MEEEMA) MERERE (4,118) (3,336)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Be MRS EEWEM

cash equivalents Ok ) F58 1,659 (4,380)




Huizhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Hospital Co., Ltd

EMFBRMIEHRMERBRD

=l
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#T
Current assets MEEE 6,749 2,419
Current liabilities mEaE (19,381) (302)
Net current (liabilities)/assets HE(BE) EEFE (12,632) 2,117
Non-current assets ERBEE 38,737 20,433
Non-current liabilities ERBEaE (15,830) -
Non-current net assets EREBEEFE 22,907 20,433
Net assets EEFE 10,275 22,550
Accumulated NCI (30%) ZET IR E R (30%) 3,083 6,765
2021 2020
20215 2020 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue g 6,826 -
Total comprehensive loss SHEIEES (12,833) (1,014)
Loss allocated to NCI DU E IR E R EE (3,850) (304)
2021 2020
20215 2020 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash flows used in operating activities KEEHFARSR=E (7,313) (468)
Cash flows used in investing activities KREFBFARERE (12,745) (17,231)
Cash flows generated from financing BEESMEHREeRE
activities 23,442 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekReEFEYEM
cash equivalents CRA) F%58 3,384 (17,699)




Fuzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Clinic Co., Ltd

EMNFBERIEHRBMZERA
=i

2021

20214

HK$000

FETT

Current assets MEEE 3,817
Current liabilities mEAE (6,902)
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (3,085)
Non-current assets ERBEE 47,815
Non-current liabilities ERBEaE (26,786)
Net non-current assets FREBEEFE 21,029
Net assets EERE 17,944
Accumulated NCI (30%) ZETFEIERRE R (30%) 5,383

Revenue Wz
Total comprehensive loss S HEEEEHE

Loss allocated to NCI

DECEIFEBRE R E R

2021
20214

HK$°000
TET

91
(6,363)
(1,909)

2021

20214

HK$000

FETT

Cash flows used in operating activities KEEFHMARESRE (2,437)
Cash flows used in investing activities KEEZHMARESRE (18,004)
Cash flows generated from financing activities ~ BIEEEABHEESRE 22,688
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReNRIReEFEYILINFE 2,247

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all the cash and bank
balances of Kunming Hospital, Huizhou C-MER Dennis Lam
Eye Hospital Co., Ltd and Fuzhou C-MER Dennis Lam Eye
Clinic Co., Ltd were held in Mainland China. These cash and
bank balances are subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by Mainland China
Government.

720214 202012 A31H - B8
B - BMNBIBRIEHR B E AR
RNE REM A IR R FIZ AR
REMBRE MRTESKANTER
WA - ZFRE MRITERZRER
A [ 1A b I AR A ) SN B AR R K2
B e



During the year ended 31 December 2021, the non-
controlling interest has made capital injection of
RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,320,000) to Fuzhou
C-MER Dennis Lam Eye Clinic Co., Ltd.

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is as follows:

REZE2021F12A31HIEFE - 3
7 % AR 25 52 (W) 48 ) A 35 AR IE B AR R P
2 AHRAREE ARMEG,000,0007T
(& F27,320,00087T) °

RFEMBRRRERNSRAT

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

2021 20204

12B831H 12 A31H

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FAET

As at 1 January ®1HA1H 1,928 2,204
Addition NE 12,234 -
Share of profit/(loss) DEFIE, () 10,652 (276)
As at 31 December W12 A31H 24,814 1,928

Set out below is the information of the associates of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, which, in the
opinion of the directors, are material to the Group. The
associates listed below have share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held by the Group.

AN &5 A& B 72021 F 220204
N2AMEHNBEARMNER  mME
ERRUFTEREAEEBEKR I
THAP M E AR AN ERAEE
BAEEZREARAENK -



Nature of investment in associates:

Company name

RARER

(-MER RainsOptics
Limited
("RainsOptics”)

REAEERAT
(TREE)

Health Hope
International Medical
Laboratory Limited

("Health Hope")
1 (38) 4R

Place of
incorporation

AR

Hong Kong

&%

Hong Kong

Particulars of

issued share capital/
registered capital
BRIRE/
AfEREtE

640,000 ordinary
shares
HK$7,820,000

640,000 LMk
7,820,007t

8,100,000 ordinary
shares
HK$35,280,000

8,100,000 X & &%
35,280,000/ 7T

R—HBERRNRENME

Effective interest held by the Group Principal activities Carrying amount
AREFEERER TEXK REE
2021 2020 2021 2020
W1E 200% WIE 2008
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
E# [} B Bk
14.4% N/A 14.4% NA Research and 1,380 1928
development on
medical diagnostic
technologies
4%  TER w4 TER  FRRFEEE
PR
45.9% N/A A N/A Medical laboratory 23434 /A
services
659% FER  FER TER  EERRERH BB TER

RainsOptics and Health Hope are private companies and
there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

The management assessed that the Group has significant
influence but not control over RainsOptics and Health Hope,
as such, RainsOptics and Health Hope are accounted for

associates of the Group under equity method.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the associates.

As at 31 December 2021, the balance due from associates
amounted to approximately HK$12,113,000 (2020: Nil).

MNP RFBER/LARTE  Eixh
W T I5 R E

ERENHAEEYNEABLTE
BEAZEN B |G - Bt
AN BRFERERAERANSE
K WNCIVNE S

o B R OB ) O35
SEZIT S

ol

A

A2021FE12 A31H » [EWEEE D F)
FUB#EER#712,113,0007 7T, (2020 £ -
;) o



Summarised financial information for material

associates

Set out below is the summarised financial information of
RainsOptics and Health Hope, which are accounted for by

the Group using the equity method:

Assets and liabilities
Total non-current assets
Total current assets

Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Net assets

BEERAE
FRBEERE
MEEERE

FRBEERER
MENA BB
BEFE

ERBEDTNMEMEER

AT 85 AN R EE A e A ABRHI
HABERAHENOREYEER

31 December 2021

2021 12H831H
Health Hope

HE
HK$000
FET
(Unaudited)
(REER)

21,898
52,063

(2,226)
(14,187)
57,548

RainsOptics
MEXE
HK$°000

FHET

(Unaudited)

(REERK)

469
4,814

(4,922)
361

31 December
2020
20204F
12H31H
RainsOptics
N2
HK$000
FET
(Unaudited)
(REg&ER)

538
4,454

(824)
4,168

Period from
24 July

2021 to

31 December
2021
20214
7HR24H%

20214
12831H
Hi RS
HK$000
FET
(Unaudited)
(REBER)

Year ended
31 December
2021

HZE 202145
12H31H
IHFEE
HK$’000
F#ET
(Unaudited)
(REEER)

Period from
IRV
2020 to

31 December
2020
12020 4F
5H1H
F2020F
12H31H
HA
HK$'000
FET
(Unaudited)
(REgEZR)

Profit/(loss) for the period  HIARFIE, ~ (&iE)

Revenue 1 & 54,452 - -
Profit/(loss) for the period and ~ ERAFE, (E51E8) &

total comprehensive 2EBA S (EE)

income/(loss) 4 EE 24,390 (3,806) (1,134)




Summarised financial information for material
associates (Continued)

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
financial statements of the associates (and not Group’s share
of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting
policies between the Group and the associates.

Reconciliation of summarised consolidated
financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised consolidated financial
information presented to the carrying amount of its interest
in the associates:

EABMEQNTNBBMBER (B

FRBERRBRNBE AR HRERE
SIS (RAFFAREEDEHNZE
) CHRASERBERATNEG
ABRERERE -

Bios & B B R AR

P2 5IBERE 47 & B 15 B R L E OB 2
NE s R EE R SRR

31 December

31 December 2021 2020
20204

2021128318 12 A31H
Health Hope RainsOptics RainsOptics

HE MR RE S
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FAET
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REER) (REEX) (REER)

Closing net assets FEREEFE 57,548 361 4,168
Group’s share in % REBEDEEDL 45.9% 14.4% 14.4%
Group’s share in HK$ REBE 55 (BT) 26,415 52 600
Goodwill BkS (2,981) 1,328 1,328
Carrying value IREE 23,434 1,380 1,928




As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
720215 72020 4F
128318 12 A31H
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  WWBREMEA 015 - 59491
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE Uk B B8~ B 308 1,102,260 1,071,574
Financial asset at fair value BAVEF—Exe
through profit or loss BE 55,704 -
Prepayments and other receivables T8/ 5078 & H th JE KGR IR 178 268
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMESEEY 9,291 85,686
1,167,433 1,157,528
Total assets BWEE 1,226,948 1,217,019
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to equity RATEREEAEWL
holders of the Company =
Share capital [N 115,034 114,725
Reserves i 1,100,450 1,090,881
_Totalequity  #E= 1215484 1,205,606
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE B B A B ZKIA 7,618 7,618
Accruals and other payables FEET B PR I Eh FE < 58 3,846 3,795
_Total liabilities ~ #®&f& 1464 11,413
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 1,226,948 1,217,019




(a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share
premium

B
HK$000

(a)

Contributed
surplus

(et )
HK$000

T~
FET

RATNRHERE

Share-based
payment Accumulated
reserve losses
DL EE:]
EBH
5w  BiFE At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

T = = B —
FET FET FET

As at 1 January 2020 7202051 718 653,417 57,617 17,679 (39,824) 688,889
Profit for the year FRFE - - - 209 209
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (21,515) (21,515)
Issuance of shares £ 408,777 - - - 408,777
Issuance of shares upon exercise & R AFEE A BREE

of pre-IPO share options BT (M3 25)

(Note 25) 8,997 - - - 8,997
Issuance of shares upon exercise &R AFEEREREE

of post-IPO share options BT (M3 25)

(Note 25) 508 - - - 508
Share-based payment expenses Sk (3 BERE TR T

(Note 25) (Fit3£25) - - 5016 - 5016
As at 31 December 2020 72020512 A31H 1,071,699 57,617 22,695 (61,130) 1,090,881
Profit for the year ERFE - - - 13,259 13,259
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (22,968) (22,968)
Issuance of shares £ 5,970 - - - 5,970
Issuance of shares upon exercise & R AFEEREREE

of post-IPO share options BTG (M3 25)

(Note 25) 9,053 - - - 9,053
Share-based payment expenses SR {3 BERE N TR L

(Note 25) (Fit5£25) - - 4,255 - 4,255
As at 31 December 2021 20215124318 1,086,722 57,617 26,950 (70,839) 1,100,450

Note: MI5E -

As part of the reorganisation in preparation for listing, the
Company acquired interests in subsidiaries comprising the
Group and assets and liabilities of the operating business from
Dr. Dennis LAM and Ms. Li in 2016. As the reorganisation
was regarded as a continuance of the operating business
under the subsidiaries comprising the Group, no fair value
was applied to the acquired subsidiaries interest and assets
and liabilities. The difference between the consideration paid
to the equity holder and the original investment of the equity
holder was recorded as a contributed surplus.

EREHETAMETNEHN —
5 AR AR 2016 6 [ FRIE T E8 A
NFEZTWEAEBEETHE AR
BalRERBNEE BE H
NELAKRESAEEETHE R A
GRS - R0 R PTG
MB AR ERAREEREER
RatE-BENEERE ANKE
HESHAANRRERZHNE
BRI RBAELR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ARMEE

39 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The events after the end of the reporting period are
disclosed as follows:

(a

During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the country/
region. The Group continues to pay close attention
to the development of the COVID-19 pandemic and
evaluates its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.

On 13 January 2022, the Company entered into an
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which
the placing agent agreed to place 76,500,000 new
shares of the Company at a price of HK$6.48 each (the
“Placing”) and the net cash proceeds was HK$490.6
million. The Placing was completed in January 2022.

On 19 January 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% equity interest of a company
that operates ophthalmic clinics in Hong Kong at a
total consideration of HK$56,020,000 by allotment of
8,790,000 shares of the Company under a sale and
purchase agreement date 4 January 2022. Up to the
date of this announcement, the acquisition has been
completed. However, the calculation of purchase price
allocation has not been completed.

On 19 January 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of 60% equity interest of a company that
operates optometry centres in Hong Kong at a total
consideration of HK$13,800,000 in cash under an
investment agreement dated 10 November 2021. Up
to the date of this announcement, the acquisition has
been completed. However, the calculation of purchase
price allocation has not been completed.

On 17 February 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of 61.5% equity interest of Shenzhen
Aikangjian Group Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen CKJ") at a
total consideration of RMB380,500,000 and capital
contribution of RMB50,000,000 in cash under an
equity investment agreement dated 3 September 2021
(as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
24 November 2021) and an equity transfer agreement
dated 24 November 2021. Up to the date of this
announcement, the investment has been completed.
However, the calculation of purchase price allocation
has not been completed.

39 REMRRER

BEMRREERENT :

(a

COVID-19Z B E M 2
SR BRI EEE S
TEBS R HI I o AN E B EE
ZHIREE COVID-19Z BRI HE -
WEHE EEHAE B BN &

T AL =3 2/
REEBNTE -

M2022F1H138  "&EE
H—2RERBIT IR &
It BEEREREREE AR A
76,500,000 % % i% 15 - &= W 1E
Be488w ([(BEEEHE]) B
SIS RIBEFER406HEE
TLeBEEHEDN2022F 1A
FERK o

R2022F 17198 - REBH
B2022F1R4BNE E i
7N 5 @ 57 38 P %% 8,790,000 A% A
DA - ERKERE —EL
BIRBZ TN AR E
#1% (8 /556,020,000/8 7T © B &
AQERE WBEERK - R
i UK E D BT E MR TERK o

N2022F1 8198 - 1R#EH
B A2021FE11 A10B KR E
E ASEETRKE -—HER
BERELCERBIE XA LH QA
H60% #E  BREREA
13,800,000 7L - i EZEARNEH
BB URBEEACSERR - AT - IR
ENBAFTE B ARTK °

A2022F2 178 B B &
B202149 A3 HAKRIERE W
2= (B A2021F11 A248
M M7E) kA A2021
FINA2AB R EEZRZ
AEBTEHRBERINTE R
BEEEEROAER2 A (LRI
TEMR]) M61.5%ME B
B & A 380,500,000 7T 7
LATE & H & A R # 50,000,000
T BEARARNERE  REDK
TR o AT WEBE S BAETE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z&E = —FF3}




Financial Infformation Summary
M ENRE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the PN l?ﬁﬂiﬁ&i%ﬁﬂz RGBT NE
Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set BREENCDTIEXE BERBEHE
out herein, is set out below: Byl

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2021 2020 2019F  2018F 2017
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET FAET FAET FET FET

Results E4
Revenue LON 1,112,577 699,545 576,209 429,374 311,228
Gross profit EM 358,228 194,077 191,321 149,337 135,431
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE/ (BEB) 16,230 (8,412) 39,122 42,571 40,127
Adjusted net Profit/(loss) FREREFFIE,/ 16,230 (8,412) 39,122 44,592 64,287
for the year (5@ (B#E)
Gross profit margin (%) FEFHIE (%) 32.2% 27.7% 33.2% 34.8% 43.5%
Net profit margin (%) FHEE (%) 1.5% N/A 6.8% 9.9% 12.9%
TEA
Adjusted net profit margin (%)"&2 &R R K (%)% 1.5% N/A 6.8% 10.4% 20.7%
TER
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets AERE 1,955,877 1,629,211 1,119,649 886,849 233,377
Total liabilities BEEHE 618,634 331,980 258,328 53,144 75,954
Total equity BReE 1,337,243 1,297,231 861,321 833,705 157,423
Notes: Bt -

(1) Adjusted net profit/(loss) is derived by adding listing expenses from (1) EHAEARFFNE(BR) B EmAXHEFER
the net profit/(loss for the year. FADE (BB N ERE -

(2)  This non-GAAP financial data is a supplemental financial measure 2 WHELRGHRUNMBEEERBERIS

that is not required by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs EEREE BEEVERESELERTE

and is therefore referred to as a “non-GAAP” financial measure. It INBRRRE BN B REERZS] - Bt -

is not a measurement of the Group’s financial performance under ZEBEMBILARETRAINTBE S
HKFRSs and should not be considered as an alternative to profit EE o LN IR REBM B WME LGS
from operations or any other performance measures derived in REBNPBRBENFE - ILEHERT
accordance with HKFRSs or as an alternative to cash flows from ERIEIRREBMBREEEENLE
operating activities or as a measure of the Group’s liquidity. i M S8 2 E A B At R IR BB AR IR

EEHRERENERERTIEEAEE
HRBE 2 ER -
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